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Organizational Structure

The following diagram depicts our abbreviated organizational structure as of March 31, 2020 with references to the names of certain entities
discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

NextDecade Corporation
("NextDecade”)

NextDecade LNG, LLC
{“NextDecade LLC")

Rio Grande LNG, LLC Galveston Bay LNG, LLC
{“Rio Grande”) {“Galveston Bay™)

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “NextDecade,” the “Company,” “we
(NASDAQ: NEXT) and its consolidated subsidiaries.

»
>

us” and “our” refer to NextDecade Corporation
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
NextDecade Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)
March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,279 15,736
Investment securities — 62,207
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,079 859
Total current assets 59,358 78,802
Property, plant and equipment, net 146,012 134,591
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 730 1,054
Other non-current assets, net 12,677 6,748
Total assets $ 218,777 221,195
Liabilities, Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,873 11,912
Share-based compensation liability 182 182
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 8,749 8,751
Current operating lease liabilities 430 698
Total current liabilities 13,234 21,543
Non-current Common Stock Warrant liabilities 3,696 12,034
Non-current operating lease liabilities — 3
Other non-current liabilities 15,000 —
Total liabilities 31,930 33,580
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $1,000 per share liquidation preference Issued and outstanding:
59,954 shares and 58,197 shares at March 31, 2020 and Balance at December 31, 2019, respectively 49,917 48,084
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $1,000 per share liquidation preference Issued and outstanding: 57,318
shares and 55,645 shares at March 31, 2020 and Balance at December 31, 2019, respectively 51,487 49,814
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.0001 par value Authorized: 480.0 million shares at March 31, 2020 and December
31, 2019 Issued and outstanding: 117.4 million shares and 117.3 million shares at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively 12 12
Treasury stock: 149,167 shares and 137,860 shares at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively, at cost (742) (685)
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value Authorized: 0.9 million, after designation of the Series A and Series
B Convertible Preferred Stock Issued and outstanding: none at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 — —
Additional paid-in-capital 218,972 224,091
Accumulated deficit (132,799) (133,701)
Total stockholders’ equity 85,443 89,717
Total liabilities, Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and stockholders’ equity $ 218,777 § 221,195

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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NextDecade Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

Revenues
Operating Expenses
General and administrative expenses
Land option and lease expenses
Depreciation expense
Total operating expenses
Total operating loss
Other income (expense)
Gain (loss) on Common Stock Warrant liabilities
Loss on redemption of investment securities
Interest income, net
Other
Total other income
Net income (loss) attributable to NextDecade Corporation
Preferred stock dividends
Deemed dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss per common share - basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019

— 3 _

6,814 12,019

411 428

16 41

7,241 12,488
(7,241) (12,488)
8,339 (197)
(412) —

233 466

(17) 176

8,143 445
902 (12,043)
(3,443) (4,972)
(76) (551)
(2,617) $ (17,566)
(0.02) $ (0.16)
117,353 106,940

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 31,
2019
Share-based
compensation
Restricted stock
vesting
Shares repurchased
related to share-based
compensation
Preferred stock
dividends
Deemed dividends -
accretion of beneficial
conversion feature
Net income
Balance at March 31,
2020

Balance at December 31,
2018
Adoption of ASC
Topic 842
Adoption of ASU
2018-07
Share-based
compensation
Restricted stock
vesting
Shares repurchased
related to share-based
compensation
Preferred stock
dividends
Deemed dividends -
accretion of beneficial
conversion feature
Net loss
Balance at March 31,
2019

NextDecade Corporation

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity, Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

Common Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated Series A Series B
Par Additional Other Total Convertible Convertible
Value Paid-in  Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’ Preferred Preferred

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity Stock Stock
117,329 $ 12 137 $ (685) $ 224,091 $ (133,701) $ — 5 89,717 $ 48,084 $ 49,814
— — — — (1,600) — — (1,600) — —
70 = = = = = = = = =
11) — 11 (57) — — — (57) — —
— — — — (3,443) — — (3,443) 1,757 1,673
— — — — (76) — — (76) 76 —
— — — — — 902 — 902 — —
117,388 § 12 148 $ (742) $ 218,972 $ (132,799) $ — 3 85443 $ 49,917 $ 51,487

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Common Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated Series A Series B
Par Additional Other Total Convertible Convertible
Value Paid-in  Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’  Preferred Preferred

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity Stock Stock
106,856 $ 11 6 $ (35) $ 180,862 $ (97,617) $ — 5 83,221 $ 40,091 $ 26,159
— — — — — (213) — (213) — —
— — — — 2,116 — — 2,116 — —
— — — — 5,884 — — 5,884 — —
180 — — — 495 — — 495 — —
(65) — 65 (260) — — — (260) — —
= = = = (4,972) = = (4,972) 3,133 1,819
— — — — (551) — — (551) 551 —
— — — — — (12,043) — (12,043) — —
106,971 $ 11 71 $ (295) $ 183,834 $ (109,873) $ — 3 73,677 $ 43,775 $ 27,978

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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NextDecade Corporation.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

(unaudited)

Operating activities:
Net income (loss) attributable to NextDecade Corporation
Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation
Share-based compensation expense (forfeiture)
Gain (loss) on Common Stock Warrant liabilities
Gain on investment securities
Realized loss (gain) on investment securities
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Amortization of other non-current assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Operating lease liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of other non-current assets
Proceeds from sale of investment securities
Purchase of investment securities
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of Rio Bravo
Preferred stock dividends
Shares repurchased related to share-based compensation
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents — end of period

Non-cash investing activities:
Accounts payable for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Accrued liabilities for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash financing activities:
Paid-in-kind dividends on Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
Dividends payable on Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock charged to additional paid-in
capital
Accretion of deemed dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019
902 $ (12,043)
16 41
(1,860) 5,338
(8,339) 197
— (184)
423 (11)
324 184
177 —
(218) (471)
(28) 295
(271) (205)
(5,364) (1,148)
(14,238) (8,007)
(13,826) (5,883)
(6,107) —
61,972 17,000
(188) (439)
41,851 10,678
15,000 —
13) (11)
(57) (260)
14,930 (271)
42,543 2,400
15,736 3,169
58,279 5,569
3,341 864
7,862 1,091
3,430 2,491
— 2,481
76 551

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

4




Table of Contents

NextDecade Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

Note 1 — Background and Basis of Presentation

NextDecade Corporation engages in development activities related to the liquefaction and sale of liquefied natural gas (“LING”). We have focused
and continue to focus our development activities on the Rio Grande LNG terminal facility at the Port of Brownsville in southern Texas (the “Terminal”).
We also have executed surface lease agreements with the City of Texas City and the State of Texas for a 994-acre site for another potential LNG terminal
(the “Galveston Bay Terminal”).

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all the
information and disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In our opinion, all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring items, which are considered necessary for a fair presentation of the unaudited consolidated financial statements, have
been included. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full year.

Certain reclassifications have been made to conform prior period information to the current presentation. The reclassifications did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Note 2 — Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Prepaid subscriptions $ 238 $ 161
Prepaid insurance 162 292
Prepaid marketing and sponsorships 194 25
Other 485 381
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 1,079 $ 859

Note 3 — Investment Securities
We previously invested in Class L shares of the JPMorgan Managed Income Fund. The JPMorgan Managed Income Fund has an average maturity
of approximately one year, duration of approximately six months, and approximately 24% of such fund’s holdings are AAA-rated with 0% non-investment

grade rated. In March 2020, we redeemed the balance of the JPMorgan Managed Income Fund and realized a loss of $0.4 million.

Investment securities consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Fair value Cost Fair value Cost
JPMorgan Managed Income Fund $ — — 3 62,207 $ 62,178
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Note 4 — Sale of Equity Interests in Rio Bravo

On March 2, 2020, NextDecade LLC closed the transactions (the Closing”) contemplated by that certain Omnibus Agreement, dated February 13,
2020, with Spectra Energy Transmission II, LL.C, a wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc. (“Buyer”), pursuant to which NextDecade LLC sold one
hundred percent of the equity interests (the “Equity Interests”) in Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC (“Rio Bravo”) to Buyer in consideration of (i)
approximately $17.4 million plus (ii) the amount of direct and indirect costs incurred by Rio Bravo, the Company or any of its other affiliates in respect of
the proposed Rio Bravo Pipeline, the 137-mile interstate natural gas pipeline (the “Pipeline”) being developed by Rio Bravo to supply natural gas to the
Terminal, from October 1, 2019 through the Closing (the “Purchase Price”); provided, that the Purchase Price may not exceed $25 million. Buyer paid
$15.0 million of the Purchase Price to NextDecade LLC at the Closing and the remainder will be paid within five business days after the date that Rio
Grande has received, after a final positive investment decision, the initial funding of financing for the development, construction and operation of the
Terminal. In connection with the Closing, Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ("Rio Grande Gas
Supply"), entered into (i) a Precedent Agreement for Firm Natural Gas Transportation Service for the Rio Bravo Pipeline (the “RBPL Precedent
Agreement”) with Rio Bravo and (ii) a Precedent Agreement for Natural Gas Transportation Service (the “VCP Precedent Agreement”) with Valley
Crossing Pipeline, LLC (“VCP”). VCP and, as of the Closing, Rio Bravo are wholly owned subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc. The Valley Crossing Pipeline is
owned and operated by VCP.

Pursuant to the RBPL Precedent Agreement, Rio Bravo agreed to provide Rio Grande Gas Supply with firm natural gas transportation services on
the Pipeline in a quantity sufficient to match the full operational capacity of each proposed liquefaction train of the Terminal. Rio Bravo’s obligation to
construct, install, own, operate and maintain the Pipeline is conditioned on its receipt, no later than December 31, 2023, of notice that Rio Grande Gas
Supply or its affiliate has issued a full notice to proceed to the engineering, procurement and construction contractor (the “EPC Contractor”) for the
construction of the Terminal. Under the RBPL Precedent Agreement, in consideration for the provision of such firm transportation services, Rio Bravo will
be remunerated on a dollar-per-dekatherm, take-or-pay basis, subject to certain adjustments, over a term of at least twenty years, all in compliance with the
federal and state authorizations associated with the Pipeline.

Pursuant to the VCP Precedent Agreement, VCP agreed to provide Rio Grande Gas Supply with natural gas transportation services on the Valley
Crossing Pipeline in a quantity sufficient to match the commissioning requirements of each proposed liquefaction train of the Terminal. VCP’s obligation to
construct, install, own, operate and maintain the necessary interconnection to the Terminal and the Pipeline is conditioned on its receipt, no later than
December 31, 2023, of notice that Rio Grande Gas Supply or its affiliate has issued a full notice to proceed to the EPC Contractor for the construction of
the Terminal. VCP will be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, to construct, install, own, operate and maintain the tap, riser and valve facilities (the
“VCP Transporter Facilities”), which shall connect to Rio Grande Gas Supply’s custody transfer meter and such other facilities as necessary in order for the
Terminal to receive gas from the VCP Transporter Facilities (the “Rio Grande Gas Supply Facilities”). Rio Grande Gas Supply will be responsible, at its
sole cost and expense, to construct, install, own, operate and maintain the Rio Grande Gas Supply Facilities. Under the VCP Precedent Agreement, in
consideration for the provision of the commissioning transportation services, VCP will be remunerated on the same dollar-per-dekatherm, take-or-pay basis
as set forth in the RBPL Precedent Agreement for the duration of such commissioning services, all in compliance with the federal and state authorizations
associated with the Valley Crossing Pipeline.

If Rio Grande or its affiliate fail to issue a full notice to proceed to the EPC Contractor on or prior to December 31, 2023, Buyer has the right to
sell the Equity Interests back to NextDecade LLC and NextDecade LLC has the right to repurchase the Equity Interests from Buyer, in each case at a price

not to exceed $23 million. Accordingly, the proceeds from the sale of the Equity Interests are presented as a non-current liability and the assets of Rio
Bravo have not been de-recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2020.

Note 5 — Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Fixed Assets
Computers $ 487 % 487
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 464 471
Leasehold improvements 429 547
Total fixed assets 1,380 1,505
Less: accumulated depreciation (808) (793)
Total fixed assets, net 572 712
Project Assets (not placed in service)
Terminal 132,339 121,081
Pipeline 13,101 12,798
Total Terminal and Pipeline assets 145,440 133,879
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 146,012 $ 134,591

Depreciation expense for each of the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $16 thousand and $41 thousand, respectively.
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Note 6 — Leases
Our leased assets primarily consist of office space and land sites.

Operating lease right-of-use assets are as follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Office leases $ 393 $ 610
Land leases 337 444
Total operating lease right-of-use assets, net $ 730§ 1,054
Operating lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Office leases $ 430 $ 698
Land leases — —
Total current lease liabilities 430 698
Non-current office leases — 3
Non-current land leases o o
Total lease liabilities $ 430 § 701

Operating lease expense is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2020 2019
Office leases $ 205 $ 116
Land leases 107 120
Total operating lease expense 312 236
Short-term lease expense 91 32
Land option expense 8 160
Total land option and lease expense $ 411 $ 428

Maturity of operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 2020 are as follows (in thousands, except lease term and discount rate):

2020 (remaining) $ 448
2021 —
2022 —
2023 —
2024 _
Thereafter —
Total undiscounted lease payments 448
Discount to present value (18)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 430
Weighted average discount rate - percent 12

Other information related to our operating leases is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2020 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities:
Cash flows from operating activities $ 259 % 258
Noncash right-of-use assets recorded for operating lease liabilities:
Adoption of Topic 842 — 1,562
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Note 7 — Other Non-Current Assets

Other non-current assets consisted of the following (in thousands)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Permitting costs(1) $ 7,315 $ 2,621
Enterprise resource planning system, net 2,861 3,181
Rio Grande Site Lease initial direct costs 2,501 946
Total other non-current assets, net $ 12,677  $ 6,748

(1) Permitting costs primarily represent costs incurred in connection with permit applications to the United States Army Corps of Engineers and the U.S.
Fish and Wildlife Service for mitigation measures for potential impacts to wetlands and habitat that may be caused by the construction of the Terminal
and the Pipeline.

Note 8 — Accrued Liabilities and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Employee compensation expense $ 242 $ 4,221
Project asset costs 7,862 2,503
Accrued legal services 307 1,060
Other accrued liabilities 338 967
Total accrued liabilities and other current liabilities $ 8749 § 8,751

Note 9 — Preferred Stock and Common Stock Warrants
Preferred Stock

In August 2018, we sold an aggregate of 50,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series A
Preferred Stock), at $1,000 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $50 million and we issued an additional 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in
aggregate as origination fees to the purchasers of the Series A Preferred Stock. In September 2018, we sold an aggregate of 29,055 shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock” and, together with the Series A Preferred Stock, the “Convertible
Preferred Stock”), at $1,000 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $29.055 million and we issued an additional 581 shares of Series B Preferred
Stock in aggregate as origination fees to the purchasers of the Series B Preferred Stock. Warrants were issued together with the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock (collectively, “Common Stock Warrants”).

In May 2019, we sold an aggregate of 20,945 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, at $1,000 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $20.945
million and we issued an additional 418 shares of Series B Preferred Stock in aggregate as origination fees to the purchase of such “Series B Preferred
Stock. Warrants were issued together with such shares of Series B Preferred Stock.

The shares of Convertible Preferred Stock bear dividends at a rate of 12% per annum, which are cumulative and accrue daily from the date of
issuance on the $1,000 stated value. Such dividends are payable quarterly and may be paid in cash or in-kind. During the three months ended March 31,
2020 and 2019, the Company paid-in-kind $3.4 million and $11.2 million of dividends, respectively, to the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock. On
January 9, 2020, the Company declared dividends to the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock as of the close of business on December 15, 2019. On
January 15, 2020, the Company paid-in-kind $3.4 million of dividends to the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

Common Stock Warrants

The Company revalues the Common Stock Warrants at each balance sheet date and recognized a gain of $8.3 million and a loss of $0.2 million as
of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Common Stock Warrant liabilities are included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company used a Monte Carlo simulation model to estimate the fair value of the Common Stock Warrants using the following assumptions:

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Stock price $ 188 $ 6.14
Exercise price $ 001 $ 0.01
Risk-free rate 0.2% 1.6%
Volatility 48.8% 27.6%
Term (years) 1.6 1.8

Beneficial Conversion Feature

ASC 470-20-20 — Debt — Debt with conversion and Other Options (“ASC 470-20”) defines a beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) as a
nondetachable conversion feature that is in the money at the issuance date. The Company was required by ASC 470-20 to allocate a portion of the proceeds
from the Series A Preferred Stock equal to the intrinsic value of the BCF to additional paid-in capital. We are recording the accretion of the $2.5 million
Series A Preferred Stock discount attributable to the BCF as a deemed dividend using the effective yield method over the period prior to the expected



conversion date. Deemed dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock for each of the three months ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 was $0.1
million and $0.6 million, respectively.
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Note 10 — Net Loss Per Share

The following table (in thousands, except for loss per share) reconciles basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for each of
the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 117,353 106,940

Dilutive unvested stock, convertible preferred stock, Common Stock Warrants and IPO Warrants = =

Diluted 117,353 106,940
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders $ 0.02) $ (0.16)

Potentially dilutive securities not included in the diluted net loss per share computations because their effect would have been anti-dilutive were as
follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019
Unvested stock (1) 1,160 490
Convertible preferred stock 15,905 11,127
Common Stock Warrants 1,964 1,376
IPO Warrants(2) 12,082 12,082
Total potentially dilutive common shares 31,111 25,075

(1) Does not include 2.8 million shares and 10.8 million shares for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, of unvested stock
because the performance conditions had not yet been satisfied.

(2) The TPO Warrants were issued in connection with our initial public offering in 2015. The IPO Warrants are exercisable at a price of $11.50 per share and
expire on July 24, 2022. The Company may redeem the IPO Warrants at a price of $0.01 per IPO Warrant upon 30 days’ notice only if the last sale price
of our common stock is at least $17.50 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period. If the Company redeems the IPO Warrants in
this manner, the Company will have the option to do so on a cashless basis with the issuance of an economically equivalent number of shares of
Company common stock.

Note 11 — Share-based Compensation

We have granted shares of Company common stock and restricted Company common stock to employees, consultants and non-employee directors
under our 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) and in connection with our special meeting of stockholders held on July 24, 2017.

Total share-based compensation consisted of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019
Share-based compensation:

Equity awards $ (1,600) $ 5,884
Liability awards - —
Total share-based compensation (1,600) 5,884
Capitalized share-based compensation (260) (546)

Total share-based compensation expense $ (1,860) $ 5,338
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Note 12 — Income Taxes

Due to our cumulative loss position, we have established a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. Due to our full valuation allowance, we have not recorded a provision for federal or state income taxes during each of the three months
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.

In response to the global pandemic related to COVID-19, the President signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
(the “CARES Act”) on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act provides numerous relief provisions for corporate tax payers, including modification of the
utilization limitations on net operating losses, favorable expansions of the deduction for business interest expense under Internal Revenue Code Section
163(j), and the ability to accelerate timing of refundable AMT credits. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, there were no material tax impacts to
our consolidated financial statements as it relates to the CARES Act or other COVID-19 measures. The Company continues to monitor additional
guidance issued by the U.S. Treasury Department, the Internal Revenue Service and others.

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies
Obligation under LNG Sale and Purchase Agreement

In March 2019, we entered into a 20-year sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with Shell NA LNG LLC (“Shell”) for the supply of
approximately two million tonnes per annum of liquefied natural gas from the Terminal. Pursuant to the SPA, Shell will purchase LNG on a free-on-board
(“FOB”) basis starting from the date the first liquefaction train of the Terminal that is commercially operable, with approximately three-quarters of the
purchased LNG volume indexed to Brent and the remaining volume indexed to domestic United States gas indices, including Henry Hub.

In the first quarter of 2020, pursuant to the terms of the SPA, the SPA became effective upon the conditions precedent in the SPA being satisfied or
waived. The SPA obligates Rio Grande to deliver the contracted volumes of LNG to Shell at the FOB delivery point, subject to the first liquefaction train
at the Terminal being commercially operable.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time the Company may be subject to various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. As of March 31,
2020, management is not aware of any claims or legal actions that, separately or in the aggregate, are likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows, although the Company cannot guarantee that a material adverse effect will not occur.

Note 14 — Subsequent Events
Extension of Contract Price Validity of Engineering, Procurement and Construction Contracts

On May 24, 2019, Rio Grande entered into two lump-sum separated turnkey engineering, procurement and construction agreements with Bechtel
Oil, Gas and Chemicals, Inc. (“Bechtel”) for the construction of (i) two LNG trains with expected aggregate production capacity up to approximately 11.74
million tonnes per annum (“mtpa”), two 180,000m3 full containment LNG tanks, one marine loading berth, related utilities and facilities, and all related
appurtenances thereto, together with certain additional work options (the “Trains 1 and 2 EPC Agreement”) and (ii) a LNG train with expected production
capacity of up to approximately 5.87 mtpa, related utilities and facilities, and all related appurtenances thereto (the “Train 3 EPC Agreement”).

By amendment dated April 22, 2020, Rio Grande and Bechtel amended the Trains 1 and 2 EPC Agreement to extend the contract price validity to
July 31, 2020. By amendment dated April 22, 2020, Rio Grande and Bechtel amended the Train 3 EPC Agreement to extend the contract price validity to
July 31, 2020.

Rio Grande Site Lease

On March 6, 2019, Rio Grande entered into a lease agreement (the “Rio Grande Site Lease”) with the Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron
County, Texas (“BND”) for the lease by Rio Grande of approximately 984 acres of land situated in Brownsville, Cameron County, Texas for the purposes
of constructing, operating, and maintaining (i) a liquefied natural gas facility and export terminal and (ii) gas treatment and gas pipeline facilities.

On April 30, 2020, Rio Grande and the BND amended the Rio Grande Site Lease (the “Rio Grande Site Lease Amendment”) to extend the
effective date for commencing the Rio Grande Site Lease to May 6, 2021 (the “Effective Date”). The Rio Grande Site Lease Amendment further provides
that Rio Grande has the right, exercisable in its sole discretion, to extend the Effective Date to May 6, 2022 by providing the BND with written notice of its
election no later than the close of business on the Effective Date.

In connection with the Rio Grande Site Lease Amendment, Rio Grande is committed to pay approximately $1.5 million per quarter to the BND
through the earlier of the Effective Date and lease commencement.

We have evaluated subsequent events through May 18, 2020, the date the financial statements were issued. Any material subsequent events that
occurred during this time have been properly recognized and/or disclosed in these financial statements.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical
fact contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, strategy and
plans, and our expectations for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “contemplate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,”
“plan,” “i may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “can have,” “likely,” “continue,” “design” and other words and terms of

» &« » « »

2 » « » «

intend,” “believe,
similar expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe
may affect our financial condition, results of operations, strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives and financial needs.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results could differ from those
expressed in our forward-looking statements. Our future financial position and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking statements are subject
to change and inherent risks and uncertainties, including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-
K. You should consider our forward-looking statements in light of a number of factors that may cause actual results to vary from our forward-looking
statements including, but not limited to:

e our progress in the development of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) liquefaction and export projects and the timing of that progress;

e our final investment decision (“FID”) in the construction and operation of a LNG terminal at the Port of Brownsville in southern Texas (the
“Terminal”) and the timing of that decision;

e the successful completion of the Terminal by third-party contractors and an approximately 137-mile pipeline to supply gas to the Terminal being
developed by a third-party (the “Pipeline”) ;

e our ability to secure additional debt and equity financing in the future to complete the Terminal;
e the accuracy of estimated costs for the Terminal;
e statements that the Terminal, when completed, will have certain characteristics, including amounts of liquefaction capacities;

e the development risks, operational hazards, regulatory approvals applicable to the Terminal’s and the third-party pipeline's construction and
operations activities;

e our anticipated competitive advantage and technological innovation which may render our anticipated competitive advantage obsolete;
e the global demand for and price of natural gas (versus the price of imported LNG);
e the availability of LNG vessels worldwide;

e changes in legislation and regulations relating to the LNG industry, including environmental laws and regulations that impose significant
compliance costs and liabilities;

e the 2019 novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic and its impact on our business and operating results, including any disruptions in our
operations or development of the Terminal and the health and safety of our employees, and on our customers, the global economy and the demand
for LNG;

e risks related to doing business in and having counterparties in foreign countries;

e our ability to maintain the listing of our securities on a securities exchange or quotation medium;

e changes adversely affecting the business in which we are engage;

e management of growth;
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e general economic conditions;
e our ability to generate cash;
e compliance with environmental laws and regulations; and
e the result of future financing efforts and applications for customary tax incentives.

Should one or more of the foregoing risks or uncertainties materialize in a way that negatively impacts us, or should the underlying assumptions
prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from those anticipated in our forward-looking statements, and our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are made as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. In addition, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility
for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements.

Except as required by applicable law, we do not undertake any obligation to publicly correct or update any forward-looking statements. All
forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements as well as others made in our most
recent Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as other filings we have made and will make with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and
our public communications. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made by us in the context of these risks and uncertainties.

Overview

NextDecade Corporation is a LNG development company focused on LNG export projects in the State of Texas. We have focused and continue to
focus our development activities on the Terminal and have undertaken and continue to undertake various initiatives to evaluate, design and engineer the
Terminal that we expect will result in demand for LNG supply at the Terminal, which would enable us to seek construction financing to develop the
Terminal. We believe the Terminal possesses competitive advantages in several important areas, including, engineering, design, commercial, regulatory,
and gas supply. We submitted a pre-filing request for the Terminal and the Pipeline to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the “FERC”) in
March 2015 and filed a formal application with the FERC in May 2016. In November 2019, the FERC issued an order authorizing the siting, construction
and operation of the Terminal and the Pipeline. We also believe we have robust commercial offtake and gas supply strategies.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “NextDecade,” “the Company,” “we,”
its consolidated subsidiaries.

“us,” and “our” refer to NextDecade Corporation and

Recent Developments
FERC Order for Terminal

On November 22, 2019, the FERC issued an order authorizing the siting, construction and operation of the Terminal (the “FERC
Order”). Following receipt of the FERC Order two requests for re-hearing were filed. One of those requests for rehearing also requested that the FERC
stay the FERC Order. On January 22, 2020, the FERC issued an order extending the time by which it would respond to these requests for rehearing. On
January 23, 2020, the FERC issued its Order on Rehearing and Stay, by which FERC denied all re-hearings and requests for stay. The parties who filed the
requests for re-hearing have petitioned the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia to review the FERC Order and the FERC order denying
rehearing, and that appeal is still pending. Similar appeals are also pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, in respect of other permits
issued by the Texas Commission on Environment Quality, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

Sale of Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC

On March 2, 2020, NextDecade LLC closed the transactions (the Closing”) contemplated by that certain Omnibus Agreement, dated February 13,
2020, with Spectra Energy Transmission II, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc. (“Buyer”), pursuant to which NextDecade LLC sold one
hundred percent of the equity interests (the “Equity Interests”) in Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC (“Rio Bravo”) to Buyer in consideration of (i)
approximately $17.4 million plus (ii) the amount of direct and indirect costs incurred by Rio Bravo, the Company or any of its other affiliates in respect of
the proposed Rio Bravo Pipeline, the 137-mile interstate natural gas pipeline (the “Pipeline”) being developed by Rio Bravo to supply natural gas to the
Terminal, from October 1, 2019 through the Closing (the “Purchase Price”); provided, that the Purchase Price may not exceed $25 million. Buyer paid
$15.0 million of the Purchase Price to NextDecade LLC at the Closing and the remainder will be paid within five business days after the date that Rio
Grande has received, after a final positive investment decision, the initial funding of financing for the development, construction and operation of the
Terminal. In connection with the Closing, Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ("Rio Grande Gas
Supply"), entered into (i) a Precedent Agreement for Firm Natural Gas Transportation Service for the Rio Bravo Pipeline (the “RBPL Precedent
Agreement”) with Rio Bravo and (ii) a Precedent Agreement for Natural Gas Transportation Service (the “VCP Precedent Agreement”) with Valley
Crossing Pipeline, LLC (“VCP”). VCP and, as of the Closing, Rio Bravo are wholly owned subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc. The Valley Crossing Pipeline is
owned and operated by VCP.
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Pursuant to the RBPL Precedent Agreement, Rio Bravo agreed to provide Rio Grande Gas Supply with firm natural gas transportation services on
the Pipeline in a quantity sufficient to match the full operational capacity of each proposed liquefaction train of the Terminal. Rio Bravo’s obligation to
construct, install, own, operate and maintain the Pipeline is conditioned on its receipt, no later than December 31, 2023, of notice that Rio Grande Gas
Supply or its affiliate has issued a full notice to proceed to the engineering, procurement and construction contractor (the “EPC Contractor”) for the
construction of the Terminal. Under the RBPL Precedent Agreement, in consideration for the provision of such firm transportation services, Rio Bravo will
be remunerated on a dollar-per-dekatherm, take-or-pay basis, subject to certain adjustments, over a term of at least twenty years, all in compliance with the
federal and state authorizations associated with the Pipeline.

Pursuant to the VCP Precedent Agreement, VCP agreed to provide Rio Grande Gas Supply with natural gas transportation services on the Valley
Crossing Pipeline in a quantity sufficient to match the commissioning requirements of each proposed liquefaction train of the Terminal. VCP’s obligation to
construct, install, own, operate and maintain the necessary interconnection to the Terminal and the Pipeline is conditioned on its receipt, no later than
December 31, 2023, of notice that Rio Grande Gas Supply or its affiliate has issued a full notice to proceed to the EPC Contractor for the construction of
the Terminal. VCP will be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, to construct, install, own, operate and maintain the tap, riser and valve facilities (the
“VCP Transporter Facilities”), which shall connect to Rio Grande Gas Supply’s custody transfer meter and such other facilities as necessary in order for the
Terminal to receive gas from the VCP Transporter Facilities (the “Rio Grande Gas Supply Facilities”). Rio Grande Gas Supply will be responsible, at its
sole cost and expense, to construct, install, own, operate and maintain the Rio Grande Gas Supply Facilities. Under the VCP Precedent Agreement, in
consideration for the provision of the commissioning transportation services, VCP will be remunerated on the same dollar-per-dekatherm, take-or-pay basis
as set forth in the RBPL Precedent Agreement for the duration of such commissioning services, all in compliance with the federal and state authorizations
associated with the Valley Crossing Pipeline.

If Rio Grande or its affiliate fail to issue a full notice to proceed to the EPC Contractor on or prior to December 31, 2023, Buyer has the right to
sell the Equity Interests back to NextDecade LLC and NextDecade LLC has the right to repurchase the Equity Interests from Buyer, in each case at a price
not to exceed $23 million.

Rio Grande Site Lease

On March 6, 2019, Rio Grande entered into a lease agreement (the “Rio Grande Site Lease”) with the Brownsville Navigation District of Cameron
County, Texas (the "BND") for the lease by Rio Grande of approximately 984 acres of land situated in Brownsville, Cameron County, Texas for the
purposes of constructing, operating, and maintaining (i) a liquefied natural gas facility and export terminal and (ii) gas treatment and gas pipeline facilities.

On April 30, 2020, Rio Grande and the BND amended the Rio Grande Site Lease (the “Rio Grande Site Lease Amendment”) to extend the
effective date for commencing the Rio Grande Site Lease to May 6, 2021 (the “Effective Date”). The Rio Grande Site Lease Amendment further provides
that Rio Grande has the right, exercisable in its sole discretion, to extend the Effective Date to May 6, 2022 by providing the BND with written notice of its
election no later than the close of business on the Effective Date.

On January 27, 2020, the City of Port Isabel, Texas and other parties filed a lawsuit in state court in Cameron County against the BND seeking to
enjoin the federally-authorized siting, construction, and operation of LNG terminals on land owned by the BND.

COVID-19 Pandemic and its Effect on our Business

The business environment in which we operate has been impacted by the recent downturn in the energy market as well as the outbreak of COVID-
19 and its progression into a pandemic in March 2020. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 25, 2020, the SEC issued an order under Section
36 of the Exchange Act, Modifying Exemptions From the Reporting and Proxy Delivery Requirements for Public Companies (Release No. 34-88465) (the
"Order"), which allows registrants to delay the filing of certain reports under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act by up to 45 days after the original
filing deadline if a registrant is unable to meet such original filing deadline due to circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

We relied on the Order to delay the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q due to the circumstances related to COVID-19. In particular,
COVID-19 has caused disruptions in our business and operations, including, among other things, the closing of our offices and requiring our staff to work
from home beginning in March 2020. Additionally, resources involved in our financial reporting have been and continue to be involved in actions taken to
respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.

We have modified and continue to modify certain business and workforce practices to protect the safety and welfare of our employees.
Furthermore, we have implemented and continue to implement certain mitigation efforts to ensure business continuity. As stated above, in March 2020, we
implemented social distancing and work from home policies among other things.

On May 18, 2020 we reopened our offices. We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions altering our business
operations that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stakeholders, or as required by federal, state, or
local authorities. It is not clear what the potential effects any such alterations or modifications may have on our business, including the effects on our
customers, employees, and prospects, or on our financial results for the remainder of fiscal year 2020 or beyond.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Capital Resources

We have funded and continue to fund the development of the Terminal and general working capital needs through our cash on hand and proceeds
from the issuances of equity and equity-based securities. Our capital resources consisted of approximately $58.3 million of cash and cash equivalents as of
March 31, 2020.

Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table summarizes the sources and uses of our cash for the periods presented (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2020 2019
Operating cash flows $ (14,238) $ (8,007)
Investing cash flows 41,851 10,678
Financing cash flows 14,930 (271)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 42,543 2,400
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period 15,736 3,169
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $ 58279 §$ 5,569

Operating Cash Flows

Operating cash outflows during the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $14.2 million and $8.0 million, respectively. The increase
in operating cash outflows during the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2019 was primarily related to
additional employees and an increase in professional fees.

Investing Cash Flows

Investing cash inflows during the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $41.9 million and $10.7 million, respectively. The investing
cash inflows during the three months ended March 31, 2020 were primarily the result of the sale of $62.0 million of investment securities partially offset by
cash used in the development of the Terminal of $19.9 million. The investing cash inflows during the three months ended March 31, 2019 were primarily
the result of the sale of $17.0 million of investment securities partially offset by cash used in the development of the Terminal.

Financing Cash Flows

Financing cash inflows (outflows) during the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $14.9 million and $(0.3) million, respectively.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 financing cash inflows were primarily the result of $15.0 million of proceeds from the sale of Rio Bravo.

Pre-FID Liquidity

In 2020, we expect to incur $72 million on pre-FID development activities in support of the Terminal. Approximately $46 million of these costs
were incurred in the first quarter of 2020, including: (i) approximately $23 million in engineering, procurement and permitting activities in support of the
FERC process, including the approval to commence full site preparation activities; (ii) approximately $6 million for the acquisition of required
environmental mitigation land, and (iii) approximately $6 million for the payment of 2019 bonus compensation and one-time information technology costs.

To preserve pre-FID liquidity, we have implemented certain measures to manage costs:

e Since December 31, 2019, full-time headcount has decreased by 18 percent. Additionally, in May 2020, we furloughed 14 percent of
our full-time headcount until we have better clarity on the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the current global LNG market.

e Our Chief Executive Officer and certain other members of our executive team have voluntarily reduced their base salaries by ten
percent for the remainder of 2020.

e We and Bechtel have agreed to a limited scope of ongoing work which will provide for continued engineering progress for the
Terminal.

e Over the next few months, we will reduce our office space under lease and defer additional information technology spending until
FID is achieved.

We believe that the above-listed measures will ensure that we can sustain pre-FID development activities through year-end 2021. Beginning in the
second quarter of 2020, we expect pre-FID development spending to average just over $2 million per month. We believe that the measures taken to

manage costs will not negatively affect our ability to successfully deliver the Terminal and will create value for stockholders.
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Capital Development Activities

We are primarily engaged in developing the Terminal, which may require additional capital to support further project development, engineering,
regulatory approvals and compliance, and commercial activities in advance of a FID made to finance and construct the Terminal. Even if successfully
completed, the Terminal will not begin to operate and generate significant cash flows until at least several years from now. Construction of the Terminal
would not begin until, among other requirements for project financing, all required federal, state and local permits have been obtained. As a result, our
business success will depend, to a significant extent, upon our ability to obtain the funding necessary to construct the Terminal, to bring it into operation on
a commercially viable basis and to finance our staffing, operating and expansion costs during that process.

We have engaged Macquarie Capital (USA) Inc. to advise and assist us in raising capital for post-FID construction activities.

We currently expect that the long-term capital requirements for the Terminal will be financed predominately through project financing and
proceeds from future debt and equity offerings by us. There can be no assurance that we will succeed in securing additional debt and/or equity financing in
the future to complete the Terminal or, if successful, that the capital we raise will not be expensive or dilutive to stockholders. Additionally, if these types of
financing are not available, we will be required to seek alternative sources of financing, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

Contractual Obligations

There have been no material changes to our contractual obligations from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019.
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Results of Operations
The following table summarizes costs, expenses and other income for the periods indicated (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2020 2019 Change
Revenues $ — 3 — 5 —
General and administrative expenses 6,814 12,019 (5,205)
Land option and lease expenses 411 428 17)
Depreciation expense 16 41 (25)
Operating loss (7,241) (12,488) 5,247
Gain (loss) on Common Stock Warrant liabilities 8,339 197) 8,536
Loss on redemption of investment securities (412) — (412)
Interest income (loss), net 233 466 (233)
Other 17) 176 (193)
Net income (loss) attributable to NextDecade Corporation 902 (12,043) 12,945
Preferred stock dividends (3,443) (4,972) 1,529
Deemed dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (76) (551) 475
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (2,617) §$ (17,566) $ 14,949

Our consolidated net income was $0.9 million, or $0.02 per share (basic and diluted), for the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to a
net loss of $12.0 million, or $0.16 per share (basic and diluted), for the three months ended March 31, 2019. The $13.0 million decrease in net loss was
primarily a result of decreased general and administrative expenses and a gain on Common Stock Warrant liabilities discussed separately below.

General and administrative expenses during the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased $5.2 million compared to the same period in 2019
primarily due to a decrease in share-based compensation expense of $7.2 million partially offset by an increase in expenses related to additional employees,
increased professional fees and travel costs, and increased marketing and conference sponsorship costs. The decrease in share-based compensation expense
is primarily a result of forfeitures of restricted stock during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Gain on Common Stock Warrant liabilities for the three months ended March 31, 2020 is primarily due to a decrease in the share price of
Company common stock from December 31, 2019 to the re-measurement date at March 31, 2020. Loss on Common Stock Warrant liabilities for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 is primarily due to an increase in the share price of Company common stock from December 31, 2018 to the re-
measurement date at March 31, 2019.

Interest income (loss), net during the three months ended March 31, 2020 decreased $0.2 million, compared to the same period in 2019 due to
lower average balances maintained in our cash, cash equivalent and investment securities accounts and a realized loss on sale of investment securities of
$0.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Preferred stock dividends of $3.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 were paid-in-kind with the issuances of 1,757 additional
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”), and 1,673 additional shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock”), compared to preferred stock dividends of $5.0 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2019 of which $2.5 million were paid-in-kind with the issuances of 1,561 additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock and
919 additional shares of Series B Preferred Stock. The $2.5 million of dividends were declared on March 22, 2019.

Deemed dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock for the three months ended March 31, 2020 represents the accretion of the beneficial
conversion feature associated with the Series A Preferred Stock issued in the third quarter of 2018. Due to the price of our common stock as of the closing
date of the Series B Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock does not have a beneficial conversion feature.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2020.
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Summary of Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the accompanying notes. There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting estimates from those disclosed in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of “our disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Exchange Act, as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2020. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer have concluded that, as of March 31, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the most recent fiscal quarter, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

The information presented below updates, and should be read in conjunction with, the risk factors disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. Except as presented below, there were no changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and volatility in the energy markets may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating
results, cash flow, liquidity and prospects, including our efforts to reach a final investment decision with respect to the Rio Grande LNG Terminal.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and its development into a pandemic in March 2020 have resulted in significant disruption globally. Actions taken by
various governmental authorities, individuals and companies around the world to prevent the spread of COVID-19 have restricted travel, business
operations, and the overall level of individual movement and in-person interaction across the globe. Furthermore, the impact of the pandemic, including a
resulting reduction in demand for natural gas, coupled with the sharp decline in commodity prices following the announcement of price reductions and
production increases in March 2020 by members of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) has led to significant global
economic contraction generally and in our industry in particular. While an agreement to cut production has since been announced by OPEC and its allies,
the situation, coupled with the impact of COVID-19, has continued to result in a significant downturn in the oil and gas industry. Prospects for the
development and financing of the Terminal are based in part on factors including global economic conditions that have been, and are likely to continue to
be, adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to modify our business practices, including by restricting employee travel, requiring employees to work
remotely and cancelling physical participation in meetings, events and conferences, and we may take further actions as may be required by government
authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers and business partners. There is no certainty that such measures will be
sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by COVID-19 or otherwise be satisfactory to government authorities. If a number of our employees were to contract
COVID-19 at the same time, our operations could be adversely affected.

A sustained disruption in the capital markets from the COVID-19 pandemic, specifically with respect to the energy industry, could negatively
impact our ability to raise capital. In the past, we have financed our operations by the issuance of equity securities. However, we cannot predict when the
macro-economic disruption stemming from COVID-19 will ebb or when the economy will return to pre-COVID-19 levels, if at all. This macro-economic
disruption may disrupt our ability to raise additional capital to finance our operations in the future, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and prospects, and could ultimately cause our business to fail.

The COVID-19 pandemic may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, such as risks related to the development of the Terminal, postponement in
making a positive FID, doing business in foreign countries, obtaining governmental approvals, and exported LNG remaining a competitive source of
energy for international markets, global demand for and price of natural gas, and fluctuation in the price of our common stock.

The extent to which COVID-19 ultimately impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments,
which are uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the duration and spread of COVID-19, its severity, the actions to contain
COVID-19 or treat its impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume. Even after COVID-19 has
subsided, we may continue to experience materially adverse impacts to our business as a result of its global economic impact, including any recession that
has occurred or may occur in the future, and lasting effects on the price of natural gas.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer

The following table summarizes stock repurchases for the three months ended March 31, 2020:

Total Number of Maximum
Shares Purchased Number of Units
Total Number of as a Part of That May Yet Be
Shares Purchased  Average Price Paid Publicly Purchased Under
Period 1) Per Share (2) Announced Plans the Plans
January 2020 9,824 §$ 5.46 — —
February 2020 — — — —
March 2020 1,483 1.95 — —
(€] Represents shares of Company common stock surrendered to us by participants in our 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) to settle the

participants’ personal tax liabilities that resulted from the lapsing of restrictions on shares awarded to the participants under the 2017 Plan.

(@] The price paid per share of Company common stock was based on the closing trading price of such stock on the dates on which we repurchased
shares of Company common stock from the participants under the 2017 Plan.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NextDecade Corporation, dated July 24, 2017.

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of NextDecade Corporation, dated July 24, 2017.

3.33) Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, dated August 9, 2018.

3.4(4) Certificate of Designations of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, dated September 28, 2018.

3.5(5) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, dated July 12, 2019

3.6(6) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Designations of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, dated July 12, 2019

3.7(7) Certificate of Increase to Certificate of Designations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of NextDecade Corporation, dated July 15,
2019

3.8(8) Certificate of Increase to Certificate of Designations of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of NextDecade Corporation, dated July 15,
2019

4.109) Specimen Common Share Certificate.

4.2(10) Specimen Unit Certificate.

4.3(11) Specimen Warrant Certificate.

4.4(12) Form of Warrant Agreement between Harmony Merger Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

4.5(13) Form of Warrant Agreement for the Series A Warrants.

4.6(14) Form of Warrant Agreement for the Series B Warrants.

10.1*+¥ Omnibus Agreement, entered into as of February 13, 2020, between NextDecade LNG, LLC and Spectra Energy Transmission II, LLC.

10.2*+ Precedent Agreement for Firm Natural Gas Transportation Service, made and entered into as of March 2, 2020, by and between Rio
Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC and Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC.

10.3*+ Precedent Agreement for Natural Gas Transportation Service, made and entered into as of March 2, 2020, by and between Rio Grande
LNG Gas Supply LLC and Valley Crossing Pipeline, LLC.

10.4(15) First Amendment to Lease Agreement, made and entered into as of April 30, 2020, by and between Brownsville Navigation District of
Cameron County, Texas and Rio Grande LNG, LLC.

31.1%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2%* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

M
@
(©)
4
©)
©)
™
®)
(©)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 28, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 28, 2017.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed December 20, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 9, 2018.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 15, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 15, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 6, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 of the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 6, 2019.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed October 10, 2014.

(10) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Amendment No. 7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed March 13, 2015.
(11) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Amendment No. 7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed March 13, 2015.
(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Amendment No. 7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed March 13, 2015.
(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 7, 2018.

(14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 24, 2018.

(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 4, 2020.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to furnish a supplementary
copy of such exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted
schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NEXTDECADE CORPORATION

Date: May 18, 2020 By: /s/ Matthew K. Schatzman
Matthew K. Schatzman
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 18, 2020 By: /s/ Benjamin A. Atkins
Benjamin A. Atkins
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
CERTAIN INFORMATION OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (I) NOT MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD

LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. INFORMATION THAT WAS OMITTED HAS BEEN NOTED IN THIS
DOCUMENT WITH A PLACEHOLDER IDENTIFIED BY THE MARK “[***].”

OMNIBUS AGREEMENT
between

NEXTDECADE LNG, LLC,
AS SELLER,

and

SPECTRA ENERGY TRANSMISSION II, LLC,
AS BUYER

Dated as of February 13, 2020
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OMNIBUS AGREEMENT

THIS OMNIBUS AGREEMENT is entered into as of February 13, 2020 (the “Execution Date”), between NextDecade LNG, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“Seller”), and Spectra Energy Transmission II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Buyer”) (Buyer and Seller,
collectively, the “Parties” and each, a “Party”). Capitalized terms used herein are defined in Article I or in the Section of this Agreement cross-referenced
therein.

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, Seller is the direct owner of all of the issued and outstanding ownership interests of Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company (the “Company”);

WHEREAS, an Affiliate of Seller, Rio Grande LNG, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“Rio Grande”), is developing an LNG liquefaction,
storage terminal and export facility to be located at the Port of Brownsville (the “Rio Grande LNG Project”);

WHEREAS, the Company is currently developing, or will develop, the Rio Bravo Pipeline System;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire that, at the Closing, Seller shall sell and transfer to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller, the Equity
Interests of the Company, upon the terms, and subject to the conditions, set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, (a) NextDecade Corporation, a Delaware corporation
(“NEXT”), has executed and delivered to Buyer a certain NextDecade Guaranty dated as of the Execution Date, pursuant to which NEXT guarantees all of
the obligations of Seller under this Agreement, and (b) Spectra Energy Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“SEP”) (an indirect, wholly-owned
subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., a Canadian corporation (“ENB”)), has executed and delivered to Seller a certain SEP Guaranty dated as of the Execution Date,
pursuant to which SEP guarantees all of the obligations of Buyer under this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as

follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND TERMS

Section 1.1 _ Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms have the meanings set forth or referenced below:

“1933 Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.7.




“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly Controlling, Controlled by, or under common
Control with, such first Person as of the date on which, or at any time during the period for which, the determination of affiliation is being made.

“Agreement” means this Omnibus Agreement, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms

hereof.
“Allocation Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(i).

“Base Pipeline Costs” means the Pipeline Costs with respect to the period ending on the Baseline Date in respect of the categories of
costs and expenses set forth on Exhibit E, which is equal to $17,297,000 as more particularly described on Exhibit E.

“Baseline Date” means September 30, 2019.

“Benefit Plans” means each (a) “employee benefit plan” as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (whether or not the program is
subject to ERISA), (b) equity bonus, equity ownership, equity option, equity purchase, equity appreciation rights, phantom equity or other equity plan
(whether qualified or nonqualified), (c) bonus, deferred compensation or incentive compensation plan, (d) employment, consulting, medical, dental, vision,
disability, life insurance, severance, retention or change in control plan, arrangement or policy, (e) vacation practice or other paid-time off program, and
(f) other employee benefit, fringe benefit or compensation plan, arrangement, policy or commitment.

“Budget” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a).

“Business” means the business of the Company as set forth on Section 1.1(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a statutory holiday on which banks are closed in Houston, Texas.

“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Buyer Costs” has the same meaning as the defined term “Pre-Service Costs” in the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA.

“Buyer Disclosure Schedule” means the disclosure schedule of even date herewith delivered to Seller by Buyer prior to or simultaneously
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Parties.

“Buyer Election Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(a).
“Buyer Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

“Buyer Repurchase Election” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(a).
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“Claim Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(a).

“Closing” means the consummation of the Transactions.

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.

“Closing Payment” means $15,000,000.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

<

0

ompany” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

0

ompany Assets” means all property and other assets used by the Company for the conduct and development of the Business.

3
«
3

2

0

ompany Marks” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means the Confidentiality Agreement dated as of September 12, 2019, between VCP and Seller.

“Consultation Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(e).

“Contract” means any agreement, contract, commitment, undertaking, lease, note, mortgage, indenture, settlement, license or other
legally binding agreement.

“Control”, “Controls”, “Controlling” or “Controlled” means, with respect to any Person, the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person (which, in the case of a publicly traded master limited partnership, means such
power and authority with respect to the general partner thereof), whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise.

“Deductible” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(a).

“Disclosure Schedule Supplement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5.

“Disclosure Schedules” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.12.

“Disregarded Entity” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.18(a).

“Easements” means easements, licenses, rights-of-way, servitudes, surface use agreements and similar agreements granting the right to
use real property for pipelines, utilities or other facilities or services necessary for the ownership, development, construction, expansion, or use of the Rio
Bravo Pipeline System and development and operation of the Business (but excluding Permits).

“ENB” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Encumbrance” means any lien, pledge, charge, encumbrance, security interest, option, mortgage or other restriction on transfers.
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“Environmental Law” means any Law concerning the protection of the environment (including natural resources, air, surface water,
groundwater, drinking water supplies, and surface or subsurface land), occupational health and safety, pipeline safety or the environmental impact of any
use, storage, recycling, treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, labeling, management, Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous
Material, or pollution, contamination or remediation of the environment.

“Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, consent, concurrence, identification number, license, registrations or other
authorization required under any applicable Environmental Law.

“Equity Interests” means one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests in the Company.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
“ERISA Affiliate,” as applied to any Person, means:

(a) any corporation which is a member of a controlled group of corporations within the meaning of Section 414(b) of the Code of
which that Person is a member;

(b) any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is a member of a group of trades or businesses under common control
within the meaning of Section 414(c) of the Code of which that Person is a member; and

(o) any member of an affiliated service group within the meaning of Section 414(m) or (o) of the Code of which that Person is a
member.

Any former ERISA Affiliate of a Person shall continue to be considered an ERISA Affiliate within the meaning of this definition with
respect to the period such entity was an ERISA Affiliate of the Person and with respect to liabilities arising after such period for which the Person could be
liable under the Code or ERISA.

“Estimated Repurchase Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).

“Execution Date” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Expired Option Agreement” means any Option Agreement that expired pursuant to its terms on or before the Execution Date.

“FERC” means the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

“FID” means that Rio Grande has received, after a final positive investment decision, the initial funding of financing for the
development, construction and operation of the Rio Grande LNG Project; provided that in no event shall FID be deemed to have occurred unless and until
the “Initial Notice” (as defined in the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA) has been received by the Company pursuant to the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA.
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“Final Incremental Pipeline Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(f).

“Final Payment” means an amount equal to the Final Incremental Pipeline Costs plus the Base Pipeline Costs minus the Closing

Payment.
“Final Repurchase Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(e).
“Final Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(f).
“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.7.
“Fundamental Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the applicable date of determination.

“Government Entity” means any federal, provincial, state, local or foreign court, arbitration tribunal, administrative body or other
governmental or quasi-governmental entity, including any head of a government department, body or agency, with competent jurisdiction.

“Guaranty or Bond” means any guaranty, letter of credit, surety or performance bond and any other similar agreement or arrangement
pursuant to which Seller or any one or more Seller Affiliate (other than the Company) has obligations with respect to any obligations of the Company, and
any security or collateral furnished in connection with any such guaranty, letter of credit, surety or performance bond or other similar agreement or
arrangement.

“Hazardous Materials” means any waste, chemical, material or other substance that is listed, defined, designated or classified as
hazardous, radioactive or toxic or a pollutant or a contaminant under any applicable Environmental Law, including petroleum and all derivatives thereof,
natural gas, natural gas liquids, condensate, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials in any form or condition, and polychlorinated biphenyls.

“Incremental Pipeline Costs” means (a) Pipeline Costs with respect to the period from 11:59 p.m. Central Time on the Baseline Date
through 12:01 a.m. Central Time on the Closing Date and (b) those Pipeline Costs with respect to the period prior to and including the Baseline Date that
are expressly set forth in the Budget for the line item entitled “Cost adjustments for Jan 1 — Sep 30, 2019”, in each case for the following items and
categories of Pipeline Costs but only to the extent such expenses are incurred in accordance with the Budget and paid: (i) right of way option extension
expenses of the Company, (ii) general and administrative expenses of the Company, (iii) an allocable portion of general and administrative expenses of
NEXT or any of its Affiliates other than the Company equal to $[***] per month (prorated daily for any partial month), (iv) expenses (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees) of NEXT or any of its Affiliates related to the negotiation and performance of Contract(s) to complete any mitigation required by a
Government Entity as a precondition to the issuance of the USACE Permit as set forth in the Budget, (v) project management expenses of the Company,
(vi) engineering expenses of the Company, and (vii) ecological and environmental regulatory expenses of the Company.
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“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, as of any specified time, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money to the
extent required to be reflected as a liability on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds,
debentures, notes or similar instruments to the extent required to be reflected as a liability on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, (c) all
obligations of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances or similar credit transactions and (d) all obligations of
such Person guaranteeing any obligations of any other Person of the type described in the foregoing clauses (b) and (c).

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3.
“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(a).
“Independent Accountant” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(f).

“Initial Membership Interests Assignment Agreement” means the membership interests assignment agreement pursuant to which the
Equity Interests are transferred and assigned from Seller to Buyer, on the Closing Date, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1.

“Initial Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a).

“Intellectual Property” means intellectual property rights, pursuant to statutory or common law, worldwide in respect of (a) trademarks,
service marks, trade dress, slogans, logos and goodwill associated therewith, and any applications or registrations for any of the foregoing and
(b) copyrights and any applications or registration for any of the foregoing.

“Intercompany Agreements” means, collectively, any Contracts between Seller or any Seller Affiliate (other than the Company), on the
one hand, and the Company, on the other hand.

“Intercompany_Payables” means all payables owed by the Company to Seller or any Seller Affiliate (other than the Company), as
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Intercompany Receivables” means all receivables owed to the Company by Seller or any Seller Affiliate (other than the Company), as
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Knowledge” means, with respect to Seller, the actual knowledge (after reasonable inquiry) of the individuals listed in Section 1.1(b) of
the Seller Disclosure Schedule or, with respect to Buyer, the actual knowledge (after reasonable inquiry) of the individuals listed in Section 1.1(d) of the
Buyer Disclosure Schedule.

“Law” means any law (including common law), statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order, judgment, injunction or decree enacted,
issued, promulgated, enforced or entered by any Government Entity.




“Leased Real Property” means all leasehold or subleasehold estates to use or occupy any land, buildings, structures, improvements,
fixture or other interests in real property held (or purported to be held) by the Company.

“Leases” means all leases and subleases with respect to any Leased Real Property, including all amendments, extensions, renewals,
modifications and other agreements with respect thereto.

“Liabilities” of any Person means, as of any given time, any and all Indebtedness, liabilities, commitments and obligations of any kind of
such Person, whether fixed, contingent or absolute, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, accrued or not accrued, asserted or not asserted,
known or unknown, determined, determinable or otherwise, whenever or however arising (including whether arising out of any Contract or tort based on
negligence or strict liability).

“Losses” means, with respect to any Indemnified Party, any and all losses, Liabilities, claims, obligations, judgments, fines, Taxes,
settlement payments, awards or damages of any kind actually suffered or incurred by such Indemnified Party after the Closing (together with all reasonably
incurred cash disbursements, costs and expenses, costs of investigation, defense and appeal and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses associated
therewith), whether or not involving a Third-Party Claim.

“Manuals” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, circumstance, development, state of facts, effect or condition that, individually or in the
aggregate (a) has been, or would be reasonably likely to be materially adverse on the assets, liabilities, business, financial condition or results of operation
of the Company taken as a whole, or (b) materially and adversely affects the ability of Seller to consummate the Transactions or would reasonably be
expected to do so; provided, however, that in no event shall any of the following, either alone or in combination, be deemed to constitute or contribute to a
Material Adverse Effect, or otherwise be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or is existing: (i) any change in
applicable Laws or accounting standards or the interpretation or enforcement thereof; (ii) any change in economic, political or business conditions or
financial, credit, debt or securities market conditions generally, including (A) changes in interest rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, electricity prices
or fuel costs and (B) any suspension of trading in securities generally on any securities exchange or over-the-counter market operating in the United States
or any other country or region in the world; (iii) any legal, regulatory or other change generally affecting the industries, industry sectors or geographic
sectors in which the Company operates, including any change in the prices of natural gas or other hydrocarbon products or the demand for related
liquefaction and terminal services; (iv) any change resulting or arising from the execution or delivery of this Agreement or the other Transaction
Documents, the consummation of the Transactions, or the announcement or other publicity or pendency with respect to any of the foregoing (including the
impact thereof on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers, suppliers, distributors, partners, employees, or regulators); (v) any change
resulting or arising from acts of war (whether or not declared), hostilities, sabotage, terrorism, military actions or the escalation of any of the foregoing, any
hurricane, flood, tornado, earthquake or other natural disaster, or any other force majeure event, whether or not caused by any Person, or any national or
international calamity or crisis; (vi) any stoppage or shutdown of any activity of any Government Entity (including any default or delays in payments by a
Government Entity or delays or failures to act by any Government Entity) not specifically directed toward, and that does not disproportionately impact, the
Company; or (vii) any change resulting or arising from (A) the taking of any action by Seller or any of its Affiliates, including the Company, required or
otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or consented to or requested by Buyer in writing or (B) the failure to take any action by Seller or any
of its Affiliates, including the Company, not consented to by Buyer as required under Section 6.3(a).
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“Material Contracts” means any Contract to which the Company is a party that is binding on the Company (a) evidencing Indebtedness of
the Company, (b) that provides for the payment by or on behalf of the Company in excess of $50,000 per annum or the delivery by the Company of goods
or services with a fair market value in excess of $50,000 per annum, in each case during the remaining term thereof, (c) that provides for the Company to
receive any payments in excess of, or any property with a fair market value in excess of, $50,000 per annum, in each case during the remaining term
thereof, (d) that contains covenants restricting the ability of the Company to compete in the natural gas gathering, processing, transportation or marketing
business or any other lines of business in any geographic area or with any Person, (e) that licenses material Intellectual Property to, or from, the Company
from, or to, a third party, other than “shrink wrap”, “click wrap” or “off the shelf” software licenses that are generally commercially available, (f) that
grants the Company an equity interest in any partnership or joint venture, including any agreement or commitment to make a loan or contribution to any
joint venture or partnership, (g) that provides for the engineering, procurement or construction of any Company Assets (or for management services for any
of the foregoing), (h) that is an Option Agreement or (i) that Seller or any Affiliate of Seller is the counterparty to.

“Net Working Capital” means the amount calculated by subtracting the current liabilities of the Company, which shall include any unpaid
Buyer Costs, from the current assets of the Company (including any cash on hand) as of the Repurchase Closing Date, as determined in accordance with
GAAP consistent with past practice of the Company as presented in the Financial Statements.

“NEXT” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Notice of Disagreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(d).

“Notice Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(a).

“Option Agreement” means any Contract to which the Company is a party that grants the Company an option to acquire any easement,
license, right-of-way, servitude, surface use agreement or similar interest.

“Organizational Documents” means (a) with respect to any Person that is a corporation, its articles or certificate of incorporation or
memorandum and articles of association, as the case may be, and bylaws, (b) with respect to any Person that is a partnership, its certificate of partnership
and partnership agreement, (c) with respect to any Person that is a limited liability company, its certificate of formation and limited liability company or
operating agreement, (d) with respect to any Person that is a trust or other entity, its declaration or agreement of trust or other constituent document and
(e) with respect to any other Person, its comparable organizational documents.
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“Outside Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).

“Owned Real Property” means all land and any hereditaments, appurtenances and other interests appertaining thereto, owned (or
purported to be owned) in fee by the Company.

“PA Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(a).

“Parent Combined Group” means the consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group that includes (a) the Company and (b) NEXT or
one or more of its Affiliates.

“Parent Combined Income Tax Returns” means any and all federal, state, territorial, local or foreign Tax Returns relating to income or
franchise Taxes of a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group that includes the Parent Combined Group.

“Party” or “Parties” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, and consents issued by or obtained from any Government

Entity.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

(@

(b)
©

(d)

mechanics’, materialmen’s, warehousemen’s, carriers’, workers’, or repairmen’s liens or other similar common law or statutory
Encumbrances arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business securing payments not yet delinquent;

liens for Taxes, assessments and other governmental charges not yet delinquent;

any conditions, rights, reservations, exceptions or restrictions relating to real property that are disclosed (i) on any title
commitment or report, (ii) in the deed or instrument conveying, leasing, or licensing such real property that have been made
available to Buyer or (iii) are otherwise of public record maintained by any Government Entity in each case, to the extent any
such condition, right, reservation, exception or restriction would not reasonably be expected to interfere in any material respect
with the current or future development, construction, ownership or operation of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System;

zoning, building, subdivision or other similar requirements or restrictions and all rights of any Government Entity to regulate a
real property to the extent any such condition, right, reservation, exception or restriction would not reasonably be expected to
interfere in any material respect with the current or future development, construction, ownership or operation of the Rio Bravo
Pipeline System;




(e) liens granted or arising in the ordinary course of business to any public utility or Government Entity with respect to the
Company Assets or operations pertaining thereto to the extent not yet delinquent;

® any Encumbrance to be or that is released on or prior to Closing; and
(® any other Encumbrances identified on Section 1.1(c) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule.

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a general or limited partnership, an association, a limited liability company, a Government
Entity, a trust or other entity or organization.

“Pipeline Costs” means (i) the direct costs and expenses actually and reasonably incurred and paid by the Company in respect to the Rio
Bravo Pipeline System, and (ii) the indirect costs and expenses actually and reasonably incurred by NEXT or any of its Affiliates other than the Company
in respect to the Rio Bravo Pipeline System, and reasonably allocated to the Company, in each case, during the relevant time period.

“Port of Brownsville Reimbursement Agreement” means a Reimbursement Agreement between the Company and Rio Grande, pursuant
to which the Company will pay its pro-rata share of mitigation land payments due to the Brownsville Navigation District pertaining to the Loma Ecological
Preserve and as required by the USACE Permit, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B-1.

“Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.19(a).

“Post-Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement” means the membership interests assignment agreement pursuant to which
the Equity Interests are transferred and assigned from Buyer to Seller pursuant to Section 2.9 or Section 2.10, as applicable, in the form attached hereto as

Exhibit A-2.

“Pre-Closing Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a).

“Preference Right” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6.
“Proposed Incremental Pipeline Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a).
“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(d).

applicable waiting periods and approvals of any Government Entities that may be or may become reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to consummate
and complete the Transactions.
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“Release” means the release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, emptying, escaping, dumping, injection, deposit, disposal,
discharge, dispersal, leaching or migrating into the environment (including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata) and
“Released” has a corresponding meaning.

“Remedial Action” means any action required by any Environmental Law to investigate, clean up, remove, remediate, monitor or conduct
corrective action with respect to, Hazardous Materials Released into the environment.

“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, any and all partners, managers, members (if such Person is a member-managed
limited liability company), directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsels, accountants and other agents of such Person.

“Repurchase Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).

“Repurchase Purchase Price” means an amount equal to:
(a the aggregate amount of payments of the Purchase Price paid by Buyer to Seller pursuant to this Agreement, plus

(b) all of the Buyer Costs actually paid, incurred, accrued, allocated to, or for which the Company is contractually obligated to pay
(excluding any Indebtedness of the Company incurred after the Closing, which shall be discharged pursuant to Section 2.9(b) or
Section 2.10(b), as applicable), relating to the time period from and after the Closing until the Repurchase Closing Date (but
without duplication of any amounts paid after the Closing, but prior to the Repurchase Closing Date, by Rio Grande Gas Supply
or any other Affiliate of NEXT to the Company or any other Affiliate of ENB as reimbursement of “Pre-Service Costs” pursuant
to the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA or the VCP PA) [***], plus
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(© the amount of Net Working Capital if such amount is a positive amount, minus

(d) the amount of Net Working Capital if such amount is a negative amount;

provided, that in no event shall the Repurchase Purchase Price be an amount less than $0.
“Repurchase Purchase Price Consultation Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(e).
“Repurchase Purchase Price Final Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(e).
“Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).

“Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(d).

“Repurchase Purchase Price Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(c).
“Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(c).

“Rio Bravo Ocelot Agreement” means an Agreement Regarding Voluntary Habitat Conservation for the Pipeline Project between The
Conservation Fund and the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, the responsibility for [***]% of the costs due to The Conservation Fund for
ocelot habitat creation as part of the voluntary conservation measures required for the USACE Permit application will be allocated to the Company, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B-2.

“Rio Bravo Pipeline PA” means the Precedent Agreement for Firm Natural Gas Transportation Service to be entered into between the
Company, as transporter, and Rio Grande Gas Supply, as customer, on the Closing Date, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-1.

“Rio Bravo Pipeline System” means the Rio Bravo natural gas pipeline system, to consist of interstate pipeline system, extending from
either Agua Dulce, Texas or the King Ranch in Kleberg County, Texas to the Rio Grande LNG Project, as the location, mileage and route for such system is
to be determined pursuant to the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA.

“Rio Bravo Wetlands Agreement” means a Lump Sum Turnkey Mitigation Sales and Services Agreement for the Pipeline Project
between EIP III Credit Co., LLC and the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, the responsibility for [***]% of the costs due to EIP III Credit
Co., LLC for wetlands creation as part of the compensatory mitigation requirements for the USACE Permit application will be allocated to the Company, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B-3.

“Rio Grande” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
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“Rio Grande Gas Supply” means Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC (formerly known as RioGas Marketing, LLC), a Texas limited
liability company and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of NEXT.

“Rio Grande LNG Project” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Rio Grande Ocelot Agreement” means an Amended and Restated Agreement Regarding Voluntary Habitat Conservation between Rio
Grande and The Conservation Fund, which is an amendment and restatement of the existing Ocelot Agreement dated September 9, 2019 between The
Conservation Fund and Rio Grande, pursuant to which, among other things, the responsibility for [***]% of the costs due to The Conservation Fund for
ocelot habitat creation as part of the voluntary conservation measures required for the USACE Permit application will be allocated to Rio Grande, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F-1.

“Rio_Grande Wetlands Agreement” means an Amended and Restated Lump Sum Turnkey Mitigation Sales and Services Agreement
between EIP III Credit Co., LLC and Rio Grande, which is an amendment and restatement of the existing Wetlands Agreement dated August 21, 2019
between EIP III Credit Co., LLC and Rio Grande, pursuant to which, among other things, the responsibility for [***]% of the costs due to EIP III Credit
Co., LLC for wetlands creation as part of the compensatory mitigation requirements for the USACE Permit application will be allocated to Rio Grande, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F-2.

“Seller” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Seller Disclosure Schedule” means the disclosure schedule of even date herewith delivered to Buyer by Seller prior to or simultaneously
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Parties, together with any Disclosure Schedule Supplement described in the proviso of the second
sentence of Section 6.5.

“Seller Election Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).

“Seller Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3.

“Seller Repurchase Election” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).

“SEP” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Straddle Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which (a) more than fifty percent (50%) of (i) the total combined
voting power of all classes of voting securities of such entity, (ii) the total combined equity interests or (iii) the capital or profit interests, in each case, is
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by such first Person or (b) the power to vote or to direct the voting of sufficient securities to elect a majority of
the board of directors or similar governing body is held by such first Person.

“Survival Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
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“Tax” or “Taxes” means all federal, state, territorial, local and foreign taxes, including income, capital, capital gains, gross receipts,
windfall profits, value added, severance, property, production, sales, goods and services, harmonized sales, use, excise, franchise, employment, withholding
or similar taxes, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties, along with
any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described above as a result of being a member of any affiliated, combined, consolidated, unitary or
similar group with respect to any Taxes, including any affiliated group within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code electing to file consolidated federal
income Tax Returns and any similar group under foreign, state or local law for any period.

“Tax_Authority” means any Government Entity having jurisdiction over the assessment, determination, collection, administration or
imposition of any Taxes.

“Tax Expert” means a partner or principal of a widely recognized accounting firm with expertise in the relevant area of disagreement,
provided that such partner or principal does not, and the accounting firm with which such partner or principal is associated does not, have a conflict of
interest with respect to the determination of such disagreement or dispute.

“Tax Returns” means all reports, returns, declarations, elections, notices, filings, forms and statements, and including any amendments,
schedules, attachments, supplements, appendices and exhibits thereto, filed or required to be filed by Law with respect to Taxes.

“Third-Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(a).

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA, the VCP PA and the Initial Membership Interests
Assignment Agreement.

“Transactions” means the purchase and sale of the Equity Interests and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
“Transfer Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(k).

“USACE Permit” means that certain Permit from the United States Army Corps of Engineers for the construction and development of the
Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

“VCP” means Valley Crossing Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of ENB.

“VCP PA” means the Precedent Agreement for Natural Gas Transportation Service to be entered into between VCP, as transporter, and
Rio Grande Gas Supply, as customer, on the Closing Date, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-2.

Section 1.2 Other Terms. Other capitalized terms used in this Agreement may be defined elsewhere in the text of this Agreement and, unless
otherwise indicated, shall have such meaning throughout this Agreement.

Section 1.3  Calculation of Time Periods. When calculating the period of time within which, or following which, any act is to be done or step
taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference day in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-

Business Day, the period in question shall end on the next Business Day.
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Section 1.4  Other Definitional Provisions. Unless the express context otherwise requires:
(@) The word “day” means calendar day;

(b) the words “hereof,” “herein,” and “hereunder” and words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, shall refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement;

(c) the terms defined in the singular have a comparable meaning when used in the plural and vice versa;
(d) all references to “$” mean United States Dollars;

(e) references herein to a specific Article, Section, Exhibit or Schedule shall refer, respectively, to Articles, Sections, Exhibits or
Schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated;

» o«

(f)  wherever the word “include”, “includes”, or “including” is used in this Agreement, it shall be deemed to be followed by the words
“without limitation”;

(g) unless the context requires otherwise, the word “or” shall include both the conjunctive and disjunctive;
(h) references to a specific time shall refer to prevailing Central Time, unless otherwise indicated;

(i) the word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends and such phrase shall
not mean simply “if”;

(j)  except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, any statute defined or referred to herein means such statute as from
time to time amended, supplemented or modified, including by succession of comparable successor statutes; and

(k)  except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, any agreement, instrument or writing defined or referred to herein
means such agreement, instrument or writing, as from time to time amended, supplemented or modified prior to the date hereof.

ARTICLE IT
PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.1  Purchase and Sale of the Equity Interests. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, Seller agrees to
sell, convey, assign and transfer to Buyer, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than those arising pursuant to the Organizational Documents of the
Company, this Agreement or applicable Laws, or that will be discharged at or prior to the Closing), and Buyer agrees to purchase, acquire and accept from
Seller, all right, title and interest of Seller in and to the Equity Interests of the Company.
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Section 2.2 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price payable by Buyer to Seller for the Equity Interests shall be an amount equal to the
Closing Payment plus the Final Payment (the “Purchase Price”); provided, however, that in no event shall the Purchase Price exceed $25,000,000.

Section 2.3  Closing Payment. At the Closing, Buyer shall pay Seller an amount equal to the Closing Payment.

Section 2.4  Closing. Unless the Parties otherwise agree in writing, the Closing shall take place at the Houston offices of Vinson & Elkins LLP at
9:00 a.m. on the sixth (6th) Business Day following the day on which the last of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that by
their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the fulfillment or waiver of those conditions) is satisfied or waived in accordance with this
Agreement.

Section 2.5  Deliveries by Buyer. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered to Seller, the following:

(a) the Closing Payment, by electronic funds transfer of immediately available funds, to the account or accounts of Seller designated by
Seller in writing at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing;

(b) acounterpart of the Initial Membership Interests Assignment Agreement duly executed by Buyer;

(c)  a counterpart of the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA duly executed by the Company (by an employee of an Affiliate of ENB who has been
appointed as officer of the Company effective upon the Closing);

(d) acounterpart of the VCP PA duly executed by VCP; and
(e) the officer’s certificate required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to Section 7.2(d).

Section 2.6  Deliveries by Seller. At the Closing, Seller shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Buyer the following:

(a) a counterpart of the Initial Membership Interests Assignment Agreement duly executed by Seller;
(b) the officer’s certificate required to be delivered by Seller pursuant to Section 7.1(e);

16




(c) aresignation and mutual release, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by the Company and each director, committee member or
representative, or officer of the Company, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C;

(d) acertificate of good standing or the equivalent of recent date for the Company from the jurisdiction of its organization;
(e) a counterpart of the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA duly executed by Rio Grande Gas Supply;

(f) acounterpart of the VCP PA duly executed by Rio Grande Gas Supply;

(g) acopy of the Rio Grande Wetlands Agreement duly executed by EIP III Credit Co., LLC and Rio Grande;

(h) acopy of the Rio Grande Ocelot Agreement duly executed by The Conservation Fund and Rio Grande;

(i)  a certification of non-foreign status executed by the entity that is treated as the seller for U.S. federal income Tax purposes in the
form prescribed by Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b); and

() aduly executed copy of Seller’s IRS Form W-9.

Section 2.7  Final Payment.

(a)  Within five (5) days following the Closing Date, Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a statement (the “Estimated Statement”)
setting forth Seller’s good faith estimate of the Incremental Pipeline Costs as of the Closing (the “Proposed Incremental Pipeline Costs”), together with a
calculation and reasonable supporting information therefor.

(b)  Within sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller a statement (the “Initial Statement”)
calculating and setting forth the actual Incremental Pipeline Costs, which statement shall include a worksheet setting forth in reasonable detail how such
amount was calculated. If Buyer does not prepare and deliver the Initial Statement to Seller within sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, then, at the
election of Seller, either (i) Seller may prepare and present the Initial Statement within an additional forty-five (45) days after such 60-day period or (ii) the
Proposed Incremental Pipeline Costs set forth in the Estimated Statement shall be deemed to be the Final Incremental Pipeline Costs in accordance with the
last sentence of Section 2.7(f). If Seller prepares the Initial Statement in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, all references to “Seller” in
Section 2.7(c) and Section 2.7(d) shall be deemed to be references to “Buyer” and all references to “Buyer” in Section 2.7(c) and Section 2.7(d) shall be
deemed to be references to “Seller”.

(©) During the thirty (30) days immediately following Seller’s receipt of the Initial Statement (the “Review Period”), Buyer shall
permit Seller and its Representatives to review Buyer’s working papers and any working papers of Buyer’s independent accountants, in each case, relating
to the preparation of the Initial Statement, as well as all of the financial books, ledgers and records related thereto, and Buyer shall make reasonably
available to Seller and its Representatives the individuals responsible for and knowledgeable about the preparation of the Initial Statement. Seller
acknowledges and agrees that access to the working papers of Buyer’s independent accountants may be conditioned upon Seller’s execution of a customary
confidentiality and hold harmless agreement relating to such access to working papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer’s independent
accountants.
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(d) If Seller concludes in its discretion that the Initial Statement has not been prepared on the basis required by this Agreement, Seller
shall submit a written notice to Buyer on or prior to the expiration of the Review Period (the “Notice of Disagreement”), which notice shall set forth in
reasonable detail the basis of Seller’s disagreement. If no Notice of Disagreement is received by Buyer on or prior to the expiration date of the Review
Period, the Initial Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by Seller and shall become final and binding upon Seller and Buyer in accordance with
the last sentence of Section 2.7(f).

(e) If a Notice of Disagreement is timely received by Buyer, during the thirty (30) days immediately following the expiration of the
Review Period (the “Consultation Period”), Seller and Buyer shall seek in good faith to resolve any disagreement that they may have with respect to the
matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement.

(f) If, at the end of the Consultation Period, Seller and Buyer have been unable to resolve all disagreements that they may have with
respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement, Seller and Buyer shall submit separate written statements setting forth in detail their
respective positions with respect to all matters that remain in dispute with respect to the Notice of Disagreement (along with a copy of the Initial Statement
marked to indicate those line items that are in dispute) to Ernst & Young LLP (or if Ernst & Young LLP refuses or is otherwise unable to act in such
capacity, then Seller and Buyer shall cooperate in good faith to appoint an independent certified public accounting firm qualified and of national
recognition in the United States that is mutually agreeable to Seller and Buyer to act in such capacity) (Ernst & Young LLP or any other accountant so
appointed being herein called the “Independent Accountant”) promptly thereafter, with simultaneous copies to the other Party. Within thirty (30) days after
the submission of such matters to the Independent Accountant, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Independent Accountant, acting as an expert and not
as an arbitrator or mediator, will make a final determination, binding on Seller and Buyer, of the appropriate amount of each of the matters that remain in
dispute with respect to the Notice of Disagreement. There shall be no ex parte communications between Seller and Buyer, on the one hand, and the
Independent Accountant, on the other hand, relating to those matters in dispute, other than the initial written submission by Seller and Buyer of their
respective positions on the matters in dispute and written answers by Seller and Buyer to written questions from the Independent Accountant, with
simultaneous copies to each Party. With respect to each disputed line item, the Independent Accountant’s determination, if not in accordance with the
position of Seller or Buyer, shall not be in excess of the highest nor less than the lowest of the amounts advocated in any Notice of Disagreement or in the
Initial Statement with respect to such disputed line item. For the avoidance of doubt, the Independent Accountant shall not review any line items or make
any determination with respect to any matter other than those matters in the Notice of Disagreement that remain in dispute. The statement setting forth the
Incremental Pipeline Costs that are final and binding on Seller and Buyer, as determined either through agreement of Seller and Buyer (deemed or
otherwise), pursuant to Section 2.7(d) or through the determination of the Independent Accountant pursuant to this Section 2.7(f), are referred to herein as
the “Final Statement” and the “Final Incremental Pipeline Costs” respectively.
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(g) The cost of the Independent Accountant’s review and determination shall be shared equally by Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer,
on the other hand. During the review by the Independent Accountant, Seller and Buyer shall each make available to the Independent Accountant such
individuals and such information, books, records and work papers, as may be reasonably required by the Independent Accountant to fulfill its obligations
under Section 2.7(f); provided, however, that the independent accountants of Seller or Buyer shall not be obligated to make any working papers available to

the Independent Accountant unless and until the Independent Accountant has signed a customary confidentiality and hold harmless agreement relating to
such access to working papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such independent accountants.

(h)  Within five (5) Business Days after the date that FID occurs, Buyer shall pay to Seller the Final Payment as ultimately determined
in accordance with this Section 2.7.

Section 2.8 ~ Payments. Seller and Buyer shall make any payment due to the other pursuant to this Article II by no later than 10:00 a.m. on the
day when due (unless otherwise consented to by the Person to whom such payment is due). All payments shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the account or accounts designated by or on behalf of the Person receiving such payment.

Section 2.9  Buyer Repurchase Election.

(@) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the event the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA is terminated after the Closing
by the Company pursuant to Section 8.2(i), or by Rio Grande Gas Supply pursuant to Section 8.1(i), of the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA due to the condition
precedent set forth in Section 7.1 thereof not having been fully satisfied or waived, as applicable, by the date specified therefor (the effective date of such
termination, the “PA Termination Date”), then Buyer may elect by sending written notice thereof to Seller at any time following such date until the date that
is ninety-five (95) days following the PA Termination Date (the date such notice is provided, the “Buyer Election Date”) for Seller to acquire the Equity
Interests from Buyer (a “Buyer Repurchase Election”). The Buyer Repurchase Election shall be accompanied by its good faith estimate of the Repurchase
Purchase Price, including all Buyer Costs included therein, together with reasonable supporting documentation therefor. Until the consummation of the
Buyer Repurchase Election, Buyer shall have the right to supplement its good faith estimate of the Repurchase Purchase Price.

(b) If Buyer makes a Buyer Repurchase Election, then, prior to the closing of such Buyer Repurchase Election, Buyer shall cause any
Indebtedness of the Company incurred after the Closing to be discharged and shall deliver to Seller such confirmation thereof as Seller may reasonably
request. In no event shall Seller assume any obligation under Indebtedness of the Company incurred after the Closing in connection with a Buyer
Repurchase Election.
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(c) If Buyer makes a Buyer Repurchase Election, then, within twenty (20) Business Days after Seller’s receipt of the Buyer Repurchase
Election, (i) the Parties shall execute and deliver to each other a Post-Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement for the sale, conveyance,
assignment and transfer from Buyer to Seller of the Equity Interests, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than those arising pursuant to the
Organizational Documents of the Company, this Agreement or applicable Laws or that will be discharged at or prior to the consummation of such sale),
(ii) contemporaneously therewith Seller shall pay to Buyer by wire transfer of immediately available funds an amount equal to Buyer’s good faith estimate
of the Repurchase Purchase Price, and (iii) each Party shall take such action or execute such document or instrument as is reasonably requested by the other
Party in order to more fully effect the repurchase and resale of the Equity Interests from Buyer to Seller as contemplated in this Section 2.9.

Section 2.10  Seller Repurchase Election.

(@) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the event the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA is terminated after the Closing
by Rio Grande Gas Supply pursuant to Section 8.1(i), or by the Company pursuant to Section 8.2(i), of the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA due to the condition
precedent set forth in Section 7.1 thereof not having been fully satisfied or waived, as applicable, by the date specified therefor, then Seller may elect by
sending written notice thereof to Buyer at any time following such date until the date that is ninety (90) days following the PA Termination Date (the date
such notice is provided, the “Seller Election Date”) for Seller to acquire the Equity Interests from Buyer (a “Seller Repurchase Election”). If Seller makes a
Seller Repurchase Election then, within fifteen (15) Business Days after Buyer’s receipt of the Seller Repurchase Election, Buyer shall deliver its good
faith estimate of the Repurchase Purchase Price, including all Buyer Costs included therein, together with reasonable supporting documentation therefor.
Until the consummation of the Seller Repurchase Election, Buyer shall have the right to supplement its good faith estimate of the Repurchase Purchase
Price. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.10, Seller shall not be entitled to elect a Seller Repurchase Election if the Rio Bravo
Pipeline PA has been terminated pursuant to Section 8.1(i) or Section 8.2(i) of the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA and such termination is related to Rio Grande Gas
Supply’s willful, intentional or knowing breach of its obligation to deliver the “Initial Notice” to the Company as required pursuant to Section 5.1 of the
Rio Bravo Pipeline PA.

(b)  If Seller makes a Seller Repurchase Election, then, prior to the closing of such Seller Repurchase Election, Buyer shall cause any
Indebtedness of the Company incurred after the Closing to be discharged and shall deliver to Seller such confirmation thereof as Seller may reasonably
request. In no event shall Seller assume any obligation under Indebtedness of the Company incurred after the Closing in connection with a Seller
Repurchase Election.

(c) If Seller makes a Seller Repurchase Election, then, within twenty (20) Business Days after Buyer’s receipt of the Seller Repurchase
Election, (i) the Parties shall execute and deliver to each other a Post-Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement for the sale, conveyance,
assignment and transfer from Buyer to Seller of the Equity Interests, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than those arising pursuant to the
Organizational Documents of the Company, this Agreement or applicable Laws or that will be discharged at or prior to the consummation of such sale),
(ii) contemporaneously therewith Seller shall pay to Buyer an amount by wire transfer of immediately available funds equal to Buyer’s good faith estimate
of the Repurchase Purchase Price, and (iii) each Party shall take such action or execute such document or instrument as is reasonably requested by the other
Party in order to more fully effect the repurchase and resale of the Equity Interests from Buyer to Seller as contemplated in this Section 2.10.
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Section 2.11  Calculation of the Repurchase Purchase Price; Payment of the Repurchase Purchase Price.

(@)  Within sixty (60) days following the closing of the Buyer Repurchase Election pursuant to Section 2.9 or the Seller Repurchase
Election pursuant to Section 2.10 (either, a “Repurchase Closing Date”), Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer a statement (the “Repurchase Purchase
Price Initial Statement”) calculating and setting forth the actual Repurchase Purchase Price, which statement shall include a worksheet setting forth in
reasonable detail how such amount was calculated, including all Buyer Costs included therein. If Seller does not prepare and deliver the Repurchase
Purchase Price Initial Statement to Buyer within sixty (60) days following the Repurchase Closing Date, then, at the election of Buyer, either (i) Buyer may
prepare and present the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement within an additional forty-five (45) days after such 60-day period or (ii) Buyer’s good
faith estimate of the Repurchase Purchase Price made pursuant to Section 2.9(b) or Section 2.10(b) (the “Estimated Repurchase Purchase Price”) shall be
deemed to be the Final Repurchase Purchase Price in accordance with the last sentence of Section 2.11(e). If Buyer prepares the Repurchase Purchase Price
Initial Statement in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, all references to “Buyer” in Section 2.11(b) and Section 2.11(c) shall be deemed
to be references to “Seller” and all references to “Seller” in Section 2.11(b) and Section 2.11(c) shall be deemed to be references to “Buyer”.

(b) During the thirty (30) days immediately following Buyer’s receipt of the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement (the
“Repurchase Purchase Price Review Period”), Seller shall permit Buyer and its Representatives to review Seller’s working papers and any working papers
of Seller’s independent accountants, in each case, relating to the preparation of the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement, as well as all of the
financial books, ledgers and records related thereto, and Seller shall make reasonably available to Buyer and its Representatives the individuals responsible
for and knowledgeable about the preparation of the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that access to the working
papers of Seller’s independent accountants may be conditioned upon Buyer’s execution of a customary confidentiality and hold harmless agreement
relating to such access to working papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Seller’s independent accountants.

(c) If Buyer concludes in its discretion that the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement has not been prepared on the basis required
by this Agreement, Buyer shall submit a written notice to Seller on or prior to the expiration of the Repurchase Purchase Price Review Period (the
“Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement”), which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis of Buyer’s disagreement. If no Repurchase
Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement is received by Seller on or prior to the expiration date of the Repurchase Purchase Price Review Period, the
Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by Buyer and shall become final and binding upon Buyer and Seller in
accordance with the last sentence of Section 2.11(e).
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(d) If a Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement is timely received by Seller, during the thirty (30) days immediately
following the expiration of the Repurchase Purchase Price Review Period (the “Repurchase Purchase Price Consultation Period”), Buyer and Seller shall
seek in good faith to resolve any disagreement that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of
Disagreement.

(e) If, at the end of the Repurchase Purchase Price Consultation Period, Buyer and Seller have been unable to resolve all disagreements
that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement, Buyer and Seller shall submit separate
written statements setting forth in detail their respective positions with respect to all matters that remain in dispute with respect to the Repurchase Purchase
Price Notice of Disagreement (along with a copy of the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement marked to indicate those line items that are in dispute)
to the Independent Accountant promptly thereafter, with simultaneous copies to the other Party. Within thirty (30) days after the submission of such matters
to the Independent Accountant, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Independent Accountant, acting as an expert and not as an arbitrator or mediator,
will make a final determination, binding on Buyer and Seller, of the appropriate amount of each of the matters that remain in dispute with respect to the
Repurchase Purchase Price Notice of Disagreement. There shall be no ex parte communications between Buyer and Seller, on the one hand, and the
Independent Accountant, on the other hand, relating to those matters in dispute, other than the initial written submission by Buyer and Seller of their
respective positions on the matters in dispute and written answers by Buyer and Seller to written questions from the Independent Accountant, with
simultaneous copies to each Party. With respect to each disputed line item, the Independent Accountant’s determination, if not in accordance with the
position of Buyer or Seller, shall not be in excess of the highest nor less than the lowest of the amounts advocated in any Repurchase Purchase Price Notice
of Disagreement or in the Repurchase Purchase Price Initial Statement with respect to such disputed line item. For the avoidance of doubt, the Independent
Accountant shall not review any line items or make any determination with respect to any matter other than those matters in the Repurchase Purchase Price
Notice of Disagreement that remain in dispute. The statement setting forth the Repurchase Purchase Price that is final and binding on Buyer and Seller, as
determined either through agreement of Buyer and Seller (deemed or otherwise), pursuant to Section 2.11(c) or through the determination of the
Independent Accountant pursuant to this Section 2.11(e), are referred to herein as the “Repurchase Purchase Price Final Statement” and the “Final
Repurchase Purchase Price” respectively.

(f)  The cost of the Independent Accountant’s review and determination shall be shared equally by Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer,
on the other hand. During the review by the Independent Accountant, Seller and Buyer shall each make available to the Independent Accountant such
individuals and such information, books, records and work papers, as may be reasonably required by the Independent Accountant to fulfill its obligations
under Section 2.11(e); provided, however, that the independent accountants of Seller or Buyer shall not be obligated to make any working papers available
to the Independent Accountant unless and until the Independent Accountant has signed a customary confidentiality and hold harmless agreement relating to
such access to working papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such independent accountants.
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(g) If the Final Repurchase Purchase Price is less than the Estimated Repurchase Purchase Price, Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount
equal to such deficit. If the Final Repurchase Purchase Price exceeds the Estimated Repurchase Purchase Price, Seller shall pay to Buyer an amount equal
to such excess. In each case, such payment shall be made within three (3) Business Days after the Final Repurchase Purchase Price is ultimately determined
in accordance with this Section 2.11.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER REGARDING SELLER

Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing:

Section 3.1  Organization and Good Standing. Seller has been duly organized or created, is validly existing and is in good standing under the
Laws of its jurisdiction of formation or creation. Seller is an indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of NEXT.

Section 3.2 Corporate Authorization. Seller has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate
the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Seller and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party, the
performance of Seller’s obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary action
of Seller. The Transaction Documents to which Seller is or will be a party have been or will be duly executed and delivered by Seller and, assuming the due
authorization, execution and delivery of such Transaction Documents by each other Person that is or will be a party thereto, constitute legal, valid and
binding obligations of Seller, enforceable against in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer,
reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or, as to enforceability, by general equitable
principles.

Section 3.3 Ownership of Interests. Seller is the record and beneficial owner of and has good and valid title to the Equity Interests, free and clear
of all Encumbrances (other than those arising pursuant to the Organizational Documents of the Company, this Agreement or applicable Laws, or that will
be discharged at or prior to the Closing).

Section 3.4  Non-Contravention. The execution and delivery by Seller of the Transaction Documents to which Seller is or will be a party, the
performance of the obligations of Seller pursuant to such Transaction Documents and the consummation of the Transactions will not constitute or result in
(a) a violation of the Organizational Documents of Seller or, (b) a breach or violation of, or a default under, any Law to which Seller is subject, except, in
the case of clause (b), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay or impair the ability of Seller to consummate the
Transactions.
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Section 3.5  Consents and Approvals. No consent, approval, waiver, authorization, notice or filing is required to be obtained by Seller or any of
its Affiliates from, or to be given by Seller or any of its Affiliates to, or to be made by Seller or any of its Affiliates with, any Person (including any
Government Entity), in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Seller of the Transaction Documents to which Seller is or will be a
party and the consummation of the Transactions, except (a) as would not prevent or materially delay or impair the ability of Seller to consummate the
Transactions or (b) as may be required as a result of any facts or circumstances relating solely to Buyer or any of its Affiliates.

Section 3.6  Litigation. As of the date hereof, there is no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, charge, grievance or proceeding pending
or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, against Seller or any of Seller’s Affiliates or any of their respective properties or other assets before any
Government Entity, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, materially delay or impair the ability of Seller to consummate the Transactions.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER REGARDING THE COMPANY

Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing:
Section 4.1  Organization and Good Standing.

(@) The Company has been duly organized or created, is validly existing and is in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of
formation or creation and has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own and operate its properties and other assets and to carry on
its business as presently conducted.

(b)  The Company is qualified to do business and is in good standing (to the extent such concept is applicable) in each jurisdiction
where the ownership or operation of its properties or other assets or conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so
qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.2 Capitalization. Section 4.2 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all of the issued and
outstanding membership interests of the Company and the ownership thereof. All of the outstanding membership interests of the Company have been duly
authorized, fully paid and are validly issued. Except pursuant to this Agreement, there are no pre-emptive or other outstanding rights, options, warrants,
conversion rights, stock appreciation rights, redemption rights, repurchase rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments under which the Company is
or may become obligated to issue or sell, or giving any Person a right to subscribe for or acquire, or dispose of, any membership interests, or any securities
or obligations exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into any membership interests, or that affect the transferability of any membership interests of
the Company (other than restrictions in the Organizational Documents of the Company that will be complied with or waived at or prior to Closing and
under applicable securities Law that Company will have satisfied at or prior to Closing), and no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are
authorized, issued or outstanding. Except pursuant to this Agreement, the membership interests in the Company are not subject to any voting trust
agreement or similar arrangement relating to the voting of such membership interests.
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Section 4.3  Equity Interests. The Company does not own, and has never owned, any capital stock or other equity interests in any Person.

Section 4.4 Non-Contravention. The consummation of the Transactions will not constitute or result in (a) a violation of the Organizational
Documents of the Company, (b) a material breach or violation of, a termination of, a right of termination or default under, the creation or acceleration of
any material rights or obligations under, or the creation of an Encumbrance on any of the assets of the Company pursuant to, any Contract (with or without
notice, lapse of time or both), other than the Organizational Documents of the Company or (c) a breach or violation of, or a default under, any Law to
which the Company is subject.

Section 4.5  Consents and Approvals. No material consent, approval, waiver, authorization, notice or filing is required to be obtained by the
Company from, or to be given by the Company to, or to be made by the Company with, any Person (including any Government Entity) in connection with
the execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which Seller or its Affiliates is or will be a
party and the consummation of the Transactions.

Section 4.6  Preferential Purchase Rights. There are no preferential purchase rights or options that are held by any Person to purchase or acquire
any of the Equity Interests or any of the material assets of the Company (a “Preference Right”).

Section 4.7  Financial Statements. Copies of (a) the audited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018,
(b) the audited statements of operations, changes in member’s equity and cash flows of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2018, (c) the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2019, and (d) the unaudited statement of operations of the
Company for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2019 (collectively, the “Financial Statements”), have been made available to Buyer prior to the
date of this Agreement and are included in Section 4.7 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule. Except as set out in Section 4.7 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule,
the Financial Statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with GAAP (except for the absence of footnotes and any potential adjustments
relating to Taxes and Tax adjustments), and, in each case, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position and the results of operations,
respectively, of the Company as of the dates and for the periods presented (except as may be noted therein and subject to normal recurring year-end
adjustments).

Section 4.8  Absence of Liabilities; No Indebtedness.

(@) The Company has no Liabilities required to be reflected in a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, other than, in each
case, (a) Liabilities that have been reflected, reserved against or otherwise disclosed in the Financial Statements, (b) Liabilities incurred since December 31,
2019, in the ordinary course of business, (c) Liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, or the Transactions,
(d) Liabilities that have been or will be discharged or paid in full prior to Closing, (e) Liabilities that would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material
to the Company, and (f) Liabilities that are set out in Section 4.8 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule.
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(b) The Company does not have (i) any Indebtedness or (ii) any Liabilities unrelated to the Rio Bravo Pipeline System, and all of the
Base Pipeline Costs were incurred by or on behalf of the Company for the categories of costs and expenses set forth on Exhibit E for the development of, or
in connection with, the Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

Section 4.9  Absence of Changes. Except as contemplated by this Agreement, since December 31, 2019, through the date of this Agreement, the
Business has been conducted (a) in all material respects in the ordinary course of business and (b) no Material Adverse Effect has occurred.

Section 4.10 Material Contracts.
(a) Section 4.10(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of the Material Contracts.

(b) Each Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Company and, to the Knowledge of Seller, is a valid and binding
obligation of each other party to such Material Contract. Each Material Contract is enforceable against the Company and, to the Knowledge of Seller, each
other party to such Material Contract in accordance with its terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or, as to enforceability, by general equitable principles). Except as set
out in Section 4.10(b) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to a Material Contract is in
default or breach, in any material respect, of a Material Contract and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there does not exist any event, condition or omission that
would constitute such a default or breach (whether by lapse of time or notice or both).

Section 4.11  Guaranties or Bonds. There is no Guaranty or Bond outstanding or in effect (or required pursuant to any Contract to be outstanding
or in effect).

Section 4.12  Litigation. As of the date hereof, there is no material civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, charge, grievance or proceeding
pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in writing, against the Company before any Government Entity.

Section 4.13  Compliance with Law; Permits.

(a) Except as set out in Section 4.13(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, (i) the Company is and has always been in compliance in all
material respects with all Laws applicable to it or its business, properties or assets, and (ii) the Company has or is in the process of applying for all Permits
required to conduct the Business.
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(b) Except as set out in Section 4.13(b) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, the consummation of the Transactions will not cancel,
suspend, terminate or otherwise require modification of any material Permit required to conduct the Business.

(c)  Section 4.13(c) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Permit held or applied for by
the Company.

Section 4.14  Real Property Interests.

(a)  Section 4.14(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of each parcel of Owned Real Property. Seller
has provided Buyer with a true and complete copy of the recorded conveyance document vesting record title in the Company for each such parcel of
Owned Real Property. With respect to each parcel of Owned Real Property: (i) the Company has good, valid and indefeasible fee title to all Owned Real
Property, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances) and (ii) the Company has not leased, subleased, licensed or (other than
Permitted Encumbrances) otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof.

(b)  Section 4.14(b) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list, including the date and name of the parties
thereto, of all Leases pursuant to which the Company is granted a right to use or occupy all or any portion of Leased Real Property. Seller has provided
Buyer with true and complete copies of such Leases, and any amendments, modifications, extensions or renewals thereto. With respect to each of such
Leases: (i) each such Lease is legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to the effect of any applicable Laws relating to
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or preferential transfers, or similar Laws relating to or affecting creditors’
rights generally; (ii) the contemplated Transactions under this Agreement do not require consent of any other party to such Lease, will not result in a breach
of or default under such Lease and will not otherwise cause such Lease to cease to be legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect on
identical terms following Closing; (iii) the Company is not in material breach of or default under such Lease, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, (A) no other
party to the Lease is in material breach of or default under such Lease, and (B) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that, with the delivery of
notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute a material breach or a default, or permit the termination, modification or acceleration of rent under
such Lease; (iv) the Company does not owe any brokerage commissions or finder’s fees with respect to such Lease; (v) the Company has not subleased,
licensed or otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy the Leased Real Property or any portion thereof and (vi) the Company has not
collaterally assigned or granted any other Encumbrance (other than the Permitted Encumbrance) in such Lease or any interest therein.

(©) Section 4.14(c) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list, including names of parties and recording
information, of all Easements used or held for use by the Company. Seller has provided Buyer with true and complete copies of the documents creating
such Easements and any amendments, modifications, extensions or renewals thereto. With respect to each such Easement: (i) the Company is the legal and
beneficial owner of such Easement; (ii) such Easement and the rights and interests of the Company thereunder are in full force and effect and (iii) the
Company is not in material breach of or default under such Easement, and, to the Knowledge of Seller (A) no other party to the Easement is in material
breach of or default under such Easement, and (B) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or
both, would constitute a material breach or a default, or permit the termination or modification of such Easement.
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(d) Except as set forth on Section 4.14(d) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, the Owned Real Property, the Leased Real Property and
the Easements identified on Section 4.14(a), Section 4.14(b) and Section 4.14(c) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, respectively (collectively, the “Real
Property™), comprise all of the real property used in or necessary for the ownership or use of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System and operation and conduct of
the Business as currently conducted or as expected to be conducted.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 4.14(e) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, the Company is not obligated under any right of first offer
or refusal or any option or other contractual right to sell, purchase, assign or otherwise acquire or dispose of any Real Property, or any interest therein or
any portion thereof.

(f)  Neither Seller, the Company nor any of their respective Affiliates has received any written notice of any condemnation, eminent
domain, zoning, rezoning or similar proceeding or taking or concerning the actual or potential imposition of any special assessments on the Real Property,
nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, is any such proceeding or taking contemplated or threatened with respect to any parcel of Real Property or any portion
thereof or interest therein.

(g) To the Knowledge of Seller none of the buildings, structures, improvements or fixtures on or pipelines on, in or under the Real
Property contain any material physical damage resulting from a casualty.

(h) Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer all title insurance policies obtained by Seller, the Company or any of their
respective Affiliates in connection with the Company’s ownership or use of the Real Property, which policies are in full force and effect with respect to the
Real Property, and no claims have been made against any of those policies.

Section 4.15  Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Section 4.15 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule:

(@) The Company (i) is and has been in compliance in all material respects with all Environmental Laws applicable to the Business and
construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System, and possesses or has applied for all Environmental Permits required for the operation of the Business and
the construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System; and (ii) to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no facts, events, circumstances or conditions that exist that
could prevent or unreasonably delay the timely issuance of any Environmental Permits not yet obtained by the Company or Seller but required for the
construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

(b) There have not been any Releases of Hazardous Materials from the Company Assets that require the Company to perform or
impose liability with respect to any Remedial Action pursuant to any Environmental Law.
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(c)  Neither Seller nor the Company has received from any Person any written claim, demand, notice of alleged, actual, or probable
violation, citation notice of potential liability or notice that (i) the Company is a potentially responsible party in respect of any violation or alleged violation
of, or any liability or potential liability under, any applicable Environmental Law or (ii) challenging any pending or issued Environmental Permit.

(d)  There are no writs, injunctions, decrees, orders or judgments outstanding or any actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, threatened, against Seller or the Company before any Government Entity concerning compliance by the Company with, or liability of
the Company under, any applicable Environmental Law or with respect to a Release of Hazardous Materials or any Environmental Permit necessary for the
operation of the Business or the construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

(e)  Section 4.15(e) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Environmental Permit held or
applied for by the Company and identifies the status of all pending Environmental Permit applications required for the operation of the Business and the
construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

Section 4.16  Employee Benefit Matters.
(@) The Company does not sponsor, maintain or contribute to, and has never sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Benefit Plan.

(b) The Company does not serve, and has never served, as the “administrator” (within the meaning of Section 3(16) of ERISA) of any
“employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA).

(c)  With respect to any “employee pension benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA that is subject to Title IV of
ERISA and that is sponsored, maintained or contributed to, or has been sponsored, maintained or contributed to, by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate of Seller,
(i) no Liability to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation has been incurred by any such entity, which Liability has not been satisfied, and (ii) all
contributions (including installments) to such plan required by Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code have been timely made.

(d) There does not exist any circumstance that would reasonably be expected, as a result of the consummation of the Transactions, to
result in Liability to Buyer, any of its Affiliates, or the Company for any Taxes or other Liabilities relating to any (i) Benefit Plan currently or previously
sponsored, maintained, or contributed to by Seller or any of its Affiliates or ERISA Affiliates or (ii) any “controlled group liability” of Seller or any of its
Affiliates or ERISA Affiliates. As used in the preceding sentence, the term “controlled group liability” means any and all Liabilities (A) under Title IV of
ERISA, (B) under Sections 206(g), 302 and 303 of ERISA, (C) under Sections 412, 430, 431, 436 and 4971 of the Code, (D) as a result of the failure to
comply with the continuation of coverage requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, and (E) under any
provision of foreign Law similar to those described in clauses (A) through (D) of this sentence.
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Section 4.17  Employment and Labor Matters. The Company does not have, and has never had, any employees. Neither the Company nor its
business, properties or assets are, or have ever been, a party or subject to any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor union or
other representative of any individual or group of individuals who provides or provided services to the Company.

Section 4.18  Tax Matters. Except as set forth in Section 4.18 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule:

(@) All Tax Returns that were required to be filed on or before the date hereof by or with respect to the Company, taking into account
any valid extension of time within which to file, have been timely filed on or before the date hereof and all such Tax Returns are accurate and complete in
all material respects.

(b) All Taxes shown as owing by or with respect to the Company on the Tax Returns described in Section 4.18(a) have been fully paid
and all deficiencies asserted or assessments made with respect to such Tax Returns have been paid in full or properly accrued on the Financial Statements.
There are no liens (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the assets of the Company that arose in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to
pay any Tax.

(c) No examination, audit or administrative or judicial proceeding regarding any of the Tax Returns described in Section 4.18(a) or any
Taxes of or with respect to the Company are currently pending or have been proposed in writing or, to the Knowledge of Seller, have been threatened, and
no claim, assessment or levy for Taxes has been made against the Company that has not been satisfied by payment or that has not been otherwise
withdrawn. No claim has been made by an authority in a jurisdiction where the Company does not file Tax Returns that it is subject to taxation in that
jurisdiction.

(d) None of the property of the Company is subject to any tax partnership agreement or is otherwise treated, or required to be treated,
as held in an arrangement requiring a partnership income Tax Return to be filed under Subchapter K of Chapter 1 of Subtitle A of the Code.

(e) No waiver or extension of the statute of limitations has been given with respect to any amount of Taxes of or with respect to the
Company or any Tax Returns of or with respect to the Company, which period (after giving effect to such extension or waiver) has not yet expired.

(f) No closing agreements, rulings, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, technical advice memoranda or similar agreements or rulings with
respect to Taxes have been entered into or issued by any Tax Authority with respect to the Company, other than those already provided by Seller to Buyer.

(g) No power of attorney has been granted by or with respect to the Company with regard to any matters relating to Taxes which is
currently in force.
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(h) The Company has withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing
to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, member, partner or other third party.

1) The Company is not a party to, bound by or has any obligation under any Tax allocation or sharing agreement other than
commercial agreements with third parties not primarily related to Taxes. The Company does not have any liability for the Taxes of any Person under
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any corresponding provisions of state, local or foreign Tax law), or as a transferee or successor, or by contract or
otherwise in the past four years. The Company has never been a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group filing for federal or state
income Tax purposes other than the Parent Combined Group.

(j) The Company has not entered into any agreement or arrangement with any Taxing authority that requires the Company to take any
action or to refrain from taking any action. The Company is not a party to any agreement with any Taxing authority that would be terminated or adversely
affected as a result of the Transactions.

(k)  The Company has not participated (within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(c)(3)) in any tax shelter, listed
transaction, reportable transaction, or transaction of interest within the meaning of Section 6011, Section 6111, or Section 6112 of the Code, or any of the
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, other than those that have been properly disclosed on the applicable Tax Return(s).

O Under Treasury Regulations Sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3, for U.S. federal income Tax purposes (and state, local, and
foreign income Tax purposes where applicable), the Company is and has been since formation disregarded as an entity separate from the entity that is
treated as its owner for U.S. federal income Tax purposes (a “Disregarded Entity”).

Section 4.19  Insurance.

(a)  Section 4.19(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of the insurance policies maintained by the Company or by Seller
or any Seller Affiliate on behalf of the Company (such policies, collectively, the “Policies”) as of the date hereof. The Policies are in full force and effect.
All premiums due and payable under the Policies have been paid in a timely manner and the Company has complied in all material respects with the terms
and conditions of all the Policies.

(b)  Except as set forth on Section 4.19(b) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, there is no material insurance claim pending under the
Policies relating to the Company, and neither Seller nor the Company has received written notice of cancellation of any of the Policies.

Section 4.20 No Brokers or Finders. There is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is
authorized to act on behalf of Seller, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates who is entitled to any fee or commission from the Company in
connection with the Transactions for which Buyer or the Company would be liable.

Section 4.21  Intellectual Property. Except as set forth in Section 4.21 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, (a) the Company owns or has the right
to use pursuant to license, sublicense, agreement or otherwise all material items of Intellectual Property required in the operation of the Business, (b) no
third party has asserted in writing against Seller, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates a claim that the Company is infringing on the Intellectual
Property of such third party and, (c) to the Knowledge of Seller, no third party is infringing on the Intellectual Property owned by the Company.
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Section 4.22  Bank Accounts. Section 4.22 of the Seller Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all deposit, demand,
time, savings, passbook, security or similar accounts that the Company maintains with any bank or financial institution, the names of the financial
institutions maintaining each such account, and the purpose for which such account is established.

Section 4.23  No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article IIT and this Article IV,
(a) none of Seller, the Company, any of their respective Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives has made or is making, and Buyer has not
relied on, any other representation or warranty of any kind or nature whatsoever, oral or written, express or implied, with respect to Seller, the Company,
the Company Assets, the Business or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, including as to the accuracy or completeness of any
such information, and (b) no Person has been authorized by Seller or the Company to make any representation or warranty relating to Seller, the Company,
the Company Assets, the Business or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, including as to the accuracy or completeness of any
such information. Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article IIT and this Article IV, Seller disclaims, on behalf of itself and its
Affiliates, all liability and responsibility for any other representation, warranty, opinion, projection, forecast, advice, statement or information made,
communicated or furnished (orally or in writing) to Buyer or its Affiliates, including any materials or information made available in the electronic data
room hosted by or on behalf of Seller in connection with the Transactions or in connection with presentations by Seller’s management.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as follows as of the Execution Date and as of the Closing:

Section 5.1  Organization and Good Standing; Direct or Indirect Wholly Owned Subsidiary. Buyer has been duly organized or created, is validly

existing and is in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of formation or creation. Buyer is an indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of ENB.

Section 5.2 Corporate Authorization. Buyer has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate
the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party, the performance of
Buyer’s obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary action of Buyer. The
Transaction Documents to which Buyer is or will be a party have been or will be duly executed and delivered by Buyer and, assuming the due
authorization, execution and delivery of such Transaction Documents by each other Person that is or will be a party thereto, constitute legal, valid and
binding obligations of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer,
reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or, as to enforceability, by general equitable
principles.
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Section 5.3  Non-Contravention. The execution and delivery by Buyer of the Transaction Documents to which Buyer is or will be a party, the
performance of the obligations of Buyer pursuant to such Transaction Documents and the consummation of the Transactions will not constitute or result in
(a) a violation of the Organizational Documents of Buyer or, (b) a breach or violation of, or a default under, any Law to which Buyer is subject, except, in
the case of clause (b), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay or impair the ability of Buyer to consummate the
Transactions.

Section 5.4  Consents and Approvals. No consent, approval, waiver, authorization, notice or filing is required to be obtained by Buyer or any of
its Affiliates from, or to be given by Buyer or any of its Affiliates to, or to be made by Buyer or any of its Affiliates with, any Person (including any
Government Entity), in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of the Transaction Documents to which Buyer is or will be a
party and the consummation of the Transactions, except as would not prevent or materially delay or impair the ability of Buyer to consummate the
Transactions.

Section 5.5 Litigation. As of the date hereof, there is no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, or proceeding pending or, to the
Knowledge of Buyer, threatened in writing, against Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer, or any of their respective properties or assets before any Government
Entity, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, materially delay or impair the ability of Buyer to consummate the Transactions.

Section 5.6  No Brokers or Finders. There is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is authorized
to act on behalf of Buyer or any of its Affiliates who is entitled to any fee or commission from Buyer or any of its Affiliates in connection with the
Transactions for which Seller or any of its Affiliates would be liable.

Section 5.7  Acquisition as Investment. Buyer is acquiring the Equity Interests solely for its own account as an investment without the present
intent to sell, transfer or otherwise distribute the same to any other Person in violation of any state or federal securities Laws. Buyer acknowledges that the
Equity Interests are not registered pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), and that none of the Equity Interests may be
transferred, except pursuant to an effective registration statement or an applicable exemption from registration under the 1933 Act. Buyer is an “accredited
investor” as defined under Rule 501(a) promulgated under the 1933 Act. Buyer has such knowledge, sophistication and experience in financial and
business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of Buyer’s investment in the Equity Interests. Buyer confirms that it has so evaluated
the merits and risks of such investment and that it can bear the economic risk of such investment and Buyer can afford to lose its entire investment in the
Equity Interests.
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Section 5.8  Independent Investigation; No Other Representations or Warranties. Without limiting any rights or remedies under this Agreement
or any other Transaction Document, Buyer acknowledges that it has or will as of Closing have conducted its own independent investigation, review and
analysis of the assets and liabilities of the Company, the Company Assets and the Business. In entering into this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges that it has
relied solely upon the aforementioned investigation, review and analysis and not on any factual representations or opinions of Seller or any of its
Representatives (except for the express written representations, warranties and covenants of Seller in this Agreement). Except for the representations and
warranties contained in this Article V, (a) neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives has made or is making, and
Seller has not relied on, any other representation or warranty of any kind or nature whatsoever, oral or written, express or implied, with respect to Buyer or
otherwise in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, including as to the accuracy or completeness of any such information, and (b) no Person
has been authorized by Buyer to make any representation or warranty relating to Buyer or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions,
including as to the accuracy or completeness of any such information. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article V, Buyer
disclaims, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, all liability and responsibility for any other representation, warranty, opinion, projection, forecast, advice,
statement or information made, communicated or furnished (orally or in writing) to Seller or its Affiliates.

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS

Section 6.1  Access and Information.

(@)  From the date hereof until the Closing Date (or earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof), subject
to any applicable Law and subject to any applicable privileges (including the attorney-client privilege), trade secrets, and contractual confidentiality
obligations, upon reasonable prior notice, Seller shall (i) afford Buyer and its Representatives reasonable access, during normal business hours, to the books
and records, offices and properties of the Company, including, but not limited to, for the purposes of performing a non-invasive environmental assessment
and limited environmental compliance review of the Company Assets, and (ii) furnish to Buyer such additional financial and other data and information
regarding the Company and the Rio Bravo Pipeline System as Buyer may from time to time reasonably request. Any such access or requests shall (A) be
supervised by such Persons as may be designated by Seller and (B) be conducted in such a manner so as not to interfere with any of the business or
operations of Seller or the Company and shall not contravene any applicable Law. In no event shall the auditors and independent accountants of Seller, the
Company or their respective Affiliates be obligated to make any work papers available to any Person unless and until such Person has signed a customary
confidentiality and hold harmless agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such auditors or
independent accountants. If requested by Seller, Buyer shall enter into a customary joint defense agreement with Seller and the Company with respect to
any information to be provided to Buyer pursuant to this Section 6.1(a).
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(b) From and after the Closing, in connection with any reasonable business purpose, including (i) in response to the request or at the
direction of a Government Entity, (ii) the preparation of Tax Returns or other documents related to Tax matters and the handling or administration of any
Tax audit, examination or other administrative or judicial proceeding relating to Taxes and (iii) the determination of any matter relating to the rights or
obligations of Seller and its Affiliates under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document (including matters contemplated by Section 2.7), subject to
any applicable Law and any applicable privileges (including the attorney-client privilege) and contractual confidentiality obligations, upon reasonable prior
notice, Buyer shall (A) afford Seller and its Affiliates reasonable access, during normal business hours, to the books, data, files, information and records of
Buyer and its Affiliates in respect of the Company (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Tax Returns and other information and documents relating to Tax
matters), (B) furnish to Seller and its Affiliates such additional financial and other information regarding the Company as Seller may from time to time
reasonably request (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Tax Returns and other information and documents relating to Tax matters) and (C) make
available to Seller and its Affiliates the employees of Buyer and its Affiliates whose assistance, expertise, testimony, notes and recollections or presence is
necessary to assist Seller in connection with Seller’s inquiries for any of the purposes referred to in this Section 6.1(b); provided, however, that such access
or request shall not unreasonably interfere with the business or operations of Buyer or any of its Affiliates. In no event shall the auditors and independent
accountants of Buyer or its Affiliates be obligated to make any work papers available to any Person unless and until such Person has signed a customary
confidentiality and hold harmless agreement relating to such access to work papers in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such auditors or
independent accountants. If so reasonably requested by Buyer, Seller shall and, to the extent applicable, shall cause its Affiliates to enter into a customary
joint defense agreement with any one or more of Buyer and its Affiliates with respect to any information to be provided to Seller pursuant to this
Section 6.1(b).

Section 6.2  Books and Records.

(a) Retention by Seller. Seller and its Affiliates shall have the right to retain (i) copies of all books and records and all Tax Returns and
other information and documents (A) relating to Tax matters of the Company relating to periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date, (B) as required by
any legal or regulatory authority, including any applicable Law or regulatory request or (C) as may be necessary for Seller and its Affiliates to perform their
respective obligations pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, in each case subject to compliance in all material respects with
applicable Laws, and (ii) all data room materials and copies of all books and records prepared in connection with the Transactions, including (A) any books
and records that may be relevant in connection with the defense of disputes arising under this Agreement or (B) financial information and all other
accounting books and records prepared or used in connection with the preparation of financial statements of any of Seller or the Company.

(b)  Delivery to Buyer. No later than twenty-four (24) hours prior to the Closing, Seller shall provide Buyer with full access to all
operating procedures, manuals, guidelines and other procedures used in connection with the Business (collectively, the “Manuals”). To the extent not
already in the possession of the Company as of the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer promptly following the Closing a copy of all of the Manuals and,
to the extent in the possession of Seller or its Affiliates, all other books and records (excluding personal information that Seller would be prohibited from
disclosing by applicable Laws) relating to the Company and the Business, including all (i) Tax Returns and other information and documents relating to
Tax matters of the Company, (ii) copies of all financial information and all other accounting books and records, (iii) land and right of way records,
(iv) compliance records, (v) minute books, (vi) member transfer ledgers, (vii) company seals, (viii) operating records, and (ix) operating and maintenance
expenditures records; provided, however, that neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates will be obligated under this Section 6.2(b) to deliver or provide access
to any Tax Return, or other information or documents relating to Tax matters or any such Tax Return, of Seller or any of its Affiliates that includes Taxes or
Tax information attributable to the Company or the Business, including any such Tax Return filed on a consolidated, combined, affiliated, unitary or pass
through basis or that includes the Company or the Business by reason of the Company being classified for U.S. federal income Tax purposes under
Treasury Regulations Sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3 as an entity disregarded as separate from the entity that is treated as its owner for U.S. federal
income Tax purposes.
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Section 6.3  Conduct of Business.

(a) During the period from the date hereof to the Closing, except (A) as required by applicable Laws, (B) as otherwise contemplated by
this Agreement, (C) for matters identified on Section 6.3(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule (including in the budget attached thereto (as may be amended
pursuant to Section 6.3(c) or Section 6.5, the “Budget™)), (D) for actions taken in response to a business emergency, or (E) as Buyer otherwise consents in
writing in advance (which consent may be withheld in Buyer’s sole discretion for all matters set forth in this Section 6.3(a) except with respect to consent
Company to conduct the Business in the reasonable course of business, to use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact the business of the
Company and its relationships with its material customers, suppliers and creditors and (y) Seller shall cause the Company not to:

(i) sell, lease, license, transfer or dispose of any assets other than in the ordinary course of business;
(i) amend the Organizational Documents of the Company;

(iii)  issue, sell, pledge, transfer, dispose of or create any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances or Encumbrances
that will be discharged prior to Closing) on any assets of the Company or any of the Equity Interests;

(iv) split, combine, subdivide, reclassify or redeem, or purchase or otherwise acquire, any of the Equity Interests;

(v) settle any proceeding (other than one relating to Taxes) against the Company unless such settlement (A) requires payment
of less than $100,000 by the Company, (B) involves the unconditional release of the Company with respect to the subject matter of the proceeding and
(C) does not impose any material obligations on the business or operations of the Company after the Closing;

(vi)  (A) make any capital expenditure (or series of related capital expenditures) or (B) enter into any commitment (or series of
related commitments) with respect to any financial obligation (including any that relates to capital expenditures), in each case other than capital

expenditures and commitments that are not in excess of the amounts set forth in the Budget;

(vii) merge or consolidate with any Person or adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation or authorize or undertake a
dissolution, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization;
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(viii)  incur any Indebtedness;

(ix)  make any filings with the FERC or any other Government Entity other than such filings made in the ordinary course of
business, provided, in such case, that at least seven (7) days’ advance written notice has been provided to Buyer, or, if the FERC requests any such filing
within less than seven (7) days, without providing notice to Buyer immediately upon receipt of such request;

x) amend any Environmental Permit currently held by the Company or modify any pending Environmental Permit
application required for the operation of the Business or the construction of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System other than such amendment or modification in
the ordinary course of business, provided, in such case, that at least seven (7) days’ advance written notice has been provided to Buyer, or, if such
amendment or modification must be completed within less than seven (7) days, without providing notice to Buyer immediately upon Seller becoming
aware of any required amendment or modification, and first providing Buyer with the opportunity to review and comment upon such amendment or
modification;

(xi) take any action that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect issuance of the USACE Permit;
(xii)  (A) make any new Tax election or change or revoke any existing Tax election, (B) settle or compromise any Tax liability
or refund, (C) file any amended Tax Return or claim for refund, or (D) enter into any closing agreement affecting any Tax liability or refund which, in each

case, are or could reasonably be expected to be material to the business, financial condition or the results of operations of the Company;

(xiii))  subject to clause (xiv) below, (A) enter into any Contract that would have been a Material Contract had it been entered
into prior to the date hereof, (B) materially amend any Material Contract or (C) terminate any Material Contract;

(xiv)  (A) initiate or solicit a request for proposal for, (B) respond to any proposals or discuss strategy for, (C) negotiate any of
the material terms and conditions of or (D) otherwise enter into any Contract for the engineering, procurement or construction of any Company Assets (or
for management services for any of the foregoing);

(xv)  hire or otherwise employ any individual;
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(xvi) adopt, sponsor, maintain or contribute to any Benefit Plan;

(xvii)  communicate in writing with any Government Entity regarding material issues related to the issuance of the USACE
Permit without providing Buyer with the reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon such communication; or

(xviii) authorize or enter into any binding agreement or commitment with respect to any of the foregoing.

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Section 6.3 is intended to give Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to
control or direct the Business or the operations of Seller or the Company prior to the Closing. Prior to the Closing, each of Seller, the Company and Buyer
shall exercise complete control and supervision over their respective operations.

(c)  If the Closing has not occurred on or prior to June 30, 2020, the Parties shall work together in good faith to attempt to agree to an
amendment to the Budget solely for the purpose of extending the Budget through December 31, 2020.

Section 6.4  Regulatory Approvals. Each of Seller and Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain as promptly as practicable any
Regulatory Approvals. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the USACE Permit as promptly as practicable. Seller shall keep Buyer
reasonably informed of its efforts to obtain the USACE Permit, as well as keep Buyer reasonably informed with respect to any material communications to

or from the relevant Government Entities with respect to the same.

Section 6.5  Supplemental Disclosure. The Seller Disclosure Schedule may, from time to time, prior to the Closing Date, be supplemented or
amended by Seller with respect to any event, condition, fact or circumstance that arises following the date of this Agreement that if existing, occurring or
known at the date of this Agreement would cause or constitute an inaccuracy in, or breach of, any representation or warranty of Seller in this Agreement
other than a Fundamental Representation (a “Disclosure Schedule Supplement”). No Disclosure Schedule Supplement shall have any effect for any
purposes of this Agreement, including (a) determining whether the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 have been fulfilled and (b) Seller’s indemnification
obligations under Article IX; provided, however, that any Disclosure Schedule Supplement to (i) Section 4.10(a) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule with
respect to any Material Contract entered into, amended or terminated in compliance with Section 6.3 or that has expired in accordance with its terms,
(ii) Section 4.14(a), Section 4.14(b) or Section 4.14(c) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule that reflects an acquisition of Real Property in compliance with
Section 6.3, or (iii) Section 4.13(c) or Section 4.15(e) of the Seller Disclosure Schedule with respect to any Permit or Environmental Permit obtained or
applied for by the Company in compliance with Section 6.3 shall in each case update such Seller Disclosure Schedule for the purposes of (x) determining
whether the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 have been fulfilled and (y) Seller’s indemnification obligations under Article IX.

Section 6.6  Insurance.

(a)  Seller agrees to maintain the Policies in full force and effect until Closing. All coverage and benefits under the Policies and any
other insurance policies of Seller or its Affiliates (subject to the terms thereof) benefiting the Company and, in each case, the Business, shall cease at the
Closing as to the Company. On and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, obtain and maintain any and all insurance coverage
and protection relating to the Company and the Business.
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(b) If between the date hereof and the Closing Date Seller becomes aware of a loss that has occurred to all or any portion of the
Company Assets, which such loss is potentially covered by any of the Policies and such loss exceeds the applicable deductible under such Policy, then
Seller shall cause the Company to file a claim with the applicable insurance carriers and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Company any insurance
proceeds received by Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Company) for such loss.

(c)  If between the date hereof and the Closing Date Seller becomes aware of any claim of liability made against the Company or a
circumstance arises that may give rise to a liability claim against the Company, which such claim or circumstance is potentially covered by any of the
Policies and such claim or circumstance exceeds the applicable deductible under such Policy, then Seller shall cause the Company to file a claim with the
applicable insurance carriers and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Company any insurance proceeds received by Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than
the Company) for such loss.

Section 6.7 Tax Matters.

(@) Tax Indemnity by Seller. Seller shall be liable for and indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties for any Taxes or any liability under
any Tax sharing, Tax allocation, Tax reimbursement, Tax indemnification or similar agreement (other than commercial agreements with third parties not
primarily related to Taxes), imposed on or with respect to the Company or for which the Company may otherwise be liable for any taxable year or period
that begins before the Closing and ends on or before the Closing Date (a “Pre-Closing Period”) and, with respect to any taxable year or period beginning on
or before and ending after the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”), the portion of such taxable year or period ending at the end of the Closing Date. For the
absence of doubt, the Tax indemnity in this Section 6.7 is intended to cover any such Taxes imposed on the Company under Treasury Regulations
Section 1.1502-6 (and corresponding provisions of state, local or foreign Law) as a result of being a member of the Parent Combined Group on or prior to
the Closing Date, or as a result of transferee or successor liability. With respect to any Tax, this indemnity and, to the extent it covers the subject matter of
this Section 6.7, the indemnity in Section 9.2(a), shall survive until the date that is sixty (60) days after the relevant Tax Authority is no longer entitled to
assess or reassess any Person in respect of such Tax.

(b)  Tax Indemnity by Buyer. Buyer shall be liable for and indemnify the Seller Indemnified Parties for Taxes imposed on or with
respect to the Company for any taxable year or period other than a Pre-Closing Period and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of such taxable
year or period beginning after the Closing Date. No later than thirty (30) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay to Seller any amounts of Taxes for
which Buyer is liable under this Section 6.7(b) to the extent actually paid by any of the Seller Indemnified Parties or the Company to any Tax Authority
prior to the Closing Date in accordance with applicable Law.

39




(c) Computation of Tax Liabilities. For purposes of Section 6.7(a) and Section 6.7(b), whenever it is necessary to determine the portion
of any Taxes of the Company for a Straddle Period that is allocable to the portion of such taxable year or period ending at the end of the Closing Date, the
determination shall be made (i) in the case of any property or ad valorem Taxes which are imposed on a periodic basis, ratably on a per diem basis and
(ii) in the case of any other Taxes, based on an interim closing of the books of the Company as of the end of the Closing Date; provided, however, that any
transaction taking place, or item of income or gain arising, outside of the ordinary course of business on the Closing Date or after the Closing shall be
deemed for the purposes of Section 6.7(a) and Section 6.7(b) to have taken place or arisen after the Closing Date.

(d) Tax Treatment of Tax Indemnity Payments. Any payment by Buyer or Seller under Section 6.7(a) or Section 6.7(b) will, to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable Law, be an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes.

(e) Tax Returns.

(i) Seller shall prepare and file or prepare and deliver to Buyer for filing when due all Tax Returns that are required to be filed
by or with respect to the Company for Pre-Closing Periods. Each such Tax Return shall be prepared in a manner that is consistent, in all respects, with the
prior practice of the Company (including prior Tax elections and accounting methods or conventions made or utilized by the Company), except as required
by applicable Law. With respect to each such Tax Return to be filed after the Closing Date by the Company, Seller shall deliver such Tax Return (excluding
any Parent Combined Income Tax Returns) to Buyer for its review at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date for filing (taking into account any
applicable extensions) and shall, provided that Buyer delivers comments on such Tax Return at least fifteen (15) days prior to the due date for filing, take
Buyer’s comments into account in good faith; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not be required to make such delivery to
Buyer earlier than ten (10) days following the close of the applicable Pre-Closing Period.

(i)  Buyer shall file or cause to be filed when due all other Tax Returns that are required to be filed by or with respect to the
relating to Straddle Periods to Seller for its review at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date for filing; provided, however, that notwithstanding the
foregoing, Buyer shall not be required to make such delivery to Seller earlier than ten (10) days following the close of the applicable Straddle Period. Buyer
shall, prior to filing such Tax Returns, make any changes reasonably requested by Seller which solely affect Seller’s liability under Section 6.7(a), provided
such changes are delivered to Buyer at least fifteen (15) days prior to the due date for filing. If Buyer objects to making such changes, Buyer shall only be
obligated to make such changes if a Tax Expert determines that such changes cause the relevant Tax Return to be a more accurate reflection of applicable
Law, with the costs (including the fees of the Tax Expert) related to such determination to be borne by Buyer if Buyer is obligated pursuant to this sentence
to make such changes and otherwise borne by Seller. Any Tax Returns relating to Straddle Periods shall be prepared in a manner that is consistent, in all
respects, with the prior practice of the Company (including prior Tax elections and accounting methods or conventions made or utilized by the Company),
except as required by applicable Law. Upon the written request of Buyer setting forth the amount owed, Seller shall pay to Buyer, no later five (5) days
prior to the due date for the applicable Tax Return, the Taxes for which Seller is liable pursuant to this Agreement but which are payable with any Tax
Return to be filed by Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing, the Company) pursuant to this Agreement.
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(f) Tax Proceedings. From and after the Closing, Buyer shall notify Seller in writing within thirty (30) days of receipt by Buyer or any
of its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing, the Company) of notice of any pending or threatened federal, state, local, provincial, territorial or
foreign Tax audits or assessments that may affect the Tax Liabilities of the Company for which Seller would be required to indemnify Buyer pursuant to
Section 6.7(a). Seller shall not be required to indemnify Buyer for any Tax Liabilities to the extent that Buyer’s failure to notify Seller pursuant to this
Section 6.7(f) shall have materially and adversely affected Seller’s rights or obligations under this Agreement. Seller shall notify Buyer in writing within
thirty (30) days of receipt by Seller or any of its Affiliates of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audit, assessment or other proceeding regarding the
Company. In the event of any Tax audit or administrative or court proceeding relating to a Pre-Closing Period or a Straddle Period or a taxable year or
period that begins after the Closing Date that may be the subject of indemnification pursuant to Section 6.7(a), (i) to the extent the issues can be separated
in all material respects (including as to settlements) into those for which Seller would be liable under Section 6.7(a) (and which do not, and could not
reasonably be expected to, affect the Tax liability of Buyer or the Company or any of their Affiliates except to the extent Seller is liable for such Tax
liability under Section 6.7(a)) and all other issues, then Seller shall control the defense of those issues for which it would be liable, provided, however, that
Seller shall keep Buyer reasonably informed with regard to such audit or proceeding, and Buyer shall control the defense of all other issues, employing
counsel of their choice, at its own expense and (ii) to the extent the issues cannot be so separated, Buyer shall be entitled to control the defense employing
counsel of its choice, provided that (A) Buyer shall use its best efforts to separate the issues in all material respects into those for which Seller would be
liable under Section 6.7(a) and all other issues and (B) Seller (along with counsel and other advisors of its choice) shall be entitled to participate at its sole
cost and expense in the defense with respect to the issues for which Seller would be liable under Section 6.7(a). From and after the Closing, neither Buyer
nor any of its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing, the Company) shall agree to settle any Tax claim that may be the subject of indemnification
by Seller under Section 6.7(a) without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. For the
avoidance of doubt, this Section 6.7(f) shall not apply to any Parent Combined Income Tax Returns; provided that Seller shall notify Buyer in writing
within thirty (30) days of receipt by Seller or any of its Affiliates of notice of any pending or threatened Tax audit, assessment or other proceeding
regarding such Parent Combined Income Tax Returns if such Tax audit, assessment or other proceeding is reasonably expected to result in a Tax that may
be allocated to Buyer pursuant to this Section 6.7(c).

(g) Cooperation with Respect to Taxes. After the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to,
assist Seller or Buyer, as applicable, in preparing and filing any Tax Returns or reports that Seller or Buyer, as applicable, is responsible for preparing and
filing in accordance with this Section 6.7. After the Closing Date, Seller and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, (i) cooperate fully in
preparing for any audits of, or disputes with, Tax Authorities regarding any Tax Returns or Tax matters of or with respect to the Company, (ii) make
available to the others and to any Tax Authority as reasonably requested all information, records and documents relating to Taxes of the Company and
(iii) provide timely notice to the other Party in writing of any pending or threatened Tax audits or assessments of the Company for taxable periods for
which the other Party may have a liability under this Section 6.7, and reasonably furnish the other Party with copies of all relevant written correspondence
received from any Tax Authority in connection with any Tax audit or information request with respect to any such taxable period. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement, Buyer shall have no right to inspect or review any Parent Combined Income Tax Returns; provided that Buyer may inspect or
review any work papers with respect to such Parent Combined Income Tax Returns if such work papers relate to a Tax that is allocated to Buyer pursuant to
Section 6.7(c).
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(h) Income Tax Treatment. As a result of the Company being a Disregarded Entity at the time of the Closing for U.S. federal income
Tax purposes (and state, local, and foreign income Tax purposes where applicable), Buyer and Seller intend that the purchase of the Equity Interests
pursuant to this Agreement be treated for U.S. federal income Tax purposes (and state, local, and foreign income Tax purposes where applicable) as the
taxable purchase by Buyer of the assets of the Company in exchange for the Purchase Price and other items of consideration for U.S. federal income Tax
purposes (including any assumed liabilities as determined for U.S. federal income Tax purposes). Buyer and Seller agree to report and file (and cause their
respective Affiliates to report and file) their U.S. federal income Tax Returns (and state and local income Tax Returns where applicable) in all respects and
for all purposes consistent with such intended treatment.

(i)  Allocation of Purchase Price. Within sixty (60) days after final determination of the Final Payment pursuant to Section 2.7, Buyer
shall determine and deliver to Seller a schedule (the “Allocation Schedule) allocating the Purchase Price and other items of consideration for U.S. federal
income Tax purposes (including any assumed liabilities as determined for U.S. federal income Tax purposes) among the assets of the Company, which
allocation shall be consistent with Section 1060 and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. Seller may dispute any amounts reflected on the Allocation
Schedule by providing written notice to Buyer of the disputed items, and setting forth in reasonable detail the basis of such dispute, within forty-five (45)
days following receipt of the Allocation Schedule. Buyer and Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to resolve such disputed items. If Buyer and
Seller are unable to reach an agreement within a reasonable amount of time after Seller’s receipt of the Allocation Schedule, each of Buyer and Seller shall
use its own allocation schedule. If Buyer and Seller agree to the Allocation Schedule, then Buyer and Seller agree (i) to file, and to cause their respective
Affiliates to file, all Tax Returns (including IRS Form 8594, Asset Acquisition Statement Under Section 1060) in a manner consistent with the Allocation
Schedule (as modified by the mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller) and (ii) not to take (and to cause their respective Affiliates not to take) any position
inconsistent therewith in any Tax Return provided, however, that such Allocation Schedule shall be further revised, as necessary and in a manner consistent
with the allocation contained therein, to reflect any adjustment to the Purchase Price pursuant to Section 6.7(d), Section 9.7 or that is not otherwise
reflected in such allocation.
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() Amendments, Etc.

(i) Neither Buyer nor its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing, the Company) shall, except as otherwise required by
Law, (A) re-file or amend any Tax Returns of the Company for any Pre-Closing Period or for any Straddle Period without the prior written consent of
Seller, or (B) request an audit by any Tax Authority or voluntarily approach any Tax Authority that may result in an assessment for any Pre-Closing Period
or a Straddle Period of the Company without the prior written consent of Seller. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Seller shall
not be liable for indemnification for any Taxes that arise as a direct result of a breach by Buyer of the covenants contained in this Section 6.7(j)(i)-

(i)  Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall, except as otherwise required by Law, (A) re-file or amend any Tax Returns of
the Company without the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, or (B) request an audit
by any Tax Authority that may result in an assessment of the Company without the prior written consent of Buyer. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Agreement, Buyer shall not be liable for indemnification for any Taxes that arise as a direct result of a breach by Seller of the covenants
contained in this Section 6.7(j)(ii).

(k)  Transfer Taxes. The Parties currently do not anticipate that any transfer, sales, use, documentary, stamp or other similar Taxes will
arise as a result of the consummation of the Transactions (collectively, “Transfer Taxes”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Transfer Taxes arise as a
result of the consummation of the Transactions, the payment of any and all such Transfer Taxes, together with any interest, additions or penalties with
respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties, shall be borne by one-half by Buyer and one-half by Seller. The Parties agree to
cooperate with each other to minimize any such liability for Transfer Taxes to the extent legally permissible, and the Parties shall cooperate in the
preparation, execution and filing of all Tax Returns regarding any Transfer Taxes that become payable in connection with the Transactions and use
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any certificate or other document from any Tax Authority or any other Person as may be necessary to mitigate,
reduce or eliminate any Transfer Tax.

() Wwithholding. Buyer shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration otherwise payable or deliverable to Seller such
amounts as may be required to be deducted or withheld therefrom under the Code, under any Tax law or pursuant to any other applicable Laws; provided,
however, Buyer shall provide at least five (5) Business Days’ written notice to Seller if Buyer intends to withhold any amounts under this paragraph. To the
extent such amounts are so deducted or withheld, such amounts shall be required to be remitted to the proper Government Entity and shall be treated for all
purposes as having been paid to the Person to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid absent such deduction or withholding. The Parties shall
cooperate in good faith to minimize, to the extent permissible under applicable Law, the amount of any such deduction or withholding, including by
providing any certificates or forms that are reasonably requested to establish an exemption from (or reduction in) any deduction or withholding. Upon
making such payments to the appropriate Government Entity, Buyer shall be treated as having paid the amounts deducted or withheld as otherwise required
hereunder.
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(m) Tax Refunds. Any and all cash Tax refunds received by Buyer, which relate to Taxes paid by Seller with respect to the Company
that are attributable to any Pre-Closing Period or the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date shall be for the account of the Seller. The
amount of any such cash Tax refund, less any reasonable, third-party costs associated with obtaining such refund, shall be paid to the Seller within fifteen
(15) days after receipt thereof.

Section 6.8  Confidentiality. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Confidentiality Agreement, the Confidentiality Agreement shall
survive the execution of this Agreement and remain in full force and effect until (a) the Closing, or (b) if this Agreement is validly terminated prior to the
Closing, the date that is two (2) years after the date of such valid termination. The terms of the Confidentiality Agreement are incorporated into this
Agreement by reference, and Buyer shall have the benefits and burdens of the Confidentiality Agreement as if it were a party thereto. Buyer acknowledges
and agrees that any information made available to Buyer pursuant to Section 6.1 or otherwise by or on behalf of Seller, the Company or any of their
respective Representatives prior to the Closing shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement. In addition, from and after the
Closing, Seller shall be required to keep confidential all information pertaining to the Company and its Business in the same manner that Buyer was prior
to Closing.

Section 6.9  Intercompany Payables and Intercompany Receivables. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall (and, if applicable, shall cause its Affiliates

to) cancel and extinguish any and all Intercompany Payables and Intercompany Receivables.

Section 6.10 ~ Company Marks. Seller hereby agrees that upon and after the Closing, Buyer shall have the sole right to the use words “Rio
Bravo” or any trademarks containing or comprising the foregoing, or any trademark confusingly similar thereto or dilutive thereof (collectively, the
“Company Marks”). As soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event more than thirty (30) days after the Closing, Seller shall not, and shall cause its
Affiliates (other than the Company) not to, (a) use any of the Company’s Marks, whether as part of a trade name or corporate name, in connection with any
product or service, or otherwise, or (b) hold itself out as having any affiliation with the Company (other than referring to Seller’s historical ownership of the
Company in a factual manner). The Parties agree, because damages would be an inadequate remedy, that a Party seeking to enforce this Section 6.10 shall
be entitled to seek specific performance and injunctive relief as remedies for any breach thereof in addition to other remedies available at Law or in equity.

Section 6.11 Covenant to Satisfy Closing Conditions. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of the Parties will use
commercially reasonable efforts to (a) satisfy or cause the satisfaction of the conditions precedent to the completion of the Transactions as set forth in
Article VII (to the extent the same is within its control) and (b) take or cause to be taken all other actions and to do or cause to be done all other things
necessary to permit the consummation of the Transactions in accordance with its obligations under this Agreement and cooperate with the other Parties in
connection therewith. In connection with the foregoing, prior to the Closing, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate the Company’s
and Rio Grande’s entering into the Rio Bravo Ocelot Agreement, the Rio Grande Ocelot Agreement, the Port of Brownsville Reimbursement Agreement,
the Rio Bravo Wetlands Agreement and the Rio Grande Wetlands Agreement, as applicable, at or prior to the Closing.
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Section 6.12 Intercompany_Agreements. Except for (a) the Intercompany Agreements set forth on Section 6.12 of the Seller Disclosure
Schedule and (b) Intercompany Payables and Intercompany Receivables, all Liabilities of the Company, on the one hand, and Seller and its Affiliates (other
than the Company), on the other hand, with respect to the Intercompany Agreements will automatically terminate in their entirety effective as of the
Closing without any further actions by the Parties and will thereby be deemed voided, cancelled and discharged in their entirety.

Section 6.13 ~ Renewal of Option Agreements. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to, and shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Company to, renew and/or extend (a) the Expired Option Agreements and (b) any Option Agreement that
expires pursuant to its terms on or before the Closing Date.

Section 6.14  Conduct of Business After Closing.

(@) During the period from the Closing Date through the later of (i) the date that is ninety (90) days following the PA Termination Date
or (ii) if either Buyer has made a Buyer Repurchase Election or Seller has made a Seller Repurchase Election, the Effective Date (as defined in the Post-
Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement between the Parties entered into pursuant to Section 2.9 or Section 2.10, as applicable), except
(A) as required by applicable Laws, (B) as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement, (C) for actions taken in response to a business emergency, or (D) as
Seller otherwise consents in writing in advance (which consent may be withheld in Seller’s reasonable discretion), Buyer shall cause the Company not to:
(1) incur any Indebtedness except as Buyer deems in good faith necessary or appropriate to continue development of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System, or (2)
engage in any business unrelated to the development, construction or operation of the Rio Bravo Pipeline System.

(b) During the period from the Closing Date through the later of (i) the date that is ninety-five (95) days following the PA Termination
Date or (ii) if either Buyer has made a Buyer Repurchase Election or Seller has made a Seller Repurchase Election, the Effective Date (as defined in the
Post-Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement between the Parties entered into pursuant to Section 2.9 or Section 2.10, as applicable), the
Company shall pay (and Buyer shall cause the Company to pay) all costs allocable to it under the Rio Bravo Ocelot Agreement, the Port of Brownsville
Reimbursement Agreement and the Rio Bravo Wetlands Agreement.

(c) During the period from the Closing Date through the later of (i) the date that is ninety-five (95) days following the PA Termination
Date or (ii) if either Buyer has made a Buyer Repurchase Election or Seller has made a Seller Repurchase Election, the Effective Date (as defined in the
Post-Closing Membership Interests Assignment Agreement between the Parties entered into pursuant to Section 2.9 or Section 2.10, as applicable), Seller
shall cause Rio Grande to pay all costs allocable to it under the Rio Grande Ocelot Agreement, the Port of Brownsville Reimbursement Agreement and the
Rio Grande Wetlands Agreement.

(d) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Section 6.14 is intended to give (i) Seller, directly or indirectly, the right to
control or direct the Business or the operations of Buyer or the Company after the Closing or (ii) Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct
the operations of Seller after the Closing. After the Closing, each of Buyer, the Company and Seller shall exercise complete control and supervision over
their respective operations.
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ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 7.1 Conditions to the Obligations of Buyer. The obligation of Buyer to complete the Transactions is subject to the satisfaction (or
waiver in writing by Buyer), at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(@) No Prohibition. No Law or preliminary or permanent injunction or other order, decree or ruling issued by a Government Entity
which restrains, enjoins, prohibits or otherwise makes illegal the consummation of the Transactions shall be in effect; provided, however, that Buyer may
not rely on this condition if any such injunction or other order, decree or ruling results from claims made by or on behalf of Buyer or any of its Affiliates.

(b) Representations and Warranties. Each of the Fundamental Representations of Seller and the representations and warranties set forth
in Section 4.18(1) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the Closing as if made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent that any such
representation and warranty expressly speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation and warranty shall be true and correct as of such
earlier date). All other representations and warranties of Seller set forth in Article IIT and Article IV shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any
“materiality” or Material Adverse Effect qualifiers contained therein) as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent
that any such representation and warranty expressly speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation and warranty shall be true and correct as
of such earlier date), except where the failure of any such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Covenants. The covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement that are to be performed on or prior to the Closing by Seller
or its Affiliates shall have been duly performed by Seller or its Affiliates in all material respects.

(d) No Material Adverse Effect. There shall not have occurred, since the Execution Date, a Material Adverse Effect.

(e)  Certificate. Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate, signed by a duly authorized officer of Seller and dated the Closing
Date, to the effect that the conditions set forth in Section 7.1(b) and Section 7.1(c) have been satisfied; provided, however, that Seller shall be entitled to
modify its certificate to reflect any event, state of facts or circumstances relating to the representations and warranties of Seller that are necessary in order
to make such certificate true and correct.

(f) USACE Permit. The Company shall have received the USACE Permit in a form containing customary conditions.
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(® Mitigation Agreements. The Company shall have entered into the Rio Bravo Ocelot Agreement, the Port of Brownsville
Reimbursement Agreement and the Rio Bravo Wetlands Agreement and Rio Grande shall have entered into the Rio Grande Ocelot Agreement, the Port of
Brownsville Reimbursement Agreement and the Rio Grande Wetlands Agreement.

(h)  Closing Deliverables. Seller shall have delivered to Buyer each closing deliverable required to be delivered by Seller pursuant to
Section 2.6.

Section 7.2  Conditions to the Obligations of Seller. The obligation of Seller to complete the Transactions is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver
in writing by Seller), at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(@) No Prohibition. No Law or preliminary or permanent injunction or other order, decree or ruling issued by a Government Entity
which restrains, enjoins, prohibits or otherwise makes illegal the consummation of the Transactions shall be in effect; provided, however, that Seller may
not rely on this condition if such injunction or other order, decree or ruling results from claims by or on behalf of Seller or any of its Affiliates.

(b) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in Article V shall be true and correct in all
material respects (or in the case of a representation and warranty qualified by “materiality,” in all respects) as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of
the Closing Date (except to the extent that any such representation and warranty expressly speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation
and warranty shall be true and correct in all material respects (or in the case of a representation and warranty qualified by “materiality,” in all respects) as of
such earlier date).

(c) Covenants. The covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement that are to be performed on or prior to the Closing by Buyer
or its Affiliates shall have been duly performed by Buyer or its Affiliates in all material respects.

(d) Certificate. Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a certificate, signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer and dated the Closing
Date, to the effect that the conditions set forth in Section 7.2(b) and Section 7.2(c) have been satisfied.

(e) USACE Permit. The Company shall have received the USACE Permit in a form containing customary conditions.

(f)  Closing Deliverables. Buyer shall have delivered to Seller each closing deliverable required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to

Section 2.5.
ARTICLE VIII
TERMINATION
Section 8.1 Termination by Mutual Consent. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing by the mutual written

agreement of Seller and Buyer.
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Section 8.2  Termination by Either Party. This Agreement may be terminated by either Seller or Buyer by written notice to the other Party at any
time prior to the Closing:

(a) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or prior to December 31, 2020 (the “Outside Date”); provided, however, that the right to
terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.2(a) shall not be available to a Party if the failure of that Party to fulfill any of its obligations under this
Agreement has principally caused or resulted in the failure of the Closing to occur prior to the Outside Date; or

(b) if any court of competent jurisdiction or a Government Entity shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action
permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Transactions and such order, decree, ruling or other action shall have become final and non-
appealable; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.2(b) shall not be available to a Party if the failure of that
Party to fulfill any of its obligations under this Agreement has principally caused or resulted in such order, decree, ruling or action.

Section 8.3  Termination by Seller. This Agreement may be terminated by Seller in writing at any time prior to the Closing if there has been a
breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Buyer in this Agreement, or any such representation and warranty shall have
become untrue after the date of this Agreement, in either case such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.2(b) or Section 7.2(c) would not be
satisfied, and such breach or condition is not curable or, if curable, is not cured prior to the earlier of (a) thirty (30) days after written notice thereof is given
by Seller to Buyer and (b) one (1) Business Day prior to the Outside Date; provided that Seller is not then in material breach of this Agreement so as to
cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 not to be satisfied.

Section 8.4  Termination by Buyer. This Agreement may be terminated by Buyer in writing at any time prior to the Closing if there has been a
breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Seller in this Agreement or any such representation and warranty shall have
become untrue after the date of this Agreement, in either case such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1(b) or Section 7.1(c) would not be
satisfied, and such breach or condition is not curable or, if curable, is not cured prior to the earlier of (a) thirty (30) days after written notice thereof is given
by Buyer to Seller and (b) one (1) Business Day prior to the Outside Date; provided that Buyer is not then in material breach of this Agreement so as to
cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.2 not to be satisfied.

Section 8.5  Effect of Termination.
(@) In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof, this Agreement shall thereafter become void
and have no effect, and, except as set forth in this Section 8.5, the Parties shall not have any liability to any other Party or their respective Affiliates, or their
respective partners, directors, officers or employees, pursuant to this Agreement except for the obligations of the Parties contained in Section 6.1,

Section 6.8, this Section 8.5, Article X and any related definitional provisions set forth in Article I, each of which shall remain in full force and effect.
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(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 8.5 shall relieve any of the Parties from liability for any willful, intentional
or knowing breach of this Agreement that arose prior to any termination in accordance with the terms hereof.

ARTICLE IX
SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION; CERTAIN REMEDIES

Section 9.1 Survival. The representations and warranties in Section 3.1 (Organization and Good Standing), Section 3.2 (Corporate
Authorization), Section 3.3 (Ownership of Interests), Section 3.4(a) (Non-Contravention), Section 4.1 (Organization and Good Standing), Section 4.2
(Capitalization), Section 4.3 (Equity Interests), Section 4.4(a) (Non-Contravention), Section 4.6 (Preferential Purchase Rights), Section 4.8(b) (No
Indebtedness), Section 4.20 (No Brokers or Finders), Section 5.1 (Organization and Good Standing; Direct or Indirect Wholly Owned Subsidiary),
Section 5.2 (Corporate Authorization), Section 5.3(a) (Non-Contravention), and Section 5.6 (No Brokers or Finders) (collectively, the “Fundamental
Representations”) shall survive the Closing for a period of five (5) years from the Closing Date, the representations and warranties of Seller in Section 4.18
(Tax Matters) and in Section 4.16(c) and (d) (Employee Benefit Matters) and Section 4.17 (Employment and Labor Matters) shall survive the Closing until
the date that is sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations with respect thereto (taking into account any extensions or waivers
thereof), and all other representations and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a period of eighteen (18) months from the Closing
Date, at which time they will terminate (and no claims with respect to such representations and warranties shall be made by any Person for indemnification
under Section 9.2 or Section 9.3 thereafter). All covenants and agreements that by their terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the
Closing will survive for the period provided in such covenants and agreements, if any, or until fully performed. All covenants and agreements that by their
terms apply or are to be performed in their entirety on or prior to the Closing shall terminate at the Closing. The period during which any such
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement survives is the “Survival Period” for such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement that would otherwise terminate shall, along with any applicable
indemnity obligation, survive until such Losses are finally resolved and paid, with respect to Losses in respect of which notice, in reasonable detail, is
given pursuant to this Agreement prior to the end of the Survival Period for such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement.

Section 9.2  Indemnification by Seller. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 9.4, Seller hereby agrees that from and after the Closing it
shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless, without duplication, Buyer, its Affiliates (including the Company) and their respective directors, officers,
shareholders, trustees and employees and their heirs, successors and permitted assigns, each in their capacity as such (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified
Parties”), from and against any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by any of the Buyer Indemnified Parties, to the extent arising out of:

(a) any breach of any representation or warranty made by Seller in Article III or Article IV for the applicable Survival Period of such
representation or warranty; and
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(b)  any breach by Seller or any of its Affiliates of any covenant or agreement made by Seller in this Agreement for the applicable
Survival Period of such covenant or agreement.

Section 9.3  Indemnification by Buyer. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 9.4, Buyer hereby agrees that from and after the Closing it
shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of Seller, its Affiliates (other than the Company) and their respective directors, officers, shareholders,
trustees and employees and their heirs, successors and permitted assigns, each in their capacity as such (the “Seller Indemnified Parties” and, collectively
with the Buyer Indemnified Parties, the “Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all Losses actually suffered or incurred by any of the Seller
Indemnified Parties, to the extent arising out of:

(a) any breach of any representation or warranty made by Buyer in Article V for the applicable Survival Period of such representation
or warranty; and

(b)  any breach by Buyer or any of its Affiliates of any covenant or agreement made by Buyer in this Agreement for the applicable
Survival Period of such covenant or agreement.

Section 9.4  Limitations.

(a Except with respect to Losses arising out of any breach of Seller’s Fundamental Representations or Tax representations in
Section 4.18, Seller shall not be liable to the Buyer Indemnified Parties for any Losses with respect to the matters contained in Section 9.2(a) unless and
until the aggregate of all Losses therefrom for which Seller would otherwise be liable exceeds an amount equal to $[***] (the “Deductible”), after which
Seller shall only be liable for Losses in excess of the Deductible. In no event shall Seller’s aggregate liability to the Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to
Section 9.2(a) exceed $[***]; provided that the foregoing limit shall not apply to any breach of any of the Fundamental Representations or the
representation and warranty in Section 4.18. In no event shall Seller’s aggregate liability to the Buyer Indemnified Parties for Losses with respect to matters
contained in Section 9.2 exceed an amount equal to the Purchase Price.

(b) For purposes of determining whether there has been any breach of any representation or warranty set forth in Article III or
Article IV, and for purposes of determining the amount of Losses resulting from any such breach, each such representation or warranty shall be read
without regard and without giving effect to the term “material,” “materiality,” or “Material Adverse Effect” or similar phrases contained in such
representation or warranty.

(© Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Buyer Indemnified Party or Seller Indemnified Party shall be entitled to
indemnification or reimbursement under any provision of this Agreement for any amount to the extent any Buyer Indemnified Party or Seller Indemnified
Party, as the case may be, has been reimbursed for such amount under any other provision of this Agreement.

(d) NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY PARTY BE
LIABLE UNDER THIS Atticle IX FOR ANY EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES,
INCLUDING LOST PROFITS OR DIMINUTION OF VALUE OR ANY LOSS OF GOODWILL OR POSSIBLE BUSINESS AFTER THE CLOSING,
WHETHER ACTUAL OR PROSPECTIVE, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT ANY SUCH DAMAGES ARE INCLUDED IN ANY THIRD-PARTY CLAIM
AGAINST INDEMNIFIED PARTY FOR WHICH SUCH INDEMNIFIED PARTY IS ENTITLED TO INDEMNIFICATION UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT.
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Section 9.5  Third-Party Claim Indemnification Procedures.

(a In the event that any written claim or demand for which an Indemnifying Party may have liability to any Indemnified Party
hereunder is asserted against or sought to be collected from any Indemnified Party by a third party (other than those relating to Taxes, which are the subject
of Section 6.7) (a “Third-Party Claim”) such Indemnified Party shall promptly, but in no event more than ten (10) Business Days following such
Indemnified Party’s receipt of a Third-Party Claim, notify the party or parties from whom indemnification is sought (collectively, the “Indemnifying
Party”) in writing of such Third-Party Claim, the amount or the estimated amount of damages sought thereunder to the extent then ascertainable (which
estimate shall not be conclusive of the final amount of such Third-Party Claim), any other remedy sought thereunder, any relevant time constraints relating
thereto and, to the extent practicable, any other material details pertaining thereto (a “Claim Notice”). However, the failure to give prompt notice will not
affect the rights or obligations of the Indemnifying Party except and only to the extent that, as a result of such failure, the Indemnifying Party was
prejudiced. The Indemnifying Party shall have fifteen (15) Business Days (or such lesser number of days set forth in the Claim Notice as may be required
by court proceedings in the event of a litigated matter) after receipt of the Claim Notice (the “Notice Period”) to notify the Indemnified Party that it desires
to defend the Indemnified Party against such Third-Party Claim.

(b) In the event that the Indemnifying Party notifies the Indemnified Party within the Notice Period that it desires to defend the
Indemnified Party against a Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to defend the Indemnified Party by appropriate proceedings and
shall have the sole power to direct and control such defense at its expense. Once the Indemnifying Party has duly assumed the defense of a Third-Party
Claim, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to participate in any such defense and to employ a single separate counsel of its
choosing. The Indemnified Party shall participate in any such defense at its expense unless the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party are both
named parties to the proceedings and the Indemnified Party shall have reasonably concluded, based on the advice of outside counsel, that representation of
both parties by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between them, in which case the Indemnified Party
shall participate in such defense and employ separate counsel at the Indemnifying Party’s expense. The Indemnifying Party shall not, without the prior
written consent of the Indemnified Party, settle, compromise or offer to settle or compromise any Third-Party Claim on a basis that would result in (i) the
imposition of a consent order, injunction or decree that would restrict the future activity or conduct of the Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates or (ii) a
finding or admission of a violation of Law or violation of the rights of any Person by the Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates.

(c)  If the Indemnifying Party elects not to, or is deemed to elect not to, defend the Indemnified Party against a Third-Party Claim,
whether by not giving the Indemnified Party timely notice of its desire to so defend or otherwise, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to assume its own defense; it being understood that the Indemnified Party’s right to indemnification for a Third-Party Claim shall not be
adversely affected by assuming the defense of such Third-Party Claim. The Indemnified Party (i) shall diligently defend such Third-Party Claim and
(ii) may not enter into a settlement thereof without obtaining approval of the Indemnifying Party (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned) unless the Indemnified Party will not be seeking indemnification from the Indemnifying Party for any amounts paid pursuant to
such settlement thereof or for any other consequences of such Third-Party Claim.
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(d) The Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party shall cooperate in order to ensure the proper and adequate defense of a Third-
Party Claim, including by providing access to each other’s relevant business records and other documents, and employees.

(e)  The Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid production of confidential
information (consistent with applicable Law), and to cause all communications among employees, counsel and others representing any party to a Third-
Party Claim to be made so as to preserve any applicable attorney-client or work-product privileges. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Section 9.5
shall be construed as a waiver by an Indemnified Party or an Indemnifying Party of any privilege, including any privilege associated with separate counsel
as described herein.

Section 9.6 Payments. The Indemnifying Party shall pay all amounts payable pursuant to this Article IX, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds, promptly following receipt from an Indemnified Party of a bill, together with all accompanying reasonably detailed back-up
documentation, for a Loss that is the subject of indemnification hereunder, unless the Indemnifying Party in good faith disputes the Loss, in which event it
shall so notify the Indemnified Party (provided that, in the event of a good faith dispute with respect to a Loss, the Indemnifying Party shall promptly pay
the portion of such Loss, if any, that is not subject to dispute). In any event, the Indemnifying Party shall pay to the Indemnified Party, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, the amount of any Loss for which it is liable hereunder no later than thirty (30) days following any final determination of such
Loss and the Indemnifying Party’s liability therefor. A “final determination” shall exist when (a) the parties to the dispute have reached an agreement in
writing, (b) a court of competent jurisdiction shall have entered a final and non-appealable order or judgment or (c) an arbitration or like panel shall have
rendered a final non-appealable determination with respect to disputes the parties to such dispute have agreed to submit thereto.

Section 9.7  Adjustment to Purchase Price for Tax Purposes. All payments made by an Indemnifying Party to an Indemnified Party in respect of
any claim pursuant to Section 9.2 or Section 9.3 hereof shall be treated as adjustments to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, to the maximum extent
permitted by Law.

Section 9.8 Remedies; Exclusive Remedy. Except in the case of common law actual fraud and as otherwise provided in Section 2.9, Section 2.10
and Section 10.10, from and after the Closing, the rights and remedies under this Article IX are exclusive and in lieu of any and all other rights and
remedies that the Seller Indemnified Parties may have against Buyer and the Company or the Buyer Indemnified Parties may have against Seller with
respect to the Transactions or under this Agreement (including the breach of any representation or warranty or any failure to perform any covenant or
agreement set forth in this Agreement). Each of Seller and Buyer, respectively, from and after the Closing, expressly waives any and all other rights,
remedies and causes of action it or its Affiliates may have against the other Party or its Affiliates, now or in the future under any Law with respect to the
Transactions (other than with respect to the Rio Bravo Pipeline PA) or under this Agreement (including the breach of any representation or warranty or any
failure to perform any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement), except in the case of common law actual fraud and as otherwise provided in
Section 2.9 or Section 2.10. The remedies expressly provided in this Agreement shall constitute the sole and exclusive basis for and means of recourse
between the Parties with respect to the Transactions.
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Section 9.9 Express Negligence. EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN Section 6.1(a), THE PAYMENT,
DEFENSE, INDEMNIFICATION, HOLD HARMLESS AND RELEASE PROVISIONS (IN EACH CASE) PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT
SHALL BE APPLICABLE WHETHER OR NOT THE LOSSES IN QUESTION AROSE OR RESULTED SOLELY OR IN PART FROM THE GROSS,
SOLE, ACTIVE, PASSIVE, CONCURRENT OR COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER FAULT OR VIOLATION OF
LAW OF OR BY ANY INDEMNIFIED PARTY. BUYER AND SELLER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS STATEMENT COMPLIES WITH THE
EXPRESS NEGLIGENCE RULE AND IS CONSPICUOUS.

Section 9.10  Tax Indemnification. To the extent that Seller or Buyer may be liable for indemnification for any Taxes under both Section 6.7 and
this Article IX, Seller or Buyer, as applicable, shall only be liable under Section 6.7.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1  Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a
nationally recognized overnight courier (return receipt requested) or (c) on the date sent by email (upon confirmation that such email was received) if sent
during normal business hours of the recipient or on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient. Such communications must
be sent to Seller and Buyer, respectively, at the following addresses or e-mail addresses (or at such other address or e-mail address for such Party as shall be
specified for such purpose in a notice given in accordance with this Section 10.1):

If to Seller:

NextDecade LNG, LLC

c/o NextDecade Corporation

1000 Louisiana Street, Suite 3900
Houston, TX 77002

Email: kdelima@next-decade.com
Attn: Krysta De Lima, General Counsel
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With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

K&L Gates LLP

214 N. Tryon St.

Charlotte, NC 98202

Email: Sean.Jones@klgates.com; Patrick.Rogers@klgates.com
Attn: Sean Jones, Patrick Rogers

but, if after February 14, 2020, to:

K&IL. Gates LLP

300 South Tryon Street, 10th Floor

Charlotte, NC 28202

Email: Sean.Jones@klgates.com; Patrick.Rogers@klgates.com
Attn: Sean Jones, Patrick Rogers

If to Buyer:

Spectra Energy Transmission II, LLC
c/o Enbridge (U.S.) Inc.

5400 Westheimer Court

Houston, Texas 77056

Email: legalnotices@enbridge.com
Attn:  Chief Legal Officer

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Vinson & Elkins LLP

1001 Fannin Street, Suite 2500

Houston, Texas 77002-6760

Email: dbland@velaw.com; dpatterson@velaw.com
Attn: Douglas S. Bland, Danielle M. Patterson
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Section 10.2  Amendment; Waiver. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, and only if, such amendment or waiver is in
writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by each Person signatory hereto, or in the case of a waiver, by the Person against whom the waiver is to
be effective. No failure or delay by any Person in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or
partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein
provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Law except as otherwise specifically provided in Article IX.

Section 10.3  Binding Effect; Assignment. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. None of the Parties may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations under this
Agreement (for the avoidance of doubt, no merger or sale of securities of Buyer or Seller or any entity that directly or indirectly controls any of Buyer or
Seller shall constitute an assignment hereunder) without the prior written consent of the other Party and any attempted or purported assignment in violation
of this Section 10.3 shall be null and void. Except as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is
intended to confer upon any Person other than the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or by reason
of this Agreement.

Section 10.4  Third Party Beneficiaries. Subject to the provisions of Article IX (provided, however, any claim for indemnity hereunder on behalf
of an Seller Indemnified Party or a Buyer Indemnified Party must be made and administered by a Party) and Section 10.3, this Agreement is solely for the
benefit of (a) Seller and its successors and permitted assigns with respect to the obligations of Buyer under this Agreement and (b) Buyer and its successors
and permitted assigns with respect to the obligations of Seller under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be deemed to confer upon or give to any
other third party any remedy, claim, liability, reimbursement, cause of action or other right.

Section 10.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including all Schedules and Exhibits) and the other Transaction Documents contain the entire
agreement between Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or
written, with respect to such matters (including that certain Memorandum of Understanding Relating to the Development of Pipeline Solutions for the Rio
Grande LNG Project, dated September 17, 2019, by and between Seller and Enbridge (US) Inc. (an Affiliate of Buyer)), except for the Confidentiality
Agreement.

Section 10.6 Fulfillment of Obligations. Any obligation of any Person signatory hereto to any other Person signatory hereto under this
Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents that is performed, satisfied or fulfilled completely by an Affiliate of such Person signatory hereto
shall be deemed to have been performed, satisfied or fulfilled by such Person signatory hereto. Each party to each of the Transaction Documents shall cause
its Subsidiaries and Affiliates to perform all actions, agreements and obligations set forth herein or therein requiring the performance of any such
Subsidiary or Affiliate (including any entity that becomes a Subsidiary or Affiliate of such party on or after the date hereof).

Section 10.7 Public Disclosure. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein (but subject to the second sentence of this
Section 10.7), from and after the date hereof, no press release or similar public announcement or communication shall be made or caused to be made
relating to this Agreement unless specifically approved in advance by Seller and Buyer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the foregoing sentence
shall not apply to announcements or communications required to comply with the requirements of any applicable Law and the rules and regulations of any
stock exchange upon which the securities of Buyer or Seller or their respective Affiliates are listed; provided, however, that such announcement or
communication shall be made after consultation between Seller and Buyer and after taking into account the reasonable requirements of Seller and Buyer as
to timing, content and manner of making such announcement or communication.
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Section 10.8  Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, whether or not the Transactions are consummated, all costs
and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions shall be borne by the Party hereto incurring such costs and expenses.

Section 10.9  Governing Law;_Submission to Jurisdiction; Selection of Forum.

(@) This Agreement and the legal relations between the Parties shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the
State of Texas without regard to principles of conflicts of law which would require the application of the Laws of another jurisdiction.

(b) The Parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Houston, Harris
County, Texas and appropriate appellate courts therefrom, and each Party hereby irrevocably agrees that all claims in respect of such dispute, controversy
or claim may be heard and determined in such courts. The Parties hereby irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Laws, any
objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such dispute, controversy or claim brought in any such court or any defense of
inconvenient forum for the maintenance of such dispute, controversy or claim. Each Party agrees that a judgment in any such dispute may be enforced in
other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable Law.

(o) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY
AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL ACTION ARISING OUT
OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (i) NO
REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT
SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A LEGAL ACTION, (ii) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE
IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (iii) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (iv) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED
TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS Section 10.9(c).

Section 10.10  Specific Performance. Each of the Parties hereto acknowledges that its obligations hereunder are unique and that remedies at law,
including monetary damages, may be inadequate in the event it should default in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. Accordingly, in
the event of any breach of any agreement, representation, warranty or covenant set forth in this Agreement, in the case of a breach by the other Party, a
Party shall be entitled to equitable relief (if the court so grants), without the proof of actual damages, including in the form of an injunction or injunctions
or orders for specific performance to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to order the defaulting Party to affirmatively carry out its obligations under
this Agreement, and each of the Parties hereby waives any defense to the effect that a remedy at law would be an adequate remedy for such breach. Such
equitable relief shall be in addition to any other remedy to which each of the Parties are entitled to at law or in equity as a remedy for such non-
performance, breach or threatened breach. Each of the Parties hereby waives any requirements for the securing or posting of any bond with such equitable
remedy. The foregoing shall not be deemed to be or construed as a waiver or election of remedies by any of the Parties, each of whom expressly reserves
any and all rights and remedies available to it at law or in equity in the event of any breach or default by the others under this Agreement prior to the
Closing.
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Section 10.11 Attorney-Client Privilege;_Continued Representation. Buyer agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its directors, officers,
managers, employees and Affiliates, that, following the Closing, either or both King & Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP may serve as counsel to
Seller or any of its Affiliates in connection with any matters related to the Transaction Documents and the Transactions, including any litigation, claim or
obligation arising out of or relating to the Transaction Documents or the Transactions notwithstanding any representation by King & Spalding LLP and/or
K&L Gates LLP prior to the Closing Date of the Company. Buyer, on behalf of itself and the Company, hereby (a) waives any claim they or their Affiliates
have or may have that King & Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP has a conflict of interest or is otherwise prohibited from engaging in such
representation and (b) agrees that, in the event that a dispute arises after the Closing between Buyer and Seller or any of their respective Affiliates, King &
Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP may represent Seller or any of its Affiliates in such dispute even though the interests of such Person(s) may be
directly adverse to Buyer or its Affiliates (including the Company) and even though King & Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP may have represented
the Company in a matter substantially related to such dispute. Buyer and the Company also further agree that, as to all communications prior to Closing
among King & Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP and the Company, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates and representatives relating to the
negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the Transactions, the attorney-client
privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs to Seller and may be controlled by Seller and shall not pass to or be claimed by Buyer or the
Company. Accordingly, Buyer and the Company shall not access such confidential communications after the Closing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the
event that a dispute arises between Buyer, the Company and a third party other than a Party after the Closing, the Company may assert the attorney-client
privilege to prevent disclosure of confidential communications by King & Spalding LLP and/or K&L Gates LLP to such third party; provided, however,
that the Company may not waive such privilege without the prior written consent of Seller (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Section 10.12  Disclosure Schedules. The disclosure of any matter in any section or subsection of the Seller Disclosure Schedule, or the Buyer
Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the “Disclosure Schedules”), as applicable, shall be deemed to be a disclosure under the respective Person’s Disclosure
Schedule for all purposes of this Agreement to which such matter could reasonably be expected to be pertinent. The sections or subsections of each
Disclosure Schedule are arranged in sections corresponding to the numbered and lettered sections and subsections of this Agreement. Matters disclosed in
any section or subsection of any of the Disclosure Schedules are not necessarily limited to matters that are required by this Agreement to be disclosed
therein. Such additional matters are set forth for informational purposes only and do not necessarily include other matters of a similar nature or impose any
duty or obligation to disclose any information beyond what is required by this Agreement, and disclosure of such additional matters shall not affect,
directly or indirectly, the interpretation of this Agreement or the scope of the disclosure obligations hereunder. To the extent cross-references are set forth in
any section or subsection of any of the Disclosure Schedules, such cross-references are intended solely for convenience and are by no means intended as a
statement of limitation as to where disclosure is relevant or appropriate. The reference to any Contract or other documents or materials in any section or
subsection of any of the Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to incorporate by reference, for all purposes set forth in this Section 10.12 and the remainder
of this Agreement, all terms and conditions of, and schedules and annexes to, such Contract or other document to the extent made available, prior to the
date of this Agreement, to Buyer and its Representatives or Seller and its Representatives, as applicable. Headings inserted in the sections or subsections of
any of the Disclosure Schedules are for convenience of reference only and shall to no extent have the effect of amending or changing the express terms of
the sections or subsections as set forth in this Agreement.
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Section 10.13  Further Assurances. Each of the Parties shall execute and deliver, or shall cause to be executed and delivered, such documents
and other instruments and shall take, or shall cause to be taken, such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions of this
Agreement and give effect to the Transactions.

Section 10.14  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of
which shall constitute one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by e-mail or other means of electronic transmission shall be
deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

Section 10.15  Headings. The heading references herein and the table of contents hereof are for convenience purposes only, and shall not be
deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.

Section 10.16 Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or
any circumstance, is invalid or unenforceable, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid
and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such
provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect
the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.

Section 10.17  Schedules and Exhibits. The Schedules and Exhibits to this Agreement described herein are attached to and are an integral part of
this Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or as an exception set forth as such in a Disclosure Schedule, if there is any conflict or
inconsistency between a provision of the body of this Agreement and that of a Schedule or an Exhibit, the provision of the body of this Agreement shall
prevail to the extent of said conflict or inconsistency.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Omnibus Agreement has been duly executed by each Party set forth below as of the date first written above.
SELLER:
NEXTDECADE LNG, LLC
By: /s/ Matthew Schatzman

Name: Matthew Schatzman
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

BUYER:

SPECTRA ENERGY TRANSMISSION II, LLC
By: /s/ Robert L. Huffman

Name: Robert L. Huffman

Title: President

Signature Page to Omnibus Agreement



Exhibit 10.2

CERTAIN INFORMATION OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (I) NOT MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD
LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. INFORMATION THAT WAS OMITTED HAS BEEN NOTED IN THIS
DOCUMENT WITH A PLACEHOLDER IDENTIFIED BY THE MARK “[***].”

PRECEDENT AGREEMENT
FOR FIRM NATURAL GAS TRANSPORTATION SERVICE
FOR THE RIO BRAVO PIPELINE

This Precedent Agreement for Firm Natural Gas Transportation Service (“Precedent Agreement”) is made and entered into effective as of
this 2nd day of March, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC, a Texas limited liability company having its
principal office at 1000 Louisiana Street, 39th Floor, Houston, Texas, 77002 (“Customer”), and Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company with offices at 5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, TX 77056 (“Transporter”). Customer and Transporter are sometimes referred to herein
individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Affiliates of Customer are developing a natural gas liquefaction and export facility for the production and delivery of liquefied
natural gas to be located at the Port of Brownsville, Texas, near a parcel of land having an address of 48326 Highway 48, Port Isabel, Texas 78587 (such
facility, the “RGLNG Facility”);

WHEREAS, the Parties are parties to that certain precedent agreement for the interstate natural gas transportation project [***], for the
construction of, and transportation service on, an interstate pipeline system with an aggregate of up to 4.5 million dekatherms (“MMDth”) per day
(“MMDth/day”) of transportation capacity designed to extend from a receipt point at the Energy Transfer King Ranch Gas Plant in Kleberg County, Texas,
to the RGLNG Facility, and for which the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) issued a certificate of public convenience and necessity in
Docket No. CP16-455-000 on November 22, 2019 [***];

WHEREAS, [***], such pipeline system, as further identified in and selected pursuant to this Precedent Agreement, the “Project” and each
pipeline contemplated for the Project a “Pipeline”);

WHEREAS, Transporter currently intends to construct and install the Project sequentially utilizing two Pipelines [***], with each Pipeline being
placed in service in distinct increments of pipeline transportation capacity of [***] MMDth/day (each an “Increment”) on which Customer will have the
right to firm transportation service as further set forth herein;

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution of this Precedent Agreement, Customer has executed a precedent agreement for natural gas
transportation service with an Affiliate of Transporter to provide Customer with interruptible transportation service from such Affiliate’s Valley Crossing
Pipeline and to govern the development of an interconnection between the RGLNG Facility and the Valley Crossing Pipeline, supporting deliveries to the
RGLNG Facility; and




WHEREAS, as further set forth in this Precedent Agreement, Customer may notify Transporter of its desired scope of the Project in order to

provide the desired Increments of capacity from the proposed receipt points (the “Receipt Points” and each a “Receipt Point”) to the proposed delivery
point (the “Delivery Point”) in accordance with Transporter’s FERC Gas Tariff (as filed with and approved by FERC, and as may be revised from time to
time, the “Tariff”).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby,

Customer and Transporter agree as follows:

1.

Transporter Obligations and Regulatory Approvals.

1.1  Regulatory Approvals. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Precedent Agreement, Transporter shall proceed with commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain from all governmental and regulatory authorities having competent jurisdiction over the Project, the authorizations,
approvals (including, without limitation, with respect to a given Increment, the FERC certificate of public convenience and necessity and approval
of a notice to proceed with construction of such Increment (the “FERC Approvals”)), permits, waivers and/or exemptions (collectively, the
“Approvals”) Transporter determines are necessary: (a) for Transporter to construct, install, own, operate, and maintain the Project facilities
necessary to provide the firm transportation service contemplated herein; and (b) for Transporter to perform its obligations as contemplated in this
Precedent Agreement. Transporter reserves the right to file and prosecute any and all applications for such Approvals, any supplements or
amendments thereto and, if necessary, any court review that are consistent with the Precedent Agreement in a manner it deems to be in the best
interest of the Project. For all purposes under this Precedent Agreement, Approvals shall be considered issued when (1) duly granted by FERC or
other governmental agency or authority having jurisdiction, (2) issued in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Transporter so as to permit
Transporter to perform in a timely and economic manner all of its obligations under this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements,
and (3) final and no longer subject to rehearing or appeal, except for authorizations for which there is no deadline for rehearing or appeal;
provided that Transporter may waive the requirement that such authorizations and Approvals required by Transporter be final and no longer
subject to rehearing or appeal.

1.2  Interconnection. Transporter will work in good faith and use commercially reasonable efforts to negotiate and enter into any definitive
interconnection agreements to facilitate the implementation of the terms and conditions of this Precedent Agreement.
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1.3 Schedule; Information.

(a) Customer shall deliver Facilities Notices to Transporter as provided in Section 5.1 and Section 5.2. [***].

(b) [

1.4  Effects on RGLNG Facility. Prior to filing any application with FERC or any other governmental or regulatory authority that is required
pursuant to applicable law in connection with an Approval necessary to construct the Project facilities (an “Application”), Transporter shall
provide a substantially complete draft of such Application to Customer’s legal counsel for review. If Customer notifies Transporter [***] that, in
Customer’s reasonable discretion, any specific portion of the Application could be expected to adversely affect the development of the RGLNG
Facility by Rio Grande LNG, LLC and its Affiliates, Transporter shall use reasonable efforts to work with Customer to make changes to such
portion of the Application to mitigate Customer’s concern. The term “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to an entity, any entity that controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, the relevant Party, with control meaning that an entity, directly or indirectly, has more than fifty
percent (50%) of the voting rights in such entity, or otherwise has the ability to manage the operations of such entity. In no event shall
Transporter’s or its Affiliate’s support of or cooperation with other developers, sponsors, owners, or customers of other liquefied natural gas
facilities, in the form of a filing, statement, or otherwise, constitute a failure by Transporter or its Affiliate to comply with the requirements
referenced in this Section 1.4 or any other provision of this Precedent Agreement.
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Customer Obligations.

2.1  Supply. Customer is solely responsible for securing gas supply and transportation service to each Receipt Point and from each Delivery
Point contemplated for firm and interruptible transportation service on the Project.

2.2 Cooperation. During the term of this Precedent Agreement, Customer will support and cooperate with, and not oppose, obstruct, or
interfere with, in any manner whatsoever, the efforts of Transporter to:

(a) obtain each of the Approvals in a timely manner, including any supplements and amendments thereto;

(b) provide the interstate interruptible and firm transportation service contemplated in this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service
Agreements; and

(c) perform its obligations as contemplated by this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements;

provided that nothing herein shall require Customer to support, or shall prevent Customer from opposing, any provision or term in any such filing
by Transporter that Customer may believe in good faith is inconsistent with the terms of this Precedent Agreement.

2.3 Regulatory Filings and Support.

(@)  Customer shall not submit, and shall cause its Affiliates not to submit, any filing with, or otherwise participate in any proceeding
before FERC or any other governmental or regulatory authority in a manner that reasonably would be expected to adversely affect Transporter’s
development of the Project.

(b) Upon request of Transporter, Customer shall submit to FERC, or other applicable governmental and regulatory authorities having
competent jurisdiction over the Project, a pleading expressly supporting the Approvals and the Project facilities contemplated herein. In addition,
Transporter agrees that Customer, at its own cost, may participate in any proceeding before FERC or any other governmental or regulatory
authority related to Transporter’s rates or terms and conditions of service in a manner consistent with Customer’s obligations set forth in
Section 2.2 and this Section 2.3.

(c) Subject to Section 13 hereof, Customer agrees, on an ongoing basis, to provide such additional data and information to Transporter,
as Transporter may reasonably require, to prosecute applications related to the Approvals.

2.4 Interconnection. When requested by Transporter, Customer agrees to support and cooperate with, and to not oppose, obstruct or otherwise
interfere with, the efforts of Transporter to negotiate any definitive interconnection agreement consistent with its obligations hereunder.
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Open_Season. Transporter shall have the right to conduct an open season(s) in accordance with applicable FERC requirements, whereby
Transporter will offer interested parties an opportunity to submit a request for capacity on the Project (each such process an “Open Season”).
[***]. This Precedent Agreement shall constitute Customer’s binding bid in any such Open Season.

Firm Service.

4.1 Firm Service Agreement Execution. To effectuate the firm transportation service contemplated herein, within [***] of delivery to
Transporter of a Facilities Notice pursuant to Section 5, or at such earlier time as Transporter and Customer determine is mutually beneficial for
purposes of obtaining an Approval, Transporter shall tender to Customer and, within [***] of receipt from Transporter, Customer shall execute
and return to Transporter: (a) one or more firm transportation service agreements pursuant to the applicable rate schedule set forth in the Tariff
(each, as amended from time to time, a “Firm Service Agreement”) that contemplates the Increment(s) for which Customer has provided such
Facilities Notice and (b) one or more negotiated rate letter agreement(s) (each, as amended from time to time, a “Negotiated Rate Letter
Agreement”) for service on such Increment(s). The Firm Service Agreements and Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements shall incorporate the
characteristics of the respective Increments, as set forth in Section 4.2 of this Precedent Agreement and as such characteristics may be identified
and revised pursuant to Section 5, and shall be consistent with the substantive terms of this Precedent Agreement and Transporter’s Tariff.
Transporter shall make reasonable revisions and amendments to the Firm Service Agreements and/or Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements as
necessary in order to accommodate changes in the Reservation Rate and/or scope of the Project, [***], and Customer shall execute and return such
revised or amended Firm Service Agreements and Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements within [***] of receipt from Transporter.

4.2  Firm Service Agreement Terms. The Firm Service Agreements and Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements, as applicable, shall incorporate
the terms described in this Section 4.2.

(a) Reservation Rate and Usage Charges. The Parties will enter into the Firm Service Agreements and Negotiated Rate Letter
Agreements (as each may be amended pursuant to Section 4.1), which will specify the negotiated reservation rates (the “Reservation Rates”) and
usage rates Customer will pay Transporter for the transportation services contemplated under the applicable Firm Service Agreement. In addition
to the Reservation Rates and usage rates, Customer will pay Transporter all other applicable charges and surcharges as reflected in the Firm
Service Agreements, Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements, and Tariff. At all times after the In-Service Date (as defined below), Customer shall pay
the Reservation Rate set forth in the Firm Service Agreement, [***]. As further reflected in Section 5 of this Precedent Agreement, the
Reservation Rate applicable to a given Increment will be determined based on the scope of the Project and related Project design, [***]. The
Reservation Rates shall be as follows:




() [***].

(c) Maximum Daily Quantity. The maximum daily quantity (“MDQ”) of gas that Transporter will be obligated to receive (exclusive of

fuel and LAUF), transport, and deliver for Customer on a firm basis at any given time will depend on the total number of Increments for which
Customer provides notice pursuant to Section 5 below. The aggregate of the MDQs for all Increments for which service is provided under an
effective Firm Service Agreement, as such MDQ may be adjusted for any Increment MDQ Extension, shall be the “Total MDQ.”

(d) Maximum Daily Receipt and Delivery Obligations.

(i) The “MDRO” shall be the maximum daily quantity of gas that Transporter will be obligated to receive from Customer on
a firm basis at a particular Receipt Point at any given time. Transporter’s obligation to receive the MDRO at a given Receipt Point is
subject to execution of an appropriate interconnect agreement, using reasonable efforts to do so.

(ii) The “MDDO” shall be the maximum daily quantity of gas that Transporter will be obligated to deliver to Customer on a
firm basis at a particular Delivery Point at any given time. The Firm Service Agreements will detail the maximum MDDO that Customer
can designate for each Delivery Point. Transporter’s obligation to deliver the MDDO at a given Delivery Point is subject to execution of
an appropriate interconnect agreement, using reasonable efforts to do so.

(e) Term.

@) The Parties’ rights and obligations with respect to each Increment shall be set forth in a Firm Service Agreement and
Negotiated Rate Letter Agreement, with multiple Increments included on one Firm Service Agreement and one Negotiated Rate Letter
Agreement if the In-Service Date for such Increments occurs on the same date. The “Primary Term” of each Firm Service Agreement as
it relates to a given Increment and associated Increment MDQ shall commence on the In-Service Date for such Increment and shall
continue in effect until the date that immediately precedes the twentieth (20th) anniversary of the In-Service Date for such Increment.
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(ii)  Customer shall have the right to extend the term of service under each Firm Service Agreement (each an “Increment
MDAQ Extension”) [***] (each such extension term an “Extension Period”), in each case at up to one hundred percent (100%) of the
applicable Increment MDQ in effect at such time under the extended Firm Service Agreement; provided that Customer may not increase
an Increment MDQ under any Firm Service Agreement for any Extension Period of such Firm Service Agreement beyond the applicable
Increment MDQ in effect immediately preceding such Extension Period. If Customer elects to exercise an Extension Period, Customer
shall give Transporter notice thereof [***].

(iii)  Following the end of the last Extension Period elected for a given Firm Service Agreement pursuant to Section 4.2(e)(ii)
(or if none, then following the end of the Primary Term of such Firm Service Agreement), the Firm Service Agreement shall remain in
force from year to year thereafter with respect to the sum of the Increment MDQs then in effect under the Firm Service Agreement at the
end of the last Extension Period of such Firm Service Agreement (or if none, then following the end of the Primary Term for such Firm
Service Agreement) unless either Transporter or Customer notifies the other Party with written notice at least [***] prior to the end of
such Extension Period or Primary Term that it elects to terminate the Firm Service Agreement. [***].

(iv)  Notwithstanding anything set forth in Section 4.2(a) above, the Reservation Rate applicable to any Increment during any
Extension Period for such Increment MDQ shall be [***].

(f)  Primary Receipt Points. For each Increment, the primary Receipt Points Customer may elect under the Firm Service Agreement
pursuant to any Facilities Notice shall be (each a “Primary Receipt Point”), each of which shall comply with Exhibit G:

@® [
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Q) [***]; and
) [**+*].

Transporter’s obligation to provide capacity at a given Receipt Point is subject to execution of an appropriate interconnect agreement, and
Transporter shall be relieved of any obligation to establish a Receipt Point, and Customer shall have no termination right or other remedy
hereunder, to the extent Transporter is unable to execute such interconnect agreement despite using reasonable efforts to do so.
Transporter shall have no obligation to provide capacity at any Receipt Point if the Receipt Point is not located at a place where the
applicable upstream pipeline crosses the designed route of the Project, as described in Section 4.2(f)(iii)(A), unless and until the upstream
pipeline constructs an extension of its pipeline system to a location on such designed route to which Transporter and Customer mutually
agree. [***].

(iii)  As of the Effective Date, each of the above listed points that is elected by Customer for the applicable Increment (subject
to all of the conditions and other restrictions set forth in this Section 4.2(f)) shall be a “Primary Receipt Point”; provided, however, that
until the date of the Initial Notice, the Primary Receipt Points shall be subject to change as certain points may be modified or removed
over time in accordance with and subject to the following:




[

(A) for any proposed modification to the location or MDRO of a Primary Receipt Point, Customer shall be entitled
to select only such new Primary Receipt Points that are located at a point that crosses the designed route of the
Project between (i) [***], and (ii) [***], any increase in costs directly attributable to or associated with any
such modification in one or more Primary Receipt Points or MDRO for a given Primary Receipt Point,
including additional taxes associated therewith, shall be borne by Customer [***];

(B) if more than [***] interconnects are designated as Primary Receipt Points at any time or Transporter’s
collective MDRO exceeds at any time [***] of Customer’s MDQ at such time, any increase in costs directly
attributable to or associated with any such additional Primary Receipt Points or aggregate MDRO, including
additional taxes associated therewith, shall be borne by Customer [***].

In the event the Primary Receipt Points are modified in accordance with the provisions hereof, the definition of Primary Receipt
Points shall be automatically amended to reflect the then-current list of Primary Receipt Points.

(9) Primary Delivery Points. For each Increment, the primary Delivery Point under the Firm Service Agreement(s) shall be the
RGLNG Facility (Meter No. [to be assigned]) with the MDDO equal to the Total MDQ (the “Primary Delivery Point”). The interconnection
facilities at the Primary Delivery Point shall comply with Exhibit G.

(h)  Fuel and LAUF. Customer shall pay Transporter the applicable fuel retainage set forth in the Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements
for fuel consumption and lost and unaccounted for gas (“LAUF”), [***]. Customer shall pay Transporter the applicable electric power costs set
forth in the Negotiated Rate Letter Agreements, [***]. Fuel, LAUF and electric power costs shall be limited to amounts reasonably allocable to
Customer and subject to reasonable audit pursuant to the Tariff.

Notices and Commencement of Service. As further set forth in this Section 5, Customer shall deliver to Transporter an Initial Notice, [***]
and/or an Additional Increment Notice (such notices, collectively, the “Facilities Notices” and individually a “Facilities Notice”) for the
Increments attributable to each liquefaction train at the RGLNG Facility for which Customer or Customer’s Affiliate issues a full notice to proceed
with construction activities to its EPC contractor during the term of this Precedent Agreement.

5.1 [***]; Initial Notice. [***]. [***] Customer shall provide written notice to Transporter (the “Initial Notice”) of such FNTP.

9




(@) The Initial Notice shall include the following information:
(i) the number of Increments requested by Customer, which number set forth in the Initial Notice shall be [***];

(i)  the estimated date by which Customer requires the Commissioning Period to commence (the “Required Completion
Date”) and the estimated In-Service Date; and

(iii) subject to Section 4.2(a) and Section 4.2(f), the Receipt Point(s) and MDRO for the Receipt Point(s) that Customer
proposes to utilize with respect to the applicable Increment MDQ.

(b)  Transporter shall determine, in its sole discretion, the scope and design of facilities that are necessary and appropriate to provide
Customer the services contemplated in this Precedent Agreement consistent with the information provided in the Initial Notice and at the
Reservation Rates set forth in Section 4.2(a). Customer shall cause its Affiliate to grant Transporter all rights necessary to permit Transporter to
use the site of the RGLNG Facility to the extent necessary to install, construct, operate, and maintain the pipeline battery limit station for the
Project, consisting of [***], which will be located within the property boundary of the RGLNG Facility, subject to any relevant easement or access
agreements that may be required under Customer’s Affiliate’s lease arrangements with the Brownsville Navigation District (“BND”).

(© [¥**]

(d) The Required Completion Date for an Increment noticed in the Initial Notice shall be no earlier than [***] after the date
Transporter receives the Initial Notice and no later than [***] after the date Transporter receives the Initial Notice.

(e [***].
5.2 Additional Increment Notices.

(@)  Customer shall notify Transporter when it desires to receive service for any Increment(s) not notified in the Initial Notice [***]
(each such notice being an “Additional Increment Notice”). Customer’s right to provide an Additional Increment Notice shall extend until the
earlier of Transporter’s construction of [***] of mainline Project capacity or the date on which the certificate(s) of public convenience and
necessity issued to Transporter in order to provide such firm transportation capacity to Customer (as amended from time to time) expire(s) or
is/are vacated without Transporter having constructed [***] of capacity. Each Additional Increment Notice shall include the information set forth
in Section 5.1(a)(ii) and Section 5.1(a)(iii), but only with respect to the additional Increments requested. [***], Customer may not, and Transporter
will not, modify any of the information or requirements for the Increments included in the Initial Notice [***].
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(i)  If at the time Customer delivers a given Additional Increment Notice Transporter has received all FERC Approvals for all
Increments included in prior Facilities Notices, then the Required Completion Date for any Increment included in the Additional
Increment Notice may be no earlier than [***] after the date Transporter receives the Additional Increment Notice and no later than [***]
after the date Transporter receives the Additional Increment Notice.

(i)  If at the time Customer delivers a given Additional Increment Notice there are Increments included in any prior Facilities
Notice for which Transporter has not received the FERC Approvals, then [***].

(b) [
(© [¥**]
(d [

(e)  Transporter shall determine, in its sole discretion, the scope and design of facilities that are necessary and appropriate to provide
Customer the services contemplated in this Precedent Agreement consistent with the information provided in the Initial Notice [***] and
Additional Increment Notice; provided that the Reservation Rates applicable to Customer shall be as set forth in Section 4.2(a). Transporter shall
include [***] the Project as modified to reflect the Additional Increment Notice consistent with the procedures set forth in Section 1.3.

5.3  [***].

5.4  After Customer provides the Initial Notice, Customer and Transporter shall be committed to develop the Project to accommodate the Project
as set forth in the Initial Notice, including the Increments included therein, and Customer and Transporter shall be committed to pay for and

provide, respectively, under Transporter’s applicable Tariff rate schedule on the Project gas transportation service associated with such Project.

5.5 Customer shall not have the right to pursue, and Transporter shall have no further obligation to design, permit, construct or place into
service, any additional Increments or changes in the scope of the Project not requested in compliance with the procedures and timeframes set forth
in Section 5.1 and Section 5.2.

5.6 Determination of Commissioning Start Date and In-Service Date

(@) The “Commissioning Start Date” for a given Increment shall be the first day of the month following the later of (i) the Proposed
CSD (as defined below) and (ii) the date that Transporter has given notice to Customer that the Project facilities and ancillary facilities required to
provide the applicable Increment MDQ have been substantially completed and Transporter is ready and able to provide transportation services in
respect of such Increment MDQ in accordance with the Firm Service Agreement. No later than [***] prior to the Required Completion Date,
Customer shall provide a date for the Commissioning Start Date (the “Proposed CSD”), which shall not be earlier than the Required Completion
Date and no later than [***] after the Required Completion Date, and a “Proposed In-Service Date” for commencement of service under the Firm
Service Agreement, which date shall not be more than [***] after the Required Completion Date nor earlier than the Proposed CSD. Along with
such notice, Customer shall provide Transporter with a schedule of anticipated transportation services required during the Commissioning Period.
The actual date on which Transporter shall commence providing transportation services in respect of a given Increment in accordance with the
Firm Service Agreement (the “In-Service Date”) will be the later of (1) the Proposed In-Service Date and (2) the Commissioning Start Date.
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(b)  With respect to each Increment, Customer will require transportation service for a period of time prior to each In-Service Date to
support commissioning of the RGLNG Facility or expansion thereof, which period of time for such Increment shall commence on the
Commissioning Start Date for such Increment and end on the earlier of (i) the date that is [***] after such Commissioning Start Date and (ii) the
In-Service Date for such Increment (each such period of time, a “Commissioning Period”). [***].

5.7 Interim Transportation Service. If, at any time prior to the Required Completion Date for an applicable Increment (as determined
pursuant to Section 5.6(a)), Transporter has completed construction of the Project facilities sufficient to provide service with respect to such
Increment to Customer, Transporter may seek to obtain appropriate Approvals for, and may market the capacity associated with, such Increment,
which will be offered first to Customer from the Primary Receipt Point(s) then available to the Primary Delivery Point, until the Required
Completion Date, on the same terms and rates as would be applicable as of the In-Service Date for such Increment. Within [***] of receipt of such
offer from Transporter, Customer shall notify Transporter whether it elects to receive such service on an interim basis prior to the Required
Completion Date. For such interim period, Customer may elect to receive all or part of the capacity associated with such Increment and must
specify the amount of capacity Customer elects to receive in its notice to Transporter. If Customer elects to receive such service, Transporter shall
provide Customer interim transportation service as set forth in Transporter’s offer (as confirmed by Customer), and the Parties shall execute the
agreement(s) that Transporter reasonably determines are necessary at the time in order to implement the provisions of this Section 5.7. To the
extent that Customer does not elect to receive such interim transportation service, Transporter shall be free to utilize the pipeline capacity
described in its notice to Customer until the Commissioning Start Date, including by entering into one or more agreements with third parties for
the use of such capacity; provided, however, that notwithstanding Transporter’s provision of interim transportation service to third parties,
Transporter shall be able to provide Customer with its full applicable MDQ on the Commissioning Start Date.

5.8  Transporter will undertake the design of the Project facilities and any other preparatory actions necessary for Transporter to complete and
file application(s) for all Approvals related to the Project. From and after the Effective Date until termination of this Precedent Agreement, and
notwithstanding whether Customer or Customer’s Affiliate has taken a final investment decision to proceed with the construction of the RGLNG
Facility (“FID”) or issued FNTP or any Facilities Notice, subject to the terms and conditions of this Precedent Agreement, Transporter shall
proceed (and Customer expressly authorizes Transporter to proceed) with efforts determined necessary or appropriate, in Transporter’s sole
discretion, to obtain the Approvals as well as to proceed with the design of facilities, acquisition of materials, supplies, properties, rights-of-way,
and any other necessary preparations to implement the firm transportation service under the Firm Service Agreements, as contemplated in this
Precedent Agreement. [***].
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reasonable and prudent operator to [***]. Upon satisfaction of the condition precedent set forth in Section 7 of this Precedent Agreement, or
waiver of the same by Transporter and Customer, as applicable, Transporter shall proceed with due diligence as a reasonable and prudent operator
to construct the authorized Project facilities and to implement the firm transportation service in accordance with Section 3 and Section 5 hereof.

6.1 [**],
6.2 [**],
[x].

7.1  [***]. Transporter’s obligation to construct the Project and provide any Increment and Increment MDQ is expressly made subject to receipt
by Transporter of the Initial Notice by December 31, 2023.

Termination.

8.1 Customer Termination. If (i) for any reason other than Customer’s breach of this Precedent Agreement, gross negligence, or willful
misconduct the condition precedent set forth in Section 7.1 has not been fully satisfied or waived, as applicable, by the applicable date specified
therefor or (ii) [***], Customer may terminate this Precedent Agreement by providing written notice of termination to Transporter, which
termination shall be effective (1) no less than [***] following a notice with respect to Transporter’s breach of Section 11 or (2) no less than [***].
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the conditions giving rise to termination under this Section 8.1 are otherwise cured prior to the effective date of
the noticed termination, then such termination will not be effective.

8.2 Transporter Termination. If (i) the condition precedent set forth in Section 7.1 has not been fully satisfied or waived, as applicable, by the
applicable date specified therefor, (ii) [***], (iii) [***], or (iv) [***]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the conditions giving rise to termination
under this Section 8.2 are otherwise cured prior to the effective date of the noticed termination, then such termination will not be effective. If
Transporter terminates this Precedent Agreement as a result of [***], each of Customer and Transporter shall have all remedies otherwise
available to it in law or equity; provided, however, that Customer’s aggregate liability for such termination shall not exceed [***].
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8.3 Customer’s Rights Following Customer Termination. If Customer terminates this Precedent Agreement as a result of a [***], or if
Transporter terminates this Precedent Agreement pursuant to [***].

8.4 Survival. Notwithstanding any termination of this Precedent Agreement, Sections 11 (except Section 11.3), 13, 16, and 18-25 (in each case
to the extent not incorporated in the Firm Service Agreements) of this Precedent Agreement shall survive such termination as necessary to give
full effect to such rights and/or obligations.

Termination on In-Service Date of Last Increment. This Precedent Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date and, unless terminated
earlier pursuant to the provisions of this Precedent Agreement, shall terminate by its express terms:

(a)  with respect to each Increment, on the In-Service Date of such Increment, and thereafter the Parties’ rights and obligations related
to such Increment shall be determined pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Firm Service Agreements and Negotiated Rate Letter
Agreements for such Increment and Transporter’s Tariff; and

(b) in its entirety, on the In-Service Date for the last Increment included in a Facilities Notice, and thereafter the Parties’ rights and
obligations shall be determined pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Firm Service Agreements and Transporter’s Tariff, and this Precedent
Agreement shall be of no further force and effect by its express terms.

Notwithstanding any expiration or termination of this Precedent Agreement, for any reason, the rights and obligations of each Party that, by their
nature, survive such termination or expiration, including but not limited to those regarding payment of amounts due hereunder, indemnification,
and limitation of liability, shall each survive the expiration or termination of the Precedent Agreement to the extent necessary to give effect to any
other surviving provision, and each Party will be liable for all of its accrued obligations hereunder up to and including the date on which the
expiration or termination becomes effective.

Pre-Service Costs. If (1) Transporter terminates this Precedent Agreement (and the Firm Service Agreements, if then executed) in whole or in part
pursuant to [***], or (2) Customer terminates this Precedent Agreement in whole or in part pursuant to [***], then Customer shall, at the option
and election of Transporter, reimburse Transporter for the Pre-Service Costs within [***] of Transporter’s invoice therefor. [***].

[xx].

111 [
112 [
113 [
114 [
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11.5  [H+*]
11.6  [***]:
11.7  [*+*]

11.8  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 11 to the contrary, and without prejudice to the other rights and remedies of Transporter under
this Agreement, if at any time and from time to time during the effectiveness of this Precedent Agreement and/or the Firm Service Agreements
Transporter reasonably determines that Customer is not satisfying the requirements of this Section 11, Transporter shall notify Customer in
writing, and Customer shall satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, such requirement(s) as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than the
close of the [***] following receipt of such notice.

11.9  [***]. Further, without prejudice to the other rights and remedies of either Party under this Agreement, Transporter shall have the right, but
not the obligation, to suspend or terminate its performance under this Precedent Agreement and/or the Firm Service Agreements (if executed),
[***] prior written notice following the expiration of any [***] notice period resulting from any notice given by Transporter pursuant to Section
11.8 until such time as Customer again satisfies the requirements of this Section 11.

11.10  This Section 11 shall remain in effect until all payment obligations under this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements
have been satisfied in full.

11.11 In the event Customer assigns this Precedent Agreement and/or the Firm Service Agreements, in accordance with the applicable
assignment provision(s), the assignee shall be required to satisfy the requirements of this Section 11 until all payment obligations under this
Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements have been satisfied in full.

Representations and Warranties. Each Party represents and warrants, on its own behalf, that:

(a it is duly formed or organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation or
incorporation and has full power to (i) execute and deliver this Precedent Agreement and, (ii) subject to the Approvals, perform this Precedent
Agreement;

(b) all consents, licenses, clearances, authorizations and approvals of, and registrations and declarations with, any governmental
authority or regulatory body necessary for the due execution and delivery by it of this Precedent Agreement have been obtained and remain in full
force and effect and all conditions thereof have been duly complied with, and no other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental
authority or regulatory body is required in connection with the execution and delivery of this Precedent Agreement;
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(c) except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, its execution, delivery and performance of this Precedent Agreement has been duly
authorized by all necessary company or corporate and governmental action and does not contravene any provision of law or of its constitutional
documents or any contractual restriction binding on it or its assets; and

(d) itis legally bound by the terms of this Precedent Agreement and the terms of this Precedent Agreement are enforceable against it in
accordance with the terms hereof, subject, as to enforcement, to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general applicability
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

(e) In connection with this Precedent Agreement and the activities contemplated herein, neither Party will take any action, or omit to
take any action, that would (i) cause that Party or the other Party to be in material violation of any Applicable Law applicable to that Party, or (ii)
cause that Party or the other Party to be in violation, whether by virtue of the Party’s jurisdiction of incorporation or conduct of its business
operations, of any Applicable Law applicable to such Party, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any similar
statute, regulation, order or convention binding on such Party, as each may be amended from time to time, and including any implementing
regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.

Confidentiality. The substance and terms of this Precedent Agreement are confidential. Either Party may disclose the substance and terms of this
Precedent Agreement to directors, officers, employees, representatives, agents, consultants, contractors, attorneys, auditors, lenders (and any
lender’s independent engineer), and bona fide potential investors in or assignees of the disclosing Party or its Affiliates (collectively,
“Representatives”), who have a need to know the terms of this Precedent Agreement and who have agreed to be bound by the confidentiality
obligations of this Precedent Agreement. Customer and Transporter agree not to disclose or communicate, and shall cause their respective
Representatives not to disclose or communicate, the substance or any of the terms of this Precedent Agreement to any other person, entity, firm, or
corporation without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided that either Party may disclose the substance or terms of this Precedent
Agreement as required by law, order, rule or regulation of any duly constituted governmental body or official authority having jurisdiction, subject
to the condition that the disclosing Party first give the other Party [***] notice of same, or as much notice as possible under the circumstances, so
that a protective order or other protective arrangements may be sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that either Party
may file a copy of this Precedent Agreement, or any of the agreements contemplated to be executed hereunder, with FERC in connection with the
receipt of any approvals related to the subject matter hereof and, if so, will request confidential treatment of the Precedent Agreement and/or any
of the agreements contemplated to be executed hereunder, as applicable; provided that either Party may file information with FERC or other
regulatory authorities in a public manner disclosing the content of this Precedent Agreement, and/or any of the agreements contemplated to be
executed hereunder, as applicable, as necessary or desirable in furtherance of other regulatory proceedings (or appeals thereof). Either Party may
individually determine that such Party may be required to disclose to the Securities and Exchange Commission in one or more required filings
certain matters pertaining to the execution of this Precedent Agreement by the Parties and/or any of the agreements contemplated to be executed
hereunder. The Parties will cooperate in the issuance of any press release or other public statement to be issued contemporaneously with or after
the execution of this Precedent Agreement, by means of providing any such press release or statement to the other Party in advance of the issuance
of such press release or statement, allowing the other Party the opportunity to review and approve the proposed press release or statement before
its issuance by the other Party, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The confidentiality requirements set forth in this Section 13 shall
not apply to any agreement, or any specific provision of such agreement, that is otherwise subject to the confidentiality requirements of this
Section , to the extent that such agreement, or such specific provision of such agreement, as applicable, has been made public in a manner that
does not violate the provisions of this Section 13, and is not otherwise subject to a protective order or other protective arrangement. The provisions
of this Section 13 are in addition to any other non-disclosure agreement in effect between the Parties and to the extent of any inconsistency the
provision of this Section 13 shall prevail.
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14. Notices. All notices and other communications to Transporter or Customer may be given by electronic mail, facsimile transmission, or be hand
delivered or sent by courier or overnight mail to such Party at its respective email address, fax number, or address as set forth below:

All notices and communications to Transporter shall be sent to:

[***]

with a copy to:
[***]

All notices and communications to Customer shall be sent to:
[***]

with a copy to:

[***]

Either Party may change its designee, address, and any other information applicable to its receipt of notices and communications hereunder by
providing written notice of such change to the other Party in any manner set forth in this Section 14.

15. Assignment.

15.1  Except as set forth in this Section 15, neither Customer nor Transporter may assign any of its rights or obligations under this Precedent
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party hereto. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, but the withholding of
consent by a Party may be reasonable in certain circumstances, including but not limited to, a proposed assignment to a non-creditworthy assignee
or to an entity who is (or who is affiliated with) a current competitor of the Party or any of its Affiliates. Any assignment in violation of this
Section 15 shall be void ab initio.

15.2  Any company which succeeds by purchase, merger, or consolidation of title to the properties, substantially as an entirety, of Transporter or
Customer, will be entitled to the rights and will be subject to the obligations of its predecessor in title under this Precedent Agreement.

17




15.3  Any Party to this Precedent Agreement may assign this Precedent Agreement and its rights hereunder as security for indebtedness. Each
Party hereby agrees to timely execute and deliver such documents and certificates as are reasonably requested by the assigning Party or its lenders,
or any agent or trustee therefor, in connection with any such collateral assignment; provided, however, that Transporter’s obligations pursuant to
this sentence shall be subject to and as further set forth in Section 26 and, in the event of conflict between any terms set forth in this sentence and
Section 26, the terms set forth in Section 26 shall prevail.

15.4  In the event of any assignment of this Precedent Agreement or the Firm Service Agreements by Customer or a permanent release of all or
any portion of Customer’s capacity under the Firm Service Agreements, to the extent consistent with applicable law, Customer’s assignee or
permanent replacement shipper, as the case may be, shall be required to comply with the provisions of Section 11 for the remaining term of this
Precedent Agreement and, with respect to any assignment of the Firm Service Agreements, all requirements of FERC’s regulations and orders
related to such assignment. Any assignment for which FERC Approval is required and denied shall be void ab initio.

15.5 Transporter may assign this Precedent Agreement to any entity that is an Affiliate of Transporter and that owns and operates the Project.

Effect of Agreement and Modification. This Precedent Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon both of the Parties. This
Precedent Agreement and its attachments, when executed, supersede and replace all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written,
with respect thereto [***]. The Parties agree that the execution of this Precedent Agreement or the exhibits does not supersede and is without
prejudice to any rights or obligations the Parties have to each other under separate and distinct agreements, including, but not limited to, existing
service agreement(s) between Transporter and Customer. No modification of the terms and provisions of this Precedent Agreement will be made
except by the execution of written amendments by Transporter and Customer.

No Third-Party Beneficiary. Except as expressly provided for in this Precedent Agreement, nothing herein expressed or implied is intended or
shall be construed to confer upon or give to any person not a Party hereto any rights, remedies or obligations under or by reason of this Precedent

Agreement.
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No Presumption. Each and every provision of this Precedent Agreement shall be considered as prepared through the joint efforts of the Parties
and shall not be construed against either Party as a result of the preparation or drafting thereof. It is expressly agreed that no consideration shall be
given or presumption made on the basis of who drafted this Precedent Agreement or any specific provision hereof.

Interpretation. The recitals and representations appearing first above are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Precedent Agreement.
References in this Precedent Agreement to section and/or paragraph numbers refer to sections and/or paragraphs of this Precedent Agreement
unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained in this Precedent Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning
or interpretation of this Precedent Agreement.

Limitation of Liability. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY
PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, LOSS OF PROFITS OR BUSINESS
INTERRUPTIONS ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY MANNER RELATED TO THIS PRECEDENT AGREEMENT, AND WITHOUT
REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES THEREOF OR THE SOLE, CONCURRENT OR CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER
ACTIVE OR PASSIVE), STRICT LIABILITY (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, STRICT STATUTORY LIABILITY AND STRICT
LIABILITY IN TORT) OR OTHER FAULT OF EITHER PARTY. THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING SENTENCE SPECIFICALLY
PROTECTS EACH PARTY AGAINST SUCH PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
EVEN IF WITH RESPECT TO THE NEGLIGENCE, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER
FAULT OR RESPONSIBILITY OF SUCH PARTY; AND ALL RIGHTS TO RECOVER SUCH DAMAGES OR PROFITS ARE HEREBY
WAIVED AND RELEASED.

Governing Law _and Exclusive Jurisdiction; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. This Precedent Agreement shall be governed by, construed,
interpreted, and performed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, without recourse to any laws governing the conflict of laws. With
respect to any suit, action or proceedings relating to any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Precedent Agreement or for recognition
or enforcement of any judgment (“Proceedings”), each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Texas
and the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas, located in Houston, Texas; and waives any objection which it may have at
any time to the laying of venue of any Proceedings brought in any such court, waives any claim that such Proceedings have been brought in an
inconvenient forum, and waives the right to object, with respect to such Proceedings, that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such
Party. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL. Each of the Parties hereto agrees that a final
judgment in any such Proceeding may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.
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Non-Waiver of Rights. Except as may be otherwise provided for with respect to a particular provision, failure or delay by a Party in exercising
any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any limited or partial exercise preclude any further exercise
thereof or the exercise of any further right, power, or privilege hereunder.

Counterparts. This Precedent Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be an original, but such
counterparts together will constitute one and the same instrument.

Capitalized Terms. When used in this Precedent Agreement, and unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms shall have the meaning set
forth in Transporter’s Tariff and as amended from time to time.

Transporter Financing Cooperation and Due Diligence. Transporter agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to assist and cooperate with
Customer’s and/or its Affiliates’ respective efforts to obtain Financing from its prospective lenders (“Lenders”) and investors in the RGLNG
Facility, including (a) cooperating with the reasonable requests of Lenders and investors in the RGLNG Facility and their agents; and (b) assisting
with the due diligence requirements of Lenders and investors in the RGLNG Facility and their agents. In the event that a Lender identifies material
issues or risks relating to the timely approval, development, construction, commencement of operations or operation of the Project that reasonably
could materially impede Customer’s Financing process (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the rates set forth in the Transportation Service
Agreement) (“Due Diligence Items”), Customer will send Transporter written notice of such Due Diligence Items and [***] Transporter will
discuss any such Due Diligence Items with Lender and reasonably cooperate with Lender to address Lender’s reasonable concerns regarding the
Financing process and the Project. If, following any such process, a Due Diligence Item remains unresolved, Customer shall send written notice to
Transporter, and within the [***] period following notice that a Due Diligence Item remains unresolved, Customer and Transporter shall cause
their senior management to meet promptly to discuss in good faith the Due Diligence Item and its effect on the Financing process, with the aim of
seeking to identify a resolution. For the avoidance of doubt, Transporter shall be under no obligation to revise or amend this Precedent Agreement
in order to address any Due Diligence Items.

Non-Conforming Provisions. Transporter may file this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements with FERC as part of any
applicable FERC application or filing by Transporter for the Project, as required by applicable FERC regulations. Transporter shall determine
which, if any, of the provisions to be included in the Firm Service Agreements may be non-conforming provisions pursuant to Section 154.112(b)
of Title 18 of the Code of Federal Regulations and will request FERC approval of any such provisions. If any terms of this Precedent Agreement
or the Firm Service Agreements are in any way modified by order, rulemaking, regulation, or policy of the FERC, then Transporter and Customer
may mutually agree to amend the applicable agreement(s) to ensure that the original commercial intent of the Parties is preserved. If the Parties
cannot achieve mutual agreement, the Parties will proceed under this Precedent Agreement and the Firm Service Agreements as modified by such
order, rulemaking, regulation, or policy of the FERC.
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28. Exhibits. The following Exhibits are attached hereto and expressly made part of this Precedent Agreement:

Exhibit A:  [***]
Exhibit B:  [***]
Exhibit C:  [***]
Exhibit D:  [***]
Exhibit E:  [***]
Exhibit F:  [***]
Exhibit G:  [***]

Exhibit H:  [***]

[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Precedent Agreement to be duly executed by their duly authorized representatives
effective as of the date first written above.

Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC
By: /s/ Matthew Schatzman
Name: Matthew Schatzman

Title: President

Rio Bravo Pipeline Company, LLC
By: /s/ Robert L. Huffman
Name: Robert L. Huffman

Title: President
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EXHIBIT A TO PRECEDENT AGREEMENT

[***]




EXHIBIT B TO PRECEDENT AGREEMENT

[***]
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EXHIBIT C TO PRECEDENT AGREEMENT

[***]

C-1




EXHIBIT D

[***]




EXHIBIT E

[***]

E-1




EXHIBIT F

[***]

F-1




EXHIBIT G

[***]




EXHIBIT H

[***]




Exhibit 10.3

CERTAIN INFORMATION OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (I) NOT MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD
LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. INFORMATION THAT WAS OMITTED HAS BEEN NOTED IN THIS
DOCUMENT WITH A PLACEHOLDER IDENTIFIED BY THE MARK “[***].”

PRECEDENT AGREEMENT
FOR NATURAL GAS TRANSPORTATION SERVICE
FOR VALLEY CROSSING PIPELINE

This Precedent Agreement for Natural Gas Transportation Service (“Precedent Agreement”) is made and entered into effective as of this 2nd
day of March, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC, a Texas limited liability company having its principal
office at 1000 Louisiana Street, 39th Floor, Houston, Texas, 77002 (“Customer”), and Valley Crossing Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company with offices at 5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, Texas 77056 (“Transporter”). Customer and Transporter are sometimes referred to herein
individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Affiliates of Customer are developing a natural gas liquefaction and export facility for the production and delivery of liquefied
natural gas to be located at the Port of Brownsville, Texas, near a parcel of land having an address of 48326 Highway 48, Port Isabel, Texas 78587 (such
facility, the “RGLNG Facility”);

WHEREAS, Transporter and Customer intend to enter into, or cause an Affiliate to enter into, an interconnection agreement (the
“Interconnection Agreement”) in order to allow Customer or its Affiliate to connect certain facilities to be constructed by or on behalf of Customer or its
Affiliate to Transporter’s Brownsville Pipeline (as defined in the General Terms & Conditions applicable to the Intrastate Header TSA and Intrastate
Pipeline TSA (as amended from time to time by Transporter, the “GTs&Cs”)), as further set forth herein;

WHEREAS, Transporter and Customer further intend to enter into two separate but related interruptible transportation service agreements for
(1) intrastate natural gas transportation service on Transporter’s Nueces Header (as defined in the GTs&Cs) connected to the Brownsville Pipeline (the
“Intrastate Header TSA”) and on the Brownsville Pipeline (the “Intrastate Pipeline TSA” and, together with the Intrastate Header TSA, the “Intrastate
TSAs”) and (2) Natural Gas Policy Act (“NGPA”) Section 311 interstate natural gas transportation service on Transporter’s Nueces Header (the “311
Header TSA”) and the Brownsville Pipeline (the “311 Pipeline TSA”; together with the Intrastate Header TSA, the Intrastate Pipeline TSA, and the 311
Header TSA, the “TSAs” and each individually a “T'SA”), pursuant to which Transporter will provide interruptible transportation service on Transporter’s
system from certain receipt point(s) on Transporter’s Nueces Header (each a “Receipt Point”) to a proposed delivery point specified and further defined in
the Interconnection Agreement (the “Delivery Point”), as further set forth herein; and




WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution of this Precedent Agreement, Customer has executed a precedent agreement for natural gas

transportation service with an Affiliate of Transporter to provide Customer with firm transportation service from such Affiliate’s Rio Bravo Pipeline (the
“RBPL PA”). The terms “Increment”, “Commissioning Start Date”, “Commissioning Period”, “Proposed CSD”, and “Required Completion Date” when
used in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the RBPL PA;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby,

Customer and Transporter agree as follows:

1.

Transporter and Customer Obligations.

1.1 Promptly after the Effective Date, but in no event more than [***] thereafter, the Parties shall enter into, or shall cause their respective
Affiliates to enter into an Interconnection Agreement consistent with prudent industry practices and this Section 1.1. “Affiliates” shall mean, with
respect to an entity, any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the relevant Party, with control meaning that an
entity, directly or indirectly, has more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting rights in such entity, or otherwise has the ability to manage the
operations of such entity. The Parties hereby agree that, pursuant to the Interconnection Agreement:

(a) Transporter (or an Affiliate of Transporter that is party to the Interconnection Agreement) shall, at its sole cost and expense,
construct, install, own, operate, and maintain tap, riser and valve facilities (the “Transporter Facilities”), which shall connect to the Customer
Facilities (as defined below);

(b)  The maximum daily quantity of gas that the Transporter Facilities shall be required to deliver on an interruptible basis shall be
[***] per day (“Dth/d”);

(c) Customer (or an Affiliate of Customer that is party to the Interconnection Agreement) shall, at its sole cost and expense, construct,
install, own, operate, and maintain a custody transfer meter and such other facilities as necessary in order to receive gas from the Transporter
Facilities (collectively, the “Customer Facilities”);

(d) The Customer Facilities shall be capable of receiving at least [***] Dth/d of gas;

(e)  The Parties shall have such other rights and responsibilities as are customary in interconnection agreements between intrastate
natural gas pipeline facilities of similar size in the state of Texas.

1.2 Customer shall be solely responsible for securing the supply of gas to be transported on the Nueces Header and Brownsville Pipeline
pursuant to the TSAs.

1.3 Promptly after the Effective Date, but in no event more than [***] thereafter, Transporter shall provide Customer an illustrative form of
TSAs, which will be consistent with prudent industry practices. No later than [***] prior to the Requested In-Service Date (with respect to the first
Increment) or the Requested Increment ISD (with respect to any Increment other than the first Increment), the Parties shall enter into a TSA for
each such Increment, pursuant to which:




[

(a) Transporter shall provide interruptible transportation service for up to [***] Dth/d of gas (exclusive of fuel and LAUF) from certain
Receipt Points to the Delivery Point pursuant to such terms and conditions as set forth in the applicable TSA, the Statement of Operating
Conditions for NGPA Section 311 interstate natural gas transportation service (as amended from time to time by Transporter, the “SOCs”) filed
with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission applicable to the 311 Header TSA and 311 Pipeline TSA, and the GTs&Cs;

(b)  The TSA for the first Increment shall have a term commencing on the In-Service Date and extending until the last day of the
Commissioning Period for such first Increment, and the TSA for each Increment other than the first Increment shall have a term commencing on
the Requested Increment ISD for such Increment and extending until the the last date of the Commissioning Period for such Increment;

(c)  The commodity charge in the TSAs will equal the Reservation Rate applicable to the Increment, as defined and set forth in the
RBPL PA;

(d) Until the Commissioning Start Date for a given Increment, for each Day during the term of the Intrastate TSAs, Customer shall pay
Transporter an amount equal to the Reservation Rate applicable to the Increment (as such terms are defined in the RBPL PA) designed to serve the
liquefaction train undergoing commissioning at the RGLNG Facility multiplied by [***].

1.4  Subject to Section 6 hereof, each Party agrees, on an ongoing basis, to provide such additional data and information to the other Party as
such other Party may reasonably require in order to commence any engineering, design, or other preparations as such other Party deems
appropriate in order to construct the Transporter Facilities or Customer Facilities, as applicable.

Notices and Commencement of Service. Within [***] following the date Customer or Customer’s Affiliate issues to its EPC contractor a full
notice to proceed with construction activities for the RGLNG Facility (“FNTP”), Customer shall provide written notice to Transporter of such
FNTP (the “VCP Notice”) and shall include in the VCP Notice the estimated date by which Customer anticipates being ready to receive gas at the
Customer Facilities (the “Requested In-Service Date”). Transporter shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to proceed with the installation of
the Transporter Facilities at any time following receipt of the VCP Notice, provided always that the Transporter Facilities are available to deliver
gas to the Customer Facilities no later than the later of (i) [***] after Transporter’s receipt of the VCP Notice, and (ii) the date that is [***] prior to
the Required Completion Date. [***]. Following the In-Service Date, no later than [***] prior to the Proposed CSD for a given Increment other
than the first Increment, Customer shall provide written notice to Transporter of the estimated date by which Customer anticipates requiring gas
from Transporter for the train attributable to such Increment (“Requested Increment ISD”), which estimated date shall be no later than the date
that is [***] after the Required Completion Date for such Increment. In all cases, Customer shall not have the right to issue such notice or a VCP
Notice in relation to any Increment after [***].
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Customer has issued FNTP or delivered the VCP Notice, each Party shall have the right to proceed with efforts it determines, in its sole discretion,
are necessary or appropriate to obtain from all governmental and regulatory authorities having competent jurisdiction over the Transporter
Facilities or Customer Facilities (as applicable to Transporter and Customer, respectively) the authorizations, approvals, permits, waivers and/or
exemptions necessary to design, engineer, construct, and install such facilities and acquire materials, supplies, properties, rights-of-way, and any
other preparations necessary to construct such facilities that will be subject to the Interconnect Agreement or, in the case of Transporter, to provide
the contemplated transportation service that will be subject to the TSAs.

Termination.

4.1 Customer Termination. If (i) [***] or (ii) Customer fails to deliver the VCP Notice on or before December 31, 2023, Customer may
thereafter terminate this Precedent Agreement in full by providing written notice of termination to Transporter, which termination shall be
effective [***] following such notice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the conditions giving rise to termination under this Section 4.1 are cured
prior to the effective date of the noticed termination, then such termination will not be effective.

4.2 Transporter Termination. If (i) [***] or (ii) Customer fails to deliver the VCP Notice on or before December 31, 2023, Transporter may
thereafter terminate this Precedent Agreement (and any TSA executed as of such time) in full by providing written notice of termination to
Customer, which termination shall be effective [***] following such notice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the conditions giving rise to
termination under this Section 4.2 are cured prior to the effective date of the noticed termination, then such termination will not be effective.

4.3 Termination on the Effectiveness of the TSAs. This Precedent Agreement shall be effective as of the date first written above and, unless
terminated earlier pursuant to the provisions of this Precedent Agreement, shall terminate upon the later of the effectiveness of the Interconnect
Agreement and the effectiveness of a TSA. Thereafter, the Parties’ rights and obligations related to the matters set forth herein shall be determined
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Interconnect Agreement, the TSAs, and Transporter’s GTs&Cs and SOCs, as applicable.
Notwithstanding any expiration or termination of this Precedent Agreement, for any reason, the rights and obligations of each Party that, by their
nature, survive such termination or expiration, including but not limited to those regarding limitation of liability, shall each survive the expiration
or termination of the Precedent Agreement to the extent necessary to give effect to any other surviving provision, and each Party will be liable for
all of its accrued obligations hereunder up to and including the date on which the expiration or termination becomes effective.
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Representations and Warranties. Each Party represents and warrants, on its own behalf, that:

(a it is duly formed or organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation or
incorporation and has full power to (i) execute and deliver this Precedent Agreement and, (ii) perform this Precedent Agreement;

(b) all consents, licenses, clearances, authorizations and approvals of, and registrations and declarations with, any governmental
authority or regulatory body necessary for the due execution and delivery by it of this Precedent Agreement have been obtained and remain in full
force and effect and all conditions thereof have been duly complied with, and no other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental
authority or regulatory body is required in connection with the execution and delivery of this Precedent Agreement;

(c) except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, its execution, delivery and performance of this Precedent Agreement has been duly
authorized by all necessary company or corporate and governmental action and does not contravene any provision of law or of its constitutional
documents or any contractual restriction binding on it or its assets;

(d) itislegally bound by the terms of this Precedent Agreement and the terms of this Precedent Agreement are enforceable against it in
accordance with the terms hereof, subject, as to enforcement, to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general applicability
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity principles, and

(e) in connection with this Precedent Agreement and the activities contemplated herein, such Party will not take any action, or omit to
take any action, that would (i) cause that Party or the other Party to be in material violation of any Applicable Law applicable to that Party, or (ii)
cause that Party or the other Party to be in violation, whether by virtue of the Party’s jurisdiction of incorporation or conduct of its business
operations, of any Applicable Law applicable to such Party, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any similar
statute, regulation, order or convention binding on such Party, as each may be amended from time to time, and including any implementing
regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.

Confidentiality. The substance and terms of this Precedent Agreement are confidential. Either Party may disclose the substance and terms of this
Precedent Agreement to directors, officers, employees, representatives, agents, consultants, contractors, attorneys, auditors, lenders (and any
lender’s independent engineer), and bona fide potential investors in or assignees of the disclosing Party or its Affiliates (collectively,
“Representatives”), who have a need to know the terms of this Precedent Agreement and who have agreed to be bound by the confidentiality
obligations of this Precedent Agreement. Customer and Transporter agree not to disclose or communicate, and shall cause their respective
Representatives not to disclose or communicate, the substance or any of the terms of this Precedent Agreement to any other person, entity, firm, or
corporation without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided that either Party may disclose the substance or terms of this Precedent
Agreement as required by law, order, rule or regulation of any duly constituted governmental body or official authority having jurisdiction, subject
to the condition that the disclosing Party first give the other Party [***] notice of same, or as much notice as possible under the circumstances, so
that a protective order or other protective arrangements may be sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that either Party
may file a copy of this Precedent Agreement, or any of the agreements contemplated to be executed hereunder, with any governmental authority in
connection with the application for any approvals related to the subject matter hereof and, if so, will request confidential treatment of the
Precedent Agreement and/or any of the agreements contemplated to be executed hereunder, as applicable; provided that either Party may file
information with any such regulatory authorities in a public manner disclosing the content of this Precedent Agreement, and/or any of the
agreements contemplated to be executed hereunder, as applicable, as necessary or desirable in furtherance of other regulatory proceedings (or
appeals thereof). Either Party may individually determine that such Party may be required to disclose to the Securities and Exchange Commission
in one or more required filings certain matters pertaining to the execution of this Precedent Agreement by the Parties and/or any of the agreements
contemplated to be executed hereunder. The Parties will cooperate in the issuance of any press release or other public statement to be issued
contemporaneously with or after the execution of this Precedent Agreement, by means of providing any such press release or statement to the
other Party in advance of the issuance of such press release or statement, allowing the other Party the opportunity to review and approve the
proposed press release or statement before its issuance by the other Party, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The confidentiality
requirements set forth in this Section 6 shall not apply to any agreement, or any specific provision of such agreement, that is otherwise subject to
the confidentiality requirements of this Section 6, to the extent that such agreement, or such specific provision of such agreement, as applicable,
has been made public in a manner that does not violate the provisions of this Section 6, and is not otherwise subject to a protective order or other
protective arrangement. The provisions of this Section 6 are in addition to any other non-disclosure agreement in effect between the Parties and to
the extent of any inconsistency the provision of this Section 6 shall prevail.
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Notices. All notices and other communications to Transporter or Customer may be given by electronic mail, facsimile transmission, or be hand
delivered or sent by courier or overnight mail to such Party at its respective email address, fax number, or address as set forth below:

All notices and communications to Transporter shall be sent to:
[***]
[***]

All notices and communications to Customer shall be sent to:

[***]

with a copy to:

[***]

Either Party may change its designee, address, and any other information applicable to its receipt of notices and communications hereunder by
providing written notice of such change to the other Party in any manner set forth in this Section 7.

Assignment.

8.1  Except as set forth in this Section 8, neither Customer nor Transporter may assign any of its rights or obligations under this Precedent
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party hereto, provided such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or
delayed. Any assignment in violation of this Section 8 shall be void ab initio.

8.2  Any company which succeeds by purchase, merger, or consolidation of title to the properties, substantially as an entirety, of Transporter or
Customer, will be entitled to the rights and will be subject to the obligations of its predecessor in title under this Precedent Agreement.

8.3  Any Party to this Precedent Agreement may assign this Precedent Agreement and its rights hereunder as security for indebtedness, and each
Party hereby agrees to timely execute and deliver such documents and certificates as are reasonably requested by the assigning Party or its lenders,
or any agent or trustee therefor, in connection with any such collateral assignment.

8.4  Transporter may assign this Precedent Agreement to any entity that is an Affiliate of Transporter and that owns and operates the Nueces
Header and the Brownsville Pipeline.

Effect of Agreement and Modification. This Precedent Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon both of the Parties. This
Precedent Agreement and its attachments, when executed, supersede and replace all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written,
with respect thereto. The Parties agree that the execution of this Precedent Agreement or the exhibits does not supersede and is without prejudice
to any rights or obligations the Parties have to each other under separate and distinct agreements. No modification of the terms and provisions of
this Precedent Agreement will be made except by the execution of written amendments by Transporter and Customer.

No Third-Party Beneficiary. Except as expressly provided for in this Precedent Agreement, nothing herein expressed or implied is intended or
shall be construed to confer upon or give to any person not a Party hereto any rights, remedies or obligations under or by reason of this Precedent
Agreement.




No Presumption. Each and every provision of this Precedent Agreement shall be considered as prepared through the joint efforts of the Parties
and shall not be construed against either Party as a result of the preparation or drafting thereof. It is expressly agreed that no consideration shall be
given or presumption made on the basis of who drafted this Precedent Agreement or any specific provision hereof.

Interpretation. The recitals and representations appearing first above are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Precedent Agreement.
References in this Precedent Agreement to section and/or paragraph numbers refer to sections and/or paragraphs of this Precedent Agreement
unless otherwise indicated. The headings contained in this Precedent Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning
or interpretation of this Precedent Agreement.

Limitation of Liability. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY
PUNITIVE, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, LOSS OF PROFITS OR BUSINESS
INTERRUPTIONS ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY MANNER RELATED TO THIS PRECEDENT AGREEMENT, AND WITHOUT
REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES THEREOF OR THE SOLE, CONCURRENT OR CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER
ACTIVE OR PASSIVE), STRICT LIABILITY (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, STRICT STATUTORY LIABILITY AND STRICT
LIABILITY IN TORT) OR OTHER FAULT OF EITHER PARTY. THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING SENTENCE SPECIFICALLY
PROTECTS EACH PARTY AGAINST SUCH PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
EVEN IF WITH RESPECT TO THE NEGLIGENCE, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER
FAULT OR RESPONSIBILITY OF SUCH PARTY; AND ALL RIGHTS TO RECOVER SUCH DAMAGES OR PROFITS ARE HEREBY
WAIVED AND RELEASED.

Governing Law _and Exclusive Jurisdiction; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. This Precedent Agreement shall be governed by, construed,
interpreted, and performed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, without recourse to any laws governing the conflict of laws. With
respect to any suit, action or proceedings relating to any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Precedent Agreement or for recognition
or enforcement of any judgment (“Proceedings”), each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Texas
and the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas, located in Houston, Texas; and waives any objection which it may have at
any time to the laying of venue of any Proceedings brought in any such court, waives any claim that such Proceedings have been brought in an
inconvenient forum, and waives the right to object, with respect to such Proceedings, that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such
Party. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL. Each of the Parties hereto agrees that a final
judgment in any such Proceeding may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.

Non-Waiver of Rights. Except as may be otherwise provided for with respect to a particular provision, failure or delay by a Party in exercising
any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any limited or partial exercise preclude any further exercise
thereof or the exercise of any further right, power, or privilege hereunder.

Counterparts. This Precedent Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be an original, but such
counterparts together will constitute one and the same instrument.

Capitalized Terms. When used in this Precedent Agreement, and unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms shall have the meaning set
forth in Transporter’s GTs&Cs and SOCs, as applicable and as amended from time to time.

[signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Precedent Agreement to be duly executed by their duly authorized representatives
effective as of the date first written above.

Rio Grande LNG Gas Supply LLC
By: /s/ Matthew Schatzman
Name: Matthew Schatzman

Title: President

VaLLEY CrossING PrpELINE, LL.C
By: /s/ Robert L. Huffman
Name: Robert L. Huffman

Title: President




EXHIBIT A

[***]



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT

I, Matthew K. Schatzman, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NextDecade Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 18, 2020 /s/ Matthew K. Schatzman
Matthew K. Schatzman
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT

I, Benjamin A. Atkins, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NextDecade Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 18, 2020 /s/ Benjamin A. Atkins
Benjamin A. Atkins
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew K. Schatzman, President and Chief Executive Officer of NextDecade Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
81350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

May 18, 2020 /s/ Matthew K. Schatzman
Matthew K. Schatzman
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Benjamin A. Atkins, Chief Financial Officer of NextDecade Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted
pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

May 18, 2020 /s/ Benjamin A. Atkins
Benjamin A. Atkins
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




